annual report
2008

X
S
(RA N
TR

e sEe | 1 AR

i SEP 0 8 2008 060091

Washingion, DC 20549 !

- AB Blosglflgtgms

W
A
L

e PROCESSED
d A 3 ~{' SEP 162008
THOMSON REUTERS




Applied Biosystems Inc. {formerly known as Applera
Corporation) is a global leader in the development and
marketing of instrument-based systems, consumables,
software, and services for DNA, RNA, protein and small
molecule analysis. Our products enable customers 10
apply our molecular technologies in the following fields:
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Dear Stockholders

Fiscal year 2008 was a transformative year for
Applied Bicsystems. We introduced the SOLID™
System, the next generation in sequencing
technology, we grew our censumables businesses
to the point that reagents and other consumable
products are now larger in terms of revenues

than ous instrument product lines; we improved
our cost structure by building in-house enzyme
manufacturing capabilities that should benefit

the company for years 10 come; we completed
the management transition by promoting Mark
Stevenson to President and Chief Operating
Officer of the Applied Biosystems business and
broadened the management team with several key
executive-level hires; and at fiscal year-end, the
Corporation spun off Celera to its stockholders.

In June 2008, we entered into an agreement (o
combine our company with Invitrogen Corporation,
a merger that is targeted to close during fall 2008.
This culminating event will create a global leader
in biotechnology systems and consumables with
significant technical, commercizl, and financial
resources for driving growth and enhancing
shareholder value.

These accomplishments are an outcome of the

strategic direction we articulated several years ago.

We have pursued revenue growth by investing in
higher-growth apportunities ~ both gecgraphically
and in terms of end-markets and applications. We
have also practiced careful expense management
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and operational discipline in order to improve
efficiency and to free up resources for investment
in higher-growth areas of the business. As we
rebalance the geographical and applications mix,
topline growth - 6% in fiscal 2008 and 2% without
the benefit from the weakened dollar - remains
our key challenge. We are pleased, however, with
other aspects of our fiscal 2008 performance: the
12% growth in consumables revenues, the increase
in profit margins, and the 23% gain in non-GAAP
earnings per share from continuing operations.

Guiding our investments, cur growth strategy, and
our execution in the marketplace is a relentless
cermmitment to our "Customers First” initiative.
This involves understanding and addressing
customer needs at a deep and detailed level in order
to create new products, more complete workflows,
and high levels of customer satisfaction. One such
innovation in our Real-Time PCR product category
is our new complete workflow combining Ambion
RNA reagents with our market-leading real-time
PCR platform and TagMan® assays to perform
microRNA profiling, an increasingly important area
of research focused on gene regulation in cancer
and other diseases.

Similarly, genomics researchers are embracing
with excitement next-generation sequencing
technology, which is enabling a deeper and far
more cost-effective exploration of the role of
genes and genetic variation in health and disease.
We gauge that the market for these ultra-high-
throughput systems, currently estimated at about



$200 million, will grow at an annual rate of greater
than 25% and reach about $650 million in 2013.
Our SOLID System offers the highest throughput
and accuracy in the industry, and we believe that
we can further scale the SOLID System to drive the
cost of sequencing a human genome to less than
$10,000, an achievement almast unimaginable just
a few years ago. Custamer response to the SOLID
System has been strong, and we are pleased that
leading North American institutions such as the
Broad Instiiute at MIT, Baylor College of Medicine,
and Ontario Institute for Cancer Research, as well
as the Beijing Genomics Institute in China and

the Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute in the United
Kingdom, have purchased multiple systems to
support major research initiatives.

While next-generation sequencing has dampened
demand for our high-performance systems based
on capillary electrophoresis (CE} technology, the
gold-standard in sequencing for two decades, we
expect that CE will continue to be the platform used
by small- to medium-sized research laboratories,
which have neither the throughput needs nor the
budgets for the newer technology. In addition, CE
is the accepted method of sequencing in applied

- sometimes called commercial - markets such

as DNA forensics, food safety, water quality and
environmental testing, and testing for contaminants
in biopharmaceutical manufacturing. These markets
are both rcbust and slower than research markets
to change technologies.

Another trend fueling growth in the research field
is the convergence of genomics with cell biology

- an estimated $6 billion market that is growing at
a high single-digit rate. We have analyzed the cell
biclogy market, which includes stem cell research,
for strategies to expand our current limited
participation, By combining our systems expertise
with Invitrogen's strength in cell biclogy reagents,
we expect that our company will be well positioned
to compete and win in this dynamic market.

The adoption of molecular technologies for
commercial applications is one of our best short-
and long-term opportunities, as collectively these
opportunities are a $9 billion market that is growing
at an estimated low double-digit rate. In DNA
forensics, for example, DNA databasing programs
continue to expand throughout the world, enabled
by our genetic analysis technology and global
sales, service, and support organization. During
fiscal 2008, we launched customized versions

of our human identification kits in Germany and
China, including software in Mandarin for our
Chinese customers. In the U.S. and Europe, we
also saw increased adoption among forensic labs
of our AmpF£STR® MiniFiler™ kit, introduced in
fiscal 2007 and capable of determining a genetic
“fingerprint” from badly damaged or degraded DNA.
This remarkable product has already helped law
enforcement agencies identify suspects in dozens
of previously unsolved “cold” murder cases.

Emerging geographies are another specific focus
for Applied Biosystems, as they comprise a $1
billion market opportunity that is increasing at

a rate of about 15% annually, Forces driving

the growth in China, India, and other emerging
markets include outsourcing of drug discovery

and development functions by the multinational
pharmaceutical industry, life science investments by
local governments and companies, and expanding
commercial applications. However, outsourcing by
pharma companies in the U.S. and Western Europe
has constrained pharmaceutical spending in these
regions, particularly affecting sales of our mass
spectrometry systems.

We are excited that the combination of Invitrogen,
a life science leader in consumables, with Applied
Biosystems, a premier systems provider, will

create a world-class biotechnology toois company

- uniguely positioned to realize growth opportunities

greater and faster than either company could
achieve independently. With complementary




best-in-class product offerings and extensive
commercial networks, the combined company will
have a major presence in each of the key growth
markets discussed above, including next-generation
sequencing, cell biolegy, applied markets, and
emerging geographies. In addition to providing &
strong engine for growth, we anticipate that the
integration of the two companies will achieve
cost savings and operational efficiencies. The
goal is significant value creation for customers,
shareholders, and employees alike.

The new Applied Biosystems will be led by CEO
Gregory Lucier, who holds that position with
Invitrogen, and by Mark Stevenson, who will be
President and COO. The company will be
headquartered at the Invitrogen site in Carlsbad (San
Diego County}, California, with the AB campus in
Foster City {San Francisco Bay Area), California,
remaining intact as a second major “center of

excellence” for the business.

| expect this will be my last annual letter to
stockholders, as | intend to retire if stockholders

- approve the combination of Applied Biosystems and
Invitrogen and the deal closes after other conditions
are met. With the merger and the spinout of Celera
to its shareholders, a new era in our corporate
history begins. From a business perspective, the
company that was Perkin-Elmer when | joined it in
September 1995 and today is Applied Biosystems
has in that time increased its operating profit
margins from under 10% to above 18% and its
operating cash flow sevenfold to more than $500
million last year. Perhaps most importantly, investors
who purchased Perkin-Elmer shares in mid calendar
1995, received shares of Applied Biosystems and
Celera as part of the 1999 recapitalization of the
company, and held beth securities through the end
of fiscal 2008, have enjoyed a 12.3% annualized
total return {that is, including dividends} on their
investment, better than the 8.6% annualized total
return over that time period of the S&P 500, the
benchmark stock index of which Applied

Tony L. White

Biosystems is a compenent. From the broader
perspective of our cusiomers and the society we
serve, we have pushed the frontiers of genomic
research and today stand on the threshold of the
next, widely heralded era: the broader adoption of
genomics in clinical medicine, with its promise of
more targeted and cost-effective medical
treatments and procedures.

On a personal level, | would like to thank all of our
employees for their support and timeless efforts to
fulfill our mission of improving the human condition,
No CEQ could ever be blessed with a more talented
and dedicated group of employees around the
world, and it has been a privilege to lead them

over the past 13 years. | would also like to thank
the members of our Board of Directors, past and
present, who have provided outstanding guidance
and wisdom during our journey together,

S L L TEK

Tony L. White
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Applied Biosystems Inc.

August 27, 2008




Highlights of the Year
|
|

* We reported good financial performance, with 23% growth in non-GAAP EPS from continuing
operations* on 6% revenue growth. Our consumables business grew 11%, reflecting our increased
capabilities and focus in this area, as well as growth in forensic and other kits sold into applied
markets. Instrument revenues were flat due in part to product transitions in sequencing and
competitive challenges in mass spectrometry. Revenues from Qther Sources, including services,

| suppart and royalties, increased 10%.

¢ Revenues in the DNA Sequencing product category increased 3% to $574 million. During the second
half of the fiscal year, we realized our first revenues from sales of our performance-leading SOLID™
System and initiated shipments of SOLID System 2.0, an upgraded system with enhanced throughput,
accuracy, and ease of use.

* Revenues in the Real-Time PCR/Applied Genomics product category grew 14% to $803 million. We
introduced many new products in our portfolio of products for real-time PCR, including our first PCR
reagents containing AB-manufactured enzymes and three new sets of gene expression tools.

* Revenues in the Mass Spectrometry product category increased 3% to $532 miliion. We launched a
new suite of integrated software packages and consumables that enable scientists to more effectively

guantify proteins in biomarker research or cell biology.

¢ We initiated an exclusive collaboration with BioTrove, Inc. to deploy and market TagMan® genotyping
assays on BioTrove's mid-density OpenArray platform. The new product offering will provide a fast,
high-throughput screening and validation tool for applications in human health, agriculture, and basic
research.

* We launched new consumable and software products for use in the forensics and quality and safety

testing areas.

* In December 2007, we completed the management transition.with the prometion of Mark Stevenson
to President and Chief Operating Officer of the Applied Biosystems business.

* We repurchased $600 million worth of Applied Biosystems stack, or about 8% of shares ouistanding,

as part of a long-term share buyback program designed to return value to shareholders.

* On June 12, 2008, Invitrogen Corporation and Applied Biosystems announced a definitive merger
agreement under which Invitrogen will acquire Applied Biosystems in a cash and stock transaction
valued at $6.7 billion.

* On July 1, 2008, Celera Corporation separated from Applera Corporation, becoming an independent
publicly traded company; as a result, the name Applera Corporation was changed to Applied
Biosystems Inc.

4 *For a reconciliation of GAAP to non-GAAP results, see page 97
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Selected Consolidating Financial Data

{Dollar amounss in thausands except per share amounts)

Applied Biosystems Inc.

Fiscal years ended June 30, 2008 2007 20086 2005 2004
Financial Operations
Net revenues
Applied Biosystems group $2,224,676 $2,093,467 $1.911,226 $1,787,083 $1,741,098
Celera group 139,373 43,371 46,207 66,527 96,828
Eliminations {2,565} {4,345) {8,043) (8,470) {12,733
Applied Biosystems Inc. 2,361,484 2,132,493 1,849,390 1,845,140 1,825,193
Income (foss) from continuing operations
Applied Biosystems group $ 316,581 $ 170,875 $ 275117 $ 236,894 $ 172,253
Celera group - {102,600) (19,763} (62,710) 77,117 (67,476}
Eliminations (173) (341) 85 18 176
Applied Biosystems Inc. 213,808 160,771 212,492 159,795 114,953
Per Share Information
Applied Biosystems Group
Income per share from continuing operations
Basic $ 1.83 $ 0.93 3 1.47 $ 1.21 3 0.84
Diluted $ 1.78 % 0.90 b 1.43 $ 1.19 3 0.83
Dividends declared per share $ 0.17 $ 0.17 3 0.17 % 017 3 017
Celera Group
Net loss per share
Basic and diluted $ (1.29) $ (0.25} 3 {0.83} $ (1.05} % 10.79}
Other Information
Cash and cash equivalents and
short-term investments
Applied Biosystems group $ 543,205 $ 494,464 $ 373,921 $ 756,236 ¥ 504,947
Celera group 333,551 561,496 569,522 668,249 745,794
Applied Biosystems Inc. 876,756 1,055,960 943,443 1,424,485 1,250,741
Total assets
Applied Biosystems group $2,398,655 $2,386,604 $2,245,772 $2,259,149 $1,921,672
Celera group 663,312 768,683 773,678 909.887 1,055,581
Eliminations (476) {2,747) (6,475) {4,851) {4.402)
Appiied Biosystems Inc. 3,061,391 3,152,540 3,012,975 3,164,185 2,972,851

Selected consolidating financial data provides five years of financial information for Applied Biosystems |nc., formerly
known as Applera Corporation. This table includes commonly used key financial metrics that facilitate comparisons with
other companies. We include information on our business segments in the selected consolidating financial data to facilitate
the understanding of our business and our financial statements. Qur board of directors approves the methed of allocating
earnings to each class of our cormmon stock for purposes of calculating earnings per share. We have derived ihe selected
consolidating financial data from our audited financial statements which have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm. The information in the selected consolidating financial data of the
Applied Biosysterns group and the Celera group has been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America, or GAAP, consistently applied, except for the provisions of SFAS No. 123R,
"Share-Based Payment {revised 2004),” which were adopted as of July 1, 2005, as discussed in Note 1 to our consolidated
financial statements, and the provisions of FIN 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpreiation of
FASB Statement No. 108, " which were adopted as of July 1, 2007, as discussed in Note 5 to our consolidated financial
statements. See Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements for a detailed description of our segments and the
management and allocation policies applicable io the attribution of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. You should
read this selected consolidating financial data in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes.




Selected Consolidating Financial Data — (Continued)

Applied Biosystems Inc.

As part of our recapitalization on May 8, 1999, we issued two classes of common stock cailed Applied Biosystems Group
Common Stock and Celera Group Common Stock. On July 1, 2008, we completed the separation of all of the business,
assets, and liabilities of the Celera group into an independent publicly-traded company. See Note 1 to our consolidated

financial statements for additional information on our capital structure.

A number of iterns, shown below, impact the comparability of our data from continuing operations. All amounts are pre-
tax, with the exception of the tax items. See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements for additional information on

the events impacting comparability.

{Dollar amounts in millions}

Fiscal years ended June 30, 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Applied Biosystems Group

Employee-related charges, asset impairments and other ${203) $§ — § (0.4} $(31.8 §(25.00
Legal settlements, net 7.6 22 (274} 8.5 6.7
Gain on asset dispositions 16.9 29.7
Acquired in-process research and development charge (114.3) (3.4}

Gain on investments, net 27.6 11.2
Tax items 78 23.8 50.2 235

Celera Group

Revenue from the sales of small molecule programs $ — § 25 $86 % — $§ —
Employee-related charges, asset impairments and other {7.0) (103} (26.2) (4.3) 118.1)
Legal settlements, net 1.1 2.4 0.7

Gain on investiments, net {3.1} 7.6 24.8
Tax items {91.3} 1.4 2.2




Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Discussion of Operations

The purpose of the following management discussion and
analysis is to provide an overview of the business of
Applied Biosystems Inc., formerly known as Applera
Corporation (see Celera Separation below), to help
facilitate an understanding of significant factors
influencing our historical operating results, financial
condition, and cash flows and also to convey our
expeciations of the potential impact of known trends,
events, or uncertainties that may impact our future
results. You should read this discussion in conjunction
with our consolidated financial statements and related
notes. Historical results and percentage relationships are
not necessarily indicative of operating results for future
pericds. We have reclassified some prior year amounts for
comparative purposes.

In this document, unless the context reguires otherwise,
references to “Company,” “we,” “us,” or "our” for
periods ended on or before July 1, 2008, refer to Applera
Corporation, and references to “"Company,” "we,” “us,”
or "our” for periods ended after July 1, 2008, refer to
Applied Biosystems Inc., after giving effect to the
separation of the Celera group and ithe name change

discussed in further detail below.

Overview

Through July 1, 2008, we conducted our business through
two business segments: the Applied Biosystems group
and the Celera group.

The Applied Biosysterns group was and is a global leader
in the development and markeating of instrument-based
systems, consumables, software, and services for
academic research, the life science industry, and
commercial markeis. The Applied Biosystemns group
commercializes innovative technology solutions for DNA,
RNA, protein, and small molecule analysis. Custormers
across the disciplines of academic and clinical research,
pharmaceutical research, and manufacturing, forensic
DNA analysis, and agricultural biotechnology use its
products and services to accelerate scientific discovery,
improve processes related to drug discovery and
development, detect potentially pathogenic
microorganisms, and identify individuals based on DNA
sources. The Applied Biosystems group has a
comprehensive service and field applications support
team for a global installed base of high-performance
genetic and protein analysis solutions.

The Celera group was a diagnostics business that
delivered personalized disease management through a
combination of products and services incorporating
proprietary discoveries, Berkeley HeartLab, Inc. (“BHL"), a
subsidiary of the Celera group, offered clinical laboratory
testing services to characterize cardiovascular disease risk
and improve patient management. The Celera group also

Applied Biosystems Inc.

commercialized a wide range of molecular diagnostic
products through its sirategic alliance with Abbott
Laboratories, which began in June 2002, and licensed its
diagnostic technologies to clinical laboratories to provide
personalized disease management in cancer and liver
diseases. The term of the strategic alliance agreement
runs untit June 2017. The strategic alliance agreement
was asstgned to Celera Corporation in connection with the
separation of Celera from the Company.

In fiscal 1999, as part of a recapitalization of our Company,
we created two classes of common stock: Applied
Biosystems Group Common Stock, which we refer to as
“Applied Biosystems stock,” and Celera Group Common
Stock, which we refer to as “Celera stock.” These two
classes of stock, sometimes referred to as “tracking”
stocks, were intended to “track” or reflect the relative
performance of the Appiied Biosystems group and the
Celera group, respectively. There was no single security
that represented the performance of the Company as a
whole. On July 1, 2008, we completed the separation of
all of the business, assets, and liabilities of the Celera
greup into an independent publicly-traded company, as
discussed under Celera Separation below.

The Applied Biosystems group and the Celera group were
not separate legal entities, and holders of Applied
Biosystems stock and holders of Celera stock were all
stockhotders of the Company. As a result, holders of
these stocks were subject to all of the risks associated
with an investment in the Company and all of its

“husinesses, assets, and liabilities. The Applied Biosystems

group and the Celera group did not have separate boards
of directors. The Company had one board of directors,
which made any decision in accordance with its good faith
business judgment that the decision was in the best
interests of the Company and all of its stockholders as a
whole,

Our fiscal year ends on June 30. The financial information
for both segments is presented in Note 17 to our
consolidated financial statements, Segment, Geographic,
Customer and Conselidating Information. Management’s
discussion and analysis addresses the consolidated
financial results followed by the discussions of our two
segments.

Celera Separation

On August 8, 2007, we announced that our board of
directors had retained Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated
to explore alternatives to our tracking stock structure,
including the possibility of creating independent publicly-
traded companies in place of the Applied Bicsystems
group and the Celera group. Further to that
announcement, on July 1, 2008, we completed the
separation of all of the business, assets, and liabilities of
the Celera group from our remaining business. The




Management’s Discussion and Analysis — {(Continued)

separation was completed by means of a redemption of
each outstanding share of Celera stock in exchange for
one share of common stock of Celera Corporation, a
Delaware corporation, which now holds all of the
business, assets, and liabilities previously attributed to the
Celera group. On July 1, 2008, following the Cetera group
separation, Celera Corporation became an independent,
publicly-traded company whose shares are listed on the
NASDAQ stock market under the symbol “CRA.” The
Applied Biosystems group became our only business and
Applied Biosystems stock hecame our only class of
outstanding common stock. In connection with the Celera
separation, we changed our cofporate name to Applied
Biosystems Inc. to reflect the remaining business of the
Company following the separation.

Pending Merger with Invitrogen

On June 12, 2008, we and Invitrogen Corporaticn
announced that our respective boards of directors had
approved a definitive merger agreement under which
Invitrogen will acquire all of the outstanding shares of
Applied Biosystems stock. The merger is subject to
customary closing conditions, including approval by the
stockholders of each company, and is targeted to close in
the fall of 2008. In connection with the proposed merger,
on August 4, 2008, Invitrogen filed a Registration
Statement on Form S-4 with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC") that includes a joint proxy statement
of Applied Biosystems and Invitrogen. Applied Biosystems
and Invitrogen will mail the joint proxy statement to their
respective stockholders after it is declared eifective by the
SEC. See Note 4 1o our consolidated financia!l siatements
for more information on the pending merger.

Business Developments
Applied Biosystemns Group

¢ In June 2008, the Applied Biosystems group and its
partner, MDS SCIEX, announced several new mass
spectrometry software and workflow solutions aimed at
helping custormers achieve greater productivity acioss a
broad range of applications. The new products include
Analyst® 1.5 software, a major platform upgrade, and
several important quality and safety testing solutions in
applied markets, particularly for the analysis of municipal
water for trace contaminants.

The Applied Biosystems group’s SOLID™ 2.0 System
began shipping on May 1, 2008. New chemistry, fine-
tuned software, and an improved work{low are enabling
customers to more than double throughput while
reducing run times. The upgraded system offers the
highest throughput and accuracy of any next-generation
sequencing system available as of July 2008. The SOLID
Systems’ mate-pair analysis capability is particularly
suited for the study of complex diseases like cancer,

Applied Biosystems Inc.

which is characterized by a wide range of genetic
variation and chromosomal abnormalities. In May 2008,
the Applied Biosystems group announced a
collaboration with the Wellcome Trust Sanger Institute
to study cancer genomics using the SOLID System. In
April 2008, the Applied Biosystems group announced
that Baylor University and Beijing Genomics Institute
had selected the SOLID System to help support their
participation in the 1000 Genomes Project, a global
international consortium aimed at providing &
comprehensive map of genetic and structural variation
to help understand the causes of disease.

Also in April 2008, the Applied Biosystems group’s
StepOne™ Real-Time PCR System was awarded Best
New Life Science Product for 2007 based on polling
more than 40,000 members of the worldwide scientitic
community. The StepOne and StepOnePlus™ Systems
were developed in response to the growing market of
researchers interested in the increasing number of
applications for real-time PCR, a common laboratory
method used to simultaneously detect and determine
the amount of nucleic acids present in biological
samples. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, the
Applied Biosysiems group also made available new
TagMan®-based consumnables used with its Real-Time
PCR Systems, including reagents to help researchers
profile expression levels of microRNAs, or miRNA, from
trace amounts of sample, potentially advancing the
study of cancer, in which miRNAs are believed to play a
critical regulatory role.

In March 2008, the Applied Biosystems group
announced that it was expanding its presence in the
fast-growing food safety and testing market and
planning to provide pathogen detection kits directly to
food companies. The first such kit will test for
salmonella; additional pathogen test kits are’under
development.

Also in March, the Applied Biosystems group
announced that using the SOLID System it had
seqguenced the Yoruban genome for under $60,000 in
reagent costs, setiing a new standard for experimental
value and further setting the stage for consumer
genomics and personalized medicine. The experimental
data was posted on an NIH website so that researchers
around the world could enjoy free and unfettered access
to the sequence information. Additionally, the Applied
Biosystems group introduced a SOLID-optimized miRNA
solution that gives customers the ability to perform
digital gene expression experiments to help understand
the role these small, regulatory molecules play in cancer
and other diseases and pathways.

In February 2008, the Applied Biosystems group
introduced new iTRAQ labeling chemistry for mass
spectrometry-based proteomics research. The new,
high-throughput chemistry lets researchers process up
to eight samples in parallel, running them through a
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mass spectrometer (o wdentify the proteins and then
comparing the expression levels of hundreds of proteins
in diseased samples against contro! samples.

Also in February, the Applied Biosystems group
introduced a new forensics kit that can quickly detect
low amounts of male DNA present in samples
containing high guantities of femate DNA, speeding up
sample analysis in sexual assault cases. The Applied
Biosystems group worked directly with the San Diego,
California Police Department to validate the new DNA
analysis kit. In a related March 2008 development, a
localized, Mandarin-language version of the Applied
Biosystems GeneMapper Software and the Chinese
Sinofiler kit were intreduced for the Chinese hurman
identification market.

In January 2008, the Applied Biosystems group
launched its SOLID System service provider program
and named its first four participants. The program
enables researchers who do not own or can not access
SOLID System technology an effective channel for
generating high-guality genomic data at a reasonable
cost andfor evaluating our next-generation sequencing
technology prior to system purchase.,

in December 2007, our board of directors named Mark
P. Stevenson a Senior Vice President of the Company
and President and Chief Operating Officer of the Applied
Biosystems group.

Also in December, the Applied Biosystems group
launched GeneMapper® ID-X, a powerful new software
application designed 10 help forensic laboratories deliver
faster DNA results by automating routine DNA data
analysis, facilitating more efficient manual review of
complex samples and improving the overall workflow of
forensic analysis.

In November 2007, the Applied Biosystems group
announced an exclusive agreement and collaboration
with BigTrove, Inc. to deploy and market TagMan®
genotyping assays on BioTrove's mid-density OpenArray
platform, enabling customers to cost-effectively identify
tens to hundreds of single nucleotide polymorphisms
{"SNPs"} in thousands of samples. The product offering
is expected o address commercial screening
applications in human health and agriculture.

In October 2007, the Applied Biosystems group
announced the formal commercial launch of the SOLID.
next-generation DNA sequencing system, following an
accelerated development program and positive
feedback from early-access customers.

In August 2007, we announced that the board of
directors increased the current authorization to
repurchase shares of Applied Biosystems stock to $1.2
billion. In accordance with the authorization, we
executed a $600 million accelerated share repurchase
transaction with Morgan Stanley and 16 million shares,
or approximately 8.7% of the outstanding shares, were
delivered to us during the second quarter of fiscal 2008.

Applied Biosystems Inc.

In January 2008, Morgan Stanley exercised its option to
settle this accelerated share repurchase transaction

prior to its maturity and delivered 10 us an additional

1.9 miltion shares of Applied Biosysterns stock. See
Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements for more
information on the accelerated share repurchase.

Celera Group

¢ |n January 2008, the United States Court of Appeals for
the Federal Circuit vacated the permanent injunction
granted by the lower court for Innogenetics N.V., Ghent,
Belgium against Abbott in selling hepatitis C virus, ar
HCV, genotyping praducts. Since the jury's damage
award included an upfront entry fee, the Court
remanded to the lower court to determine the terms of
a compulsory license for Abbott’s future sales. In
addition, the Court remanded for a new trial on the
validity of the Innogenetics patent in view of a prior-
issued patent. Innogenetics did not name the Celera
group as a party in this lawsuit, but the Celera group has
an interest in these products and in the outcome of the
litigation because the products are manufactured by the
Celera group and sold through its alliance with Abbott.
In September 2006, a jury rendered a verdict against
Abbhott and awarded $7 million in moneiary damages to
Innogenetics. The Celera group agreed to share equally
the cost of this litigation, including these damages, with
Abbott and, therefore, recorded a pre-tax charge of $3.5
million in the first quarter of fiscal 2007 for its estimated
share of the damage award. In April 2008, Abbott and
Innogenetics settled the patent infringement suit and
the Celera group recorded an additional pre-tax charge
of $0.6 million in the third guarter of fiscal 2008. In the
fourth guarter of fiscal 2008, the Celera group recorded
a $0.2 million pre-tax reduction in litigation costs. The
Celera group’s share of the costs, incluging the initial
pre-tax charge of $3.5 million recorded in fiscal 2007,
was $3.9 miltion. in addition, through June 30, 2008, the
Celera group recorded in operating expenses
approximately $3 mitiion, $0.4 million of which were
recorded in fiscat 2008, in legal fees associated with this
litigation.

* In October 2007, the Celera group acquired subsiantially
all of the assets of Atria Genetics Inc., of Atria, for
approximately $33 million in cash, including transaction
costs. Atria has a line of human leukocyte antigen
molecular diagnostic testing products that are used for
identifying potential donors in the matching process for
bone marrow transplantation. The cash expenditure for
this acquisition was funded by available cash.

Also in October, the Celera group completed the
acquisition of BHL for approximately $193 million in
cash, including transaction costs. BHL is a
cardiovascular healthcare company with a broad
portfolio of clinical laboratory tests and disease
management services focused on individuals with
cardiovascular disease or lipid or metabolic disorders.
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The cash expenditure for this acquisition was funded by
available cash.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America, or GAAP. In preparing
these statements, we are required to use estimates and
assumptions. While we believe we have considered alt
available information, actual results could affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting pericds. We believe that, of
the significant accounting policies discussed in Note 1 10
our consolidated financial statements, the following
accounting policies require our most difficult, subjective or
complex judgments;

* Revenue recognition and allowance for doubtful
accounts;

¢ Assel impairment;
+ Taxes;
¢ Pension benefits;

+ Allocation of purchase orice 1o acquired assets and
liabilities in business combinaticons;

« Exit or disposal activities; and

¢ Allocations to the Applied Biosystems group and the
Celera group.

Revenue Recognition and Allowance for
Doubtful Accounts

The following describes only the areas that are most
subject to our judgment. Refer to Note 1, Accounting
Policies and Practices, to our consofidated financial
statements for a more detailed discussion of our revenue
recognition policy.

in the normal course of business, we enter into
arrangements whereby revenues are derived from multiple
deliverables. In these revenue arrangements, we record
revenue in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin
{"SAB") No. 104, "Revenue Recognition” and Emerging
Issues Task Force (“EITF”} Consensus Issue 00-21,
“Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables,” and
related pronouncements. Specifically, we record revenue
as the separate elements are delivered to the customer if
the delivered item is determined to represent a separate
earnings process, there is objective and reliable evidence
of the fair value of the undelivered itemn, and delivery or
performance of the undelivered item is probable and
substantially in our contrel. For instruments where
installation is determined to be a separate earnings
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process, the portion of the sales price allocable to the fair
vatue of the installation is deferred and recognized when
installation is complete. We determine the fair value of the
installation process based on technician labor billing rates,
the expected number of hours to install the instrument
based on historical experience, and amounts charged by
third parties. We continually monitor the level of effort
required for the installation of our instrumentis to ensure
that appropriate fair vaiues have been determined.
Revenues from multiple-element arrangements involving
license fees, up-front payments and milestone payments,
which are received and/or billable in connection with other
rights and services that represent our continuing
obligations, are deferred until all of the multiple elements
have been delivered or until objective and verifiable
evidence of the fair value of the undelivered elements has
been established. We determine the fair value of each
element in multiple-element arrangements based on the
prices charged when the similar elements are sold
separately to third parties. If objective and verifiable
evidence of fair value of all undelivered elements exists but
objective and verifiable evidence of fair value does not
exist for one or more delivered elements, then revenue is
recognized using the residual method. Under the residual
method, the revenues from delivered elements are not
recognized until the fair value of the undelivered element
or elements has been determined. Contract interpretation
is normally required to determine the appropriate
accounting, including whether the deliverables specified in
a multiple element arrangement should be ireated as
separate units of accounting for revenue recognition
purposes, and if so, how the price should be allocated
among the deliverable elements, when to begin to
recognize revenue for each element, and the period over
which revenue should be recognized.

We recognize royalty revenues when earned over the
term of the agreement in exchange for the grant of
licenses tc use aur products or some technologies for
which we hold patents. We recognize revenue for
estimates of royalties earned during the applicable period,
based on historical activity, and make revisions for actual
royalties received in the following quarter. Historically,
these revisions have not been material to our consolidated
financiai statements. For those arrangements where
royalties cannot be reasonably estimated, we recognize
revenue on the receipt of cash or royalty statements from
our licensees.

A portion of the Celera group’s reported net revenues
include patient test service revenues associated with
BHL's operations. We recognize patient test service
revenues on completion of the testing process and when
the test results are sent to the ordering heszlthcare
provider. Billings for services reimbursed by third-party
payors, including Medicare, are recorded net of
allowances for differences between amounts billed and
the estimated receipts from such payors. These '
allowances are determined based on historical activity.



Management’s Discussion and Analysis — (Continued)

Since the date of acquisition of BHL through June 30,
2008, revenue from Medicare patients represented
approximately 39% of the total BHL patient test service
revenues. Payment arrangements with third parties, such
as Medicare and some insurance companies, include
predetermined reimbursement rates for patient tests.
Adjustments to the estimated receipts, based on final

settlement with the third-party payors, including Medicare,

are recorded in revenue on settlement. Historically,
adjustments for Medicare have not exceeded va%, and
adjustments for non-Medicare payors have not exceeded
V2%, of total BHL patient test service revenues as
compared to our prior gquarier estimates. As such, the
Celera group estimates the potential impact of
subsequent revisions to its reimbursement rates to be in
the range of $150,000 to $350,000 as of June 30, 2008.

We have an established process to estimate and review
the collectibility of our receivables. Bad debt expense is
recorded in SG&A expenses as a percentage of aged
accounis receivable considered necessary to maintain an
appropriate levet of allowance for doubtful accounts.
Receivables are reserved hased on their respactive aging
categories. Our process for determining the appropriate
level of the allowance tor doubtful accounts involves
judgment, and considers the age of the underlying
receivables, type of payor, historical and projected
collection experience, current economic and business
conditions, and other external factors that could affect the
collectibility of receivables. The allowance for doubtful
accounts is reviewed for adequacy, at a minimum, on a
quarterty basis. An account is written-off against the
allowance for doubtful accounts when reasonable
collection efforts have been unsuccessful and it is
probable the receivable will not be recovered or the
account has been transferred to a third party collection
agency.

Asset Impairment
Inventory

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (on a first-in,
first-out basis) or market. Reserves for obsolescence and
excess inventory are provided based on historical
experience and estimates of future product demand. If
actual demand is less favorable than our estimates,
inventory write-downs may be required.

Investments

Publicly traded minority equity investments are recorded
at fair value, with the difference between cost and fair
value recorded to other comprehensive income {loss)
within stockholders’ equity. When the fair value of an
investment declines below cost, and the decline is viewed
as other-than-termporary, the cost basis is written down to
fair value, which becomes the new cost basis, and the
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write-down is included in current earnings. We determine
whether a decline in fair value is other-than-temporary
based on the extent to which cost exceeds fair value, the
duration of the market decline, the intent to hold the
investment, and the financial health of, and specific
prospects for, the investee.

Long-lived assets, including goodwill

We test goodwill for impairment using a fair value
approach at the reporting unit level annually, or earlier if an
event occurs or circumstances change that would more
likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit
below its carrying amount. Our reporting units are the
Applied Biosystems group and the Ceiera group. Under
the impairment test, if a reporting unit's carrying amount
exceeds its estimated fair value, goodwill impairment is
recognized to the extent that the reporting unit’s carrying
arnount of goodwili exceeds the implied fair value of the
goodwill. We may be required to record an impairment
charge in the future for adverse changes in market
conditions or poor operating results of a related reporting
unit.

We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset rmay not be recoverable.
Events that could trigger an impairment review include,
among others, a decrease in the market value of an asset,
an asset’s inability to generate income from operations
and positive cash flow in future periods, a decision to
change the manner in which an asset is used, a physical
change to an asset or a change in business climate. We
calculate estimated future undiscounted cash flows,
before interest and taxes, resulting from the use of the
asset and its estimated value at disposal and compare it to
its carrying value in determining whether impairment
potentially exists. If a potential impairmenti exists, a
calculation is performed to determine the fair value of the
long-tived asset. This calculation is based on a valuation
rmodel and discount raie commensuraie with the risks
involved. Third party appraised values may also be used in
determining whether impairment potentially exists.

Taxes

Deferred taxes represent the difierence between the tax
bases of assets or liabilities, calculated under tax Jaws,
and the reparted amounts in our consolidated financial
staternents. Deferred tax assets include items that can be
used as a tax deduction or credit in our tax return in future
years for which we have already recorded the tax benefit
in our consolidated statements of operations or items that
have already been included in our tax return income but
have yet to be recorded as income in our consolidated
staterments of operations. We record a valuation
allowance against deferred tax assets if it is more likely
than not that we will not be able to utilize these assets to
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offset future taxes. We determine if a valuation allowance
is necessary based on estimates of future taxable profits
and losses and tax planning strategies. YWe believe that
our deferred tax assets, net of our valuation allowance,
should be realizable due to our estimate of future
profitability in the U.S. and foreign jurisdictions, as
applicable. Subsequent revisions to estimates of future
taxable profits and losses and tax planning strategies
could change the amount of the deferred tax asset we
would be able to realize in the future, and therefore could
increase or decrease the valuation allowance.

In June 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
("FASB"} issued FASB interpretation No. {"FIN") 48,
"Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes - an
interpretation of FASB Staternent No. 109", which
supplements Statement of Financial Accounting Standard
{("SFAS") No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes”, by
defining the confidence tevel that a tax position must
meet in order to be recognized in the financial statements.
In accordance with FIN 48, we regularly assess uncertain
tax positions in each of the tax jurisdictions in which we
have operations and account for the related financial
statement implications. Unrecognized tax benefits have
been reported in accordance with the FIN 48 two-step
approach under which the tax effect of a position is
recognized only if it is “more-likely-than-not” {0 be
sustained and the amount of the tax benefit recognized is
equal 10 the largest tax benefit that is greaier than 50
percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement
of the tax position. Determining the appropriate level of
unrecognized tax benefits requires us to exercise
judgment regarding the uncertain application of tax law.
The amount of unrecognized tax benefits is adjusted
when information becomes available or when an event
occurs indicating a change is appropriate. Future changes
in unrecognized tax benefits requirements could have a
material impact on our results of operations.

Pension Benefits

We sponsor domestic and foreign pension plans and also
provide retiree healthcare and life insurance benefits to
some domestic employees. The majority of the assets of
the pension plans are invested in equity and fixed income
securities. The postretirement benefit plan is unfunded.
We also sponsor nonqualified supplemental benefit plans
for select U.S. employees in addition to our principal
pension plan. These supplemental plans are unfunded,
Pension plan expense and the requirements for funding
our major pension plans are determined based on a
number of actuarial assumptions. These assumptions
include the expected rate of return on pension plan
assets, the discount rate applied to pension plan
obligations, and the rate of compensation increase of plan
participants. Our most significant pension plan is our
qualified U.S. pension plan, which constituted
approximately 95% of our consolidated pension plan

— {Continued) Applied Biosystems Inc.

assets and approximately 90% of our projected benefit
obligations as of the end of fiscal 2008. The accrual of
future service benefits for participants in our gualified U.S.
pension plan was frozen as of June 30, 2004. Effective in
fiscal 2006, the expected rate of compensation increase
was no longer factored into the determination of our net
pericdic pension expense as the accrual for future service
benefits was frozen. Refer to Note 6 to our consolidated
financial statements for more information regarding our
pension and postretirement plans, the impact of our fiscal
2007 adoption of SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting
for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement
Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88,
106, and 132(R),” pension plan asset allocation, expense
recorded under our plans, and the actuarial assumptions
used to determine those expenses and the corresponding
liabilities.

The expected rate of return on assets is determined
based on the historical results of the portfolio, the
expected investment mix of the plans’ assets, and
estimates of future long-term investment returns. Our
assumption for the expected rate of return on assets in
our qualified U.S. pension plan ranges from 6.5% to 8.5%
for fiscal 2009, compared to our fiscal 2008 range of
6.25% to 8.5%. The discount rate used is based on rates
available on high-guality fixed income debt instruments
that have the same duration as our plan’s liabilities.
Specifically, a dedicated bond portfolio rmodel constructs a
hypothetical portfolio of high-guality corporate bonds
whose cash flows maich the expected payments under
the plan. The universe of bonds available as of the plan’s
measurement date is obtained from Bloomberg, a third
party data provider, and includes securities of various
maiurities rated Aa or better by Moody's Investor Service.
At June 30, 2008, we calculated our U.S. pension
obligation using a 6.5% discount rate, a 25 basis point
increase from the June 30, 2007 rate of 6.25%. The
increase in our discount rate assumption is expected to
decrease our net periodic pension expense for our U.S.
pension plans by approximately $0.3 million in fiscal 2009
compared to fiscal 2008. For the determination of the
expected rate of return on assets and the discount rate,
we take into consideration external actuarial advice.

In connection with the adoption of SFAS No. 158, net loss
amounts, which arise primarily from the effects of
changes in actuarial assumptions, as well as differences
between expected and actual returns on plan assets, are
recorded as @8 component of accumulated other
comprehensive income. These net loss amounts are being
systematically amortized into future net periodic pension
expense. Based on a decrease in the number of active
participants covered under our qualified U.S. pension plan,
effective July 1, 2007, we amortize losses under the plan
over 22 years, which is the approximate average
remaining life expectancy of inactive participants receiving
benefits under the plan. Amortization of these net losses
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at June 30, 2008, is expected to increase net periodic
pension expense for our qualified U.S. pension plan by
approximately $2 million in fiscal 2009.

A one percentage point increase or decraase in the
discount rate for our U.S. pension plans for fiscal 2009
would decrease or increase our net periodic pension
expense by approximately $1 million. Also, a one
percentage poinl increase or decrease in the expected
rate of return on our pension assets for fiscal 2009 would
decrease or increase our net pericdic pension expense by
approximately $3 million. We do not generally fund
pension plans when our contributions would not be tax
deductible. In fiscal 2008, we made a voluntary
contribution of $30 million to the qualified U.S. plan
concurrent with our decision to update the mortality
assumptions used to value the plan's liabilities. In fiscat
2008 and 2007, we did not fund this plan. As of June 30,
2008, we do not expect to fund this plan in fiscal 2009 as
no contributions are expected to be required under the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act {"ERISA")
regulations due to the level of contributions made in prior
fiscal years. Our estimate of annual contributions is based
on significant assumptions, such as pension plan benefit
levels, tax deductibility, interest rate levels and the
amount and timing of asset returns, Actual contributions
could differ from this estimate.

Allocation of Purchase Price to Acquired Assets
and Liabilities in Business Combinations

The cost of an acguired business is assigned to the
tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assurmed on the basis of their fair values at the
date of acquisition. We assess fair value using a variety of
methaods, including the use of independent appraisers,
present value medels, and estimation of current selling
prices and replacement values. Amounts recorded as
intangible assets, including acquired in-process research
and development, or IPR&D, are based on assumptions
and esiimates regarding the amount and timing of
projected revenues and cosis, appropriate risk-adjusted
discount rates, as well as assessing the competition’s
ability to commercislize products before we can. Also, on
acquisition, we determine the estimated economic lives of
the acquired intangible assets for amortization purposes.
Actual results may vary from projected results.

Exit or Disposal Activities

From time to time, we may undertake actions 1o improve
future profitability and cash flow performance, as
appropriate. We record a hability for costs associated with
an exit or disposal activity when the liability is incurred, as
required under SFAS No. 146, "Accounting for Exit or
Disposal Activities.” Costs incurred under an exit or
disposal activity could include estimates of severance and
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termination benefits, facility-related expenses, elimination
or reduction of product lines, asset-related write-offs, and
termination of contractual obligations, among other itemns.
We will pericdically review these cost estimates and
adjust the liability, as appropriate.

Allocations to the Applied Biosystems Group
and the Celera Group

The attribution of the assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses to the Applied Biosystems group and the Celera
group is primarily based on specific identification of the
businesses included in both segments. Where specific
identification is not practical, other methods and criteria,
which require the use of judgments and estimates, are
used that we believe are equitable and provide a
reasonable estimate of the assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses attributable to both segments, and are
consistently applied.

It is not practical to specifically identify the overhead
portion of corporate expenses atiributable to each of the
businesses. As a result, we allocate these corporate
overhead expenses primarily based on headcount, tota!
expenses, and revenues attributable to each business.

Our board of directors approves the method of allocating
earnings to each class of common stock for purposes of
calculating earnings per share. This determination is based
on the net income or loss amounts of the corresponding
group calculated in accordance with GAAP, consistently
applied.

See Note 17 10 our consolidated financial statements for
more information on our allocation palicies.
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Events Impacting Comparability

We are providing the following information on some
actions taken by us or evenis that occurred for the three
fiscal years ended June 30. We describe the effect of
these items on our reported earnings for the purpose of
providing you with a better understanding of our on-going
operations. You should consider these items when
making comparisons 1o pasi performance and assessing
prospects for future results.

Income/(charge)

{Dotlar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 2006
Severance and benefit costs $(10.2) § (05 %0143
Asset impairments {1.1) 6.8 (109
Excess lease space (0.9) (1.2
Other charges {15.4) (3.6 (2.8
Reduction of expected costs 0.3 08 25

Total employee-related charges,

asset impairments, and other $(27.3) 3 (103} $(26.5

Other events impacting comparability:
Revenue from sales of small

melecule programs $ — % 25 % 88
Asset dispositions and

legal settlements 8.7 48 {(11.3)
Acquired research and development (114.3) (3.4)
{nvestrment gains, net 245 7.6

Tax items {83.5) 25.2 50.2

Acquisitions

in October 2007, we acquired BHL for $193.2 million in
cash, including transaction costs. BHL is a cardiovascular
healthcare company with a Clinical Laboratory
Improvement Amendments of 1988 (“"CLIA")-certified
laboratory that provides a broad portfclio of clinical
laboratory tests and disease management services
focused on individuals who have cardiovascular disease or
lipid or metabolic disorders. We believe that the
acquisition provides the Celera group with a commercial
infrastructure to bring its new genetic tests to the U.S.
cardiovascular market. Additionally, BHL is expected to
provide opportunities for the Celera group to
commercialize new tests and technologies and to gain
economies of scale and improve its margins as a
consequence of the vertical integration with BHL's clinical
laboratory service business. The cash expenditure for this
acquisition was funded by available cash.

Also in October 2007, we acquired substantially alt of the
assets of Atria for $33.3 million in cash, including
transaction costs. Atria has a line of HLA testing products
that are used for identifying potential donorss in the
matching process for bone marrow transplantation. The
acquisition provides the Celera group with direct access to
tissue typing in the transplantation and bene marrow
registry market. The cash expenditure for this acquisition
was funded by available cash.
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The net assets and results of operations of BHL and Atria
have been included in our consclidated financial
statements since their respective acquisition dates, and
have been allocated to the Celera group.

In July 20086, we acquired Agencourt Personal Genomics,
Inc. ("APG"} for approximately $121 millicn in cash,
including transaction costs. At the time of the purchase,
APG was a privately-held developer of next-generation
genetic analysis technology. APG’s proprietary technology
was based on stepwise ligation, a novel and very high
throughput approach to DNA analysis. We allocated this
transaction to the Applied Biosystems group. The cash
expenditure for this acquisition was funded by available
cash. In accordance with SFAS No. 141, “"Business
Combinations,” we accounted for this transaction as a
purchase of assets rather than a business combination
since APG did not meet the definition of a business as
defined by EITF Abstracts [ssue 98-3, "Determining
Whether a Nonmonetary Transaction Involves Receipt of
Productive Assets or of a Business.” The key
considerations impacting our accounting determination
were that APG was primarily focused on research and
development activities, had not commenced principal
operations, and did not have products, customers or
revenues. .

Effective March 1, 2008, we acquired the Research
Products Division of Ambion, Inc. for approximately $279
million in cash, including transaction costs. Ambion is a
provider of innovative products for the study and analysis
of RNA for life science research and drug development.
The Ambion products are used by researchers to study
RNA and its role in disease development and progression.
The cash expenditure for this acquisition was funded by
available cash. The net assets and results of operations of
Armbion have been included in our consolidated financial
statements since the date of the acquisition, and have
been allocated to the Applied Biosystemns group.

For further information on these acquisitions, see Noie 3
to our consolidated financial statementis.
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Acquired Research and Development

In fiscal 2007, the Applied Biosystems group recorded a
$114.3 miliion charge to write-off the value of acquired
IPR&D in connection with the acquisition of APG. As of
the acquisition date, in July 2008, the technological
feasibility of the acquired IPR&D project had not been
established, and it was determined that the project had no
future alternative use. The project being developed, which
consisted of both an instrurment and reagents, was
intended for very high throughput genetic analysis
applications, including DNA sequencing and expression
profiling. The determination of the amount attributed to
acquired IPR&D took into consideration an independent
appraisal performed by an outside consultant.

At the date of acquisition, the project was in the
development stage and approximately 30% complete. The
work on this project was completed in Septernber 2007,
The following table briefly describes the APG project at
the acquisition date.

At Acquisition Date

Estimated Approximate

Fair Costs 10 Percentage

{Dollar amounts in millions) Value Complete Completed

Instruments % 66.6 $10.0 35%

Reagents 477 6.0 25%
Total $i114.3 $16.0

In June 2007, we made our first placements of this next
generation instrument system to early access customars,
Based on the performance of the system, the level of
interest shown Dy our potential customers, and the
progress in cur manufacturing scale up, we accelerated
the commercial release of the systermn to October 2007,
The initial instrument and reagents began generating
revenue in the third quarter of fiscal 2008. The total
project costs were approximately $29 million, an increase
of $13 million from the estimate as of the acquisition date.
These additional R&D expenditures were for labor and
materials required to accelerate the commercial launch of
the platform and optimize features to better compete with
other already commercialized next generation
technologies. This increase in costs was oifset by
reductions in other planned R&D projects.

During fiscal 2006, the Applied Biosystems group
recorded a $3.4 million charge to write-off the value of
acquired IPR&D in connection with the acquisition of
Ambion. As of the acquisition date, the technological
ieasibility of the related projects had not been established,
and it was determined that the acquired projects had no
future alternative uses. The determination of the amount
attributed to acquired IPR&D took into consideration an
independent apprzisal performed by a third party.
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Employee-Related Charges, Asset Impairments,
and Other

The following items have been recorded in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations in employee-
related charges, asset impairments and other, except
as noted.

Fiscal 2008

During fiscal 2008, both the Applied Biosystems group
and the Celera group recorded pre-tax charges of $3.7
million, $2.6 million of which was recorded in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2008, primarily for professional fees
related to the separation of the Celera group from the
Company. The Applied Biosystermns group and the Celera
group have agreed to share equally the costs incurred for
the separation.

Buring the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, the Applied
Biosystems group recorded a pre-tax charge of $7.8
million for costs assoctated with the merger with
Invitrogen.

Adso during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, the Apptied
Biosystems group recorded pre-tax charges of $4.7 million
for severance costs for 32 employees, some of whom
were involved in the LC/MS product line, which is
included in the Applied Biosystems/MDS SCIEX
Instruments business, a 50/50 joint venture between the
Applied Biosystems group and MDS Inc. Included in the
$4.7 million charge was a charge of $0.7 million for
severance costs related to the Applied Biosystems/ivIDS
SCIEX Instrurnents husiness. The charges resulted from
the realignment of the Applied Biosystems group to
support its strategic growth priorities and the decision at
MDS 1o resize and refocus its development process. All of
the affected employees of the Applied Biosystems group
were notified by May 31, 2008, and are expected to be
terminated by December 31, 2008. During the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2008, we made cash payments of $0.6
million related to these charges. Cash expenditures were
funded by cash provided by operating activities. The
remaining cash expenditures of $4.1 million are expected
to be paid by December 31, 2008,

Also during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, the Applied
Biosystems group recorded pre-tax charges of $1.3
million, comprised of a $0.8 million charge in connection
with the disposal of an aircraft and a $0.5 million related
charge for severance costs for 5 employees. The Applied
Biosystems group completed the sale of the aircraft in the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2008. All of the affected employees
were notified in the fourth guarter of fiscal 2008, and are
expected to be terminated by the end of the first quarter
of fiscal 2009.
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Additionally during fiscal 2008, the Applied Biosystems
group recorded a pre-tax charge of $2.9 million for
severance costs for 41 employees. The charge resulted
from the realignment of the Applied Biosystems group’s
organization to support market dynamics and it plans on
redirecting the savings inio other strategic initiatives. All of
the affected employees were notified as of December 31,
2007, and were terminated by June 30, 2008. During
fiscal 2008, we made cash payments of $2.6 million
related to this charge. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008,
the Applied Biosystems group recorded a pre-tax benefit
of $0.1 million for a reduction in anticipated employee-
retated costs associated with this charge. Cash
expenditures were funded by cash provided by operating
activities. The remaining cash expenditures of $0.2 million
are expected to be paid by the end of September 2008.

During fiscal 2008, the Celera group recorded a pre-tax
charge of $1.3 million for severance costs for
approximately 30 employees. All of the affected
employees were notified by March 31, 2008, and are
expected to be terminated by the end of the first quarter
of fiscal 2009. During fisca! 2008, we made net cash
payments of $1.0 million related to this charge. Cash
expenditures were funded by available cash. The
remaining cash expenditures of $0.3 million are expected
to be paid by the third quarter of fiscat 2009. This charge
resulted from the realignment of the Celera group’s R&D
resources and other activities in line with its current
business activities.

Also during fiscal 2008, the Celera group recorded pre-tax
charges totaling $1.3 million related to a reduction in the
Celera group's proteomic-based activities. These charges
were in addition to a charge recorded in the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2007 described below, These charges were
comprised of a $0.8 million charge for severance costs for
approximately 20 employees and an excess lease space
charge of $0.9 million, partially offset by a gain of $0.4
million from the disposal of equipment related to
proteomic-based activities. All of the affected employees
were notified by October 31, 2007, and were terminated
by the end of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008. During
fiscal 2008, we made net cash payments of $0.7 million
related to the severance charge and $0.2 million related to
the excess lease space charge. Cash expenditures were
funded by available cash. The remaining cash
expenditures of $0.1 million for the severance charge are
expected to be paid by the end of the second quarter of
fiscal 2009. The excess lease space charge represented
the estimated cost of excess lease space less estimated
future sublease income on a facility. The remaining cash
expenditures of $0.7 millicn for the excess lease space
charge are expected 1o be paid through April 2010. These
charges resulted from the Celera group’s desire to
improve its financial results, in part by lowering operating
expenses.
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Also during fiscal 2008, the Celera group recorded a
pre-tax charge of $0.3 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal
2008 for the write-down of the carrying amount of an
owned facility that was impaired initially in fiscal 2006 and
a pre-tax charge of $0.6 million partially offset

by a reduction of $0.2 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal
2008 related to the patent infringement suit with
Innogenetics N.V. for which the original charge was
recorded in fiscal 2007. All of these items are discussed
below.

Fiscal 2007

During the fourth quarter of {fiscal 2007, the Celera group
recorded a pre-tax charge of $0.5 million for severance
costs for approximately 20 employees. The charge
resulted from a reduction in the Celera group’s
proteomics-based activities. This action was intended to
continue to improve the Celera group's financial results, in
part due to lower operating expenses. All of the affected
employees were notified as of June 30, 2007, and were
terminated by October 31, 2007. All cash expenditures
related to this charge were dishursed by the end of fiscal
2008. Cash expenditures were funded by available cash.

Also during fiscal 2007, the Celera group recorded a
pre-tax charge of $6.3 million, which was primarily
comprised of $6.8 million of pre-tax charges for the write-
downs of the carrying amount of an owned facility that
was impaired initially in fiscal 2008, partially offset by a
pre-tax benefit of $0.6 million for a reduction in anticipated
employee-related costs associated with severance and
benefit charges recorded in fiscal 2006, as further
discussed below,

During fiscal 2007, the Celera group recorded a pre-tax
charge of $3.5 million for its estimated share of a damage
award in continuing litigation between Abbott and
innagenetics N.V. In September 2006, a jury found that
the sale of HCV genctyping analyte specific reagents
{"ASRs") products by Abbott willfully infringed a U.S.
patent owned by Innogenetics and awarded Innogenetics
$7.0 million in damages. In January 2007, the U.S. District
Court for the Western District of Wisconsin ruled in favor
of Innogenetics’ request for a permanent injunction and
ordered Abbott to withdraw its products from the market.
The Court also reversed the jury verdict of willful
infringerment and ruled that Abboti did not willfully infringe
Innogenetics’ patent and denied Innogenetics’ request for
enhanced damages and attorneys’ fees. Innogenetics did
not name the Celera group as a party in this lawsuit, but
the Celera group has an interest in these products and in
the outcome of the litigation because the enjoined
products are manufactured by the Celera group and sold
through its alliance with Abboti. Also, as these products
are part of its alliance with Abbott, the Celera group
agreed to share equally the cost of this litigation, including
the damage award described above. Abbott appealed the
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judgment. On January 17, 2008, the United States Court
of Appeals for the Federal Circuit vacated the permanent
injunction granted by the lower court for Innogenetics
against Abbott in selling HCV genotyping products. Since
the jury’s damage award included an upfront entry fee,
the Court remanded to the lower court to determine the
terms of a compulsory license for Abbott's future sales. In
addition, the Court remanded for a new trial on the validity
of the Innogenetics patent in view of a prior-issued patent.
The Court also affirmed the judgment of infringement and
the judgment of no willful infringement, In April 2008,
Abbott and Innogenetics settled the patent infringement
suit and the Celera group recorded an additicnal pre-tax
charge of $0.6 million in the third quarter of fisca! 2008. In
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, the Celera group
recorded a $0.2 million pre-tax reduction in litigation costs.
The Celera group’s share of the costs, including the initial
pre-tax charge of $3.5 million recorded in fiscal 2007, was
$3.9 million. in addition, through June 30, 2008, the Celera
group recorded $2.9 million of legal fees in operating
expenses associated with this litigation, $0.4 million of
which were recorded in fiscal 2008.

Fiscal 2006

In fiscal 2006, the Applied Biosystems group recorded
pre-tax charges of $1.5 million for employee terminations
related to the Applied Biosystems/MDS SCIEX
Instruments business. MDS recorded a restructuring
charge for a reduction in workforce as part of its strategy
to facus on the life sciences market. The $1.5 million
represented the Applied Biosystems group's share of the
restructuring charge.

Also in fiscal 2008, the Applied Biosystems group
recorded a $1.1 million pre-tax impairment charge to
write-down the carrying ameunt of its San Jose, California
facility to its then estimated current market value iess
estimated selling costs. This charge was in addition to the
charge recorded in fiscal 2005 described below. In fiscal
20086, the Applied Biosystems group recognized a $0.9
million pre-tax favorable adjustment to the charges
previously recorded based on the actuzl sales price per
the agreement o sell ihe facility. The Applied Biosysterns
group compieted the sale of the facility in fiscal 2006,

Applied Biosystems Inc.

During fiscal 2006, the Celera group recorded pre-tax
charges related 1o its decision 1o exit its small molecuie
drug discovery and development programs and the
integration of Celera Diagnostics into the Celera group.
Celera Diagnostics was a 50/b0 joint venture between the
Applied Biosystems group and the Celera group. Effective
January 1, 2008, the Celera group acquired the Applied
Biosystems group’s 50 percent interest in the Celera
Diagnostics joint venture. These charges consisted of the
following components:

Ernployee-
Related Asset

{Dallar amounts in millions) Charges Impairments Other Total

Total charges $12.8 $9.8 $3.8 $26.4
Cash payments 7.9 26 105
Non-cash activity 93 02 95
Balance at June 30, 2006 49 05 1.0 64
Additional charge 6.8 6.8
Non-cash activity .8 6.8
Cash payments 4.2 0.7 49
Reducticn of expected costs 0.6 0.6
Balance at June 30, 2007 01 Gt 03 09
Additional charge 0.3 0.3
MNon-cash activity 03 0.3
Reduction of expected costs 0.1 0.1
Balance at June 30, 2008 $ — $05 503 % 0.8

The employee-related charges were severance costs
primarity for staff reductions in small melecule drug
discovery and development. As of March 31, 20086, all of
the affected employees were notified and by

September 30, 2006, all were terminated. In fiscal 2007,
the Celera group recorded a pre-tax benefit of $0.6 million
for a reduction in anticipated employee-related costs
associated with the severance and benefit charges
recorded in fiscal 2006. The asset impairment charges
primarily related to a write-down of the carrying amount of
an owned facility to its then estimated current market
value less estimated selling costs, as well as write-offs of
leasehold improvements and equipment. This facility was
reclassified into assets held for sale in fiscal 2006. iIn fiscal
2007, the Celera group recorded additional pre-tax charges
ot $6.8 million to write-down the carrying amount of this
facility. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, the Celera
group recorded an additiona! pre-tax charge of $0.3 million
relating to this facility. The estimates of market value for
this facility were based on third-party appraisals, Cash
expenditures for these charges were funded by available
cash. These actions enabled the Celera group to focus on
its molecular diagnostics and proteomics activities, reduce
its cash consumption, and progress toward profitability.
The remaining required cash expenditures related to these
charges are expected to be disbursed by June 30, 2009.
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Fiscal 2005

During fiscal 2005, the Applied Biosystems group
recorded pre-tax charges totaling $32.9 million for
employee-related charges, excess lease space and asset
impairments. The severance charges reflected the Applied
Biosystems group's decision to reduce and rebalance its
workforce and were implemented as a result of a strategic
and operational analysis conducted by management. All
cash expenditures related to the employee-related portion
of these charges were disbursed by the end of fiscal
2007. The asset impairment charges related to the write-
down in value of the Applied Biosystems group's facilities
in San Jose, California, and Houston, Texas and the
related cash expenditures were disbursed by the end of
iiscal 2006. The excess lease space charges repiesented
the estimated cost of excess lease space less estimated
future sublease income for some leases on facilities in
Massachusetts and California which extend through fiscal
2011. During fiscal 2008, the Applied Biosystems group
made cash payments of approximately $1.0 million related
to the excess lease space charges, which was funded by
available cash. Over the course of the leases, additional
pre-tax charges of $1.5 million, including $0.4 million
recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, were
recorded in operating expenses to reserve for additional
estimated costs under the leases. The remaining cash
payments of $1.1 million as of June 30, 2008 related to
the excess lease space charges are expected to be
disbursed by fiscal 2011.

During fiscal 2005, the Celera group recorded pre-tax
charges totaling $4.5 million related to its Paracel
operations, which was acquired in fiscal 2000. Due to a
shift in focus, Paracel was no longer deemed strategic to
the overall business. These charges included a charge for
severance and benefits costs. All cash payments related
to these employee terminations were made as of June
30, 2006. Also, included in these charges was a charge for
excess facility lease expenses for a lease that extends
through fiscal 2011. During fiscal 2008, we made net cash
payments of $0.7 million related to the excess lease
space. The cash expenditures were funded by available
cash. The remaining net cash expenditures related to the
excess lease space of approximately $2.0 million are
expected to be disbursed by fiscal 2011.

Other Events Impacting Comparability
Revenue from the sales of small molecule programs

In fiscal 2007, the Celera group recorded $2.5 million in
net revenues from the sale of a small molecule drug
discovery and development program to Schering AG. The
Celera group had recorded an initial $2.5 million in fiscal
2006 when the agreement for the sale of the program
was executed. Additionally in fiscal 2006, the Celera group
recorded $6.1 million in net revenues from the sales of
other small molecule drug discovery and development
programs, primarily to Pharmacyclics, Inc.

Asset dispositions and legal settlements

The following items have been recorded in the
Consolidated Statemenis of Operations in asset
dispositions and legal settlements.

Fiscal 2008

In fiscal 2008, the Applied Biosystems group recorded a
$7.6 million pre-tax gain primarily related to a settlement
and licensing agreement entered in1o with Stratagene
Corporation and Agilent Technologies, Inc. {which
acquired Stratagene), which resolved outstanding legal
disputes with Stratagene.

Also in fiscal 2008, the Celera group recorded a $1.1
million pre-tax gain related to the setilement of a litigation
matter associated with its former Onling/Information
Business, an information products and service business.

Fiscal 2007

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007, the Applied
Biosystems group recorded a pre-tax benefit of $3.5
raillion from the receipt of past royalties from Bic-Rad
Laboratories, Inc. under new and newly amended patent
licenses. Also in fiscal 2007, the Applied Biosystems
group recorded a $4.8 million pre-tax benefit related to the
settlement of a patent infringement claim, a $3.0 million
pre-tax benefit related to our ¢collection from a third party
of a portion of its liability relative to our settlement of a
prior legal dispute, and a $9.1 millien pre-tax charge
related to a settlement agreement entered into with
another company which resolved outstanding legal
disputes with that company. The Celera group recorded a
$2.4 million pre-tax benefit in fiscal 2007 related to the
settlement of a litigation matter associated with the
former Online/Information Business.

Fiscal 2006

In fiscal 2008, the Applied Biosystems group recorded a
pre-tax charge of $35.0 million as a result of a seitlement
to resalve all outstanding legal disputes with Beckman
Coulter regarding claims to some patented capillary
electrophoresis and heated cover instrumentation
technology. The Applied Biosystems group made the
$35.0 million payment to Beckman Coulter in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2006 for rights to some Beckman Coulter
technaology and for the retease of any and all claims of
infringement relating to DNA sequencer and thermal
cycler products. Commencing in July 2006, Beckman
Coulter began making guarterly payments which will total
$20.0 million over ten quarters to the Celera group for
diagnostic rights to some of the Company's technology.

Applied Biosystems Inc.
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Also in fiscal 2006, the Applied Biosystems group
recorded a benetit and received the sum of $33.4 million
related to a settlement agreement involving U.S. patent
infringement claims brought by us against Bioc-Rad and MJ
Research, Inc. {acquired by Bio-Rad after the
commencement of litigation.} The settlement also
resolved litigation brought by Bio-Rad against us for patent
and trademark infringement, and counterclaims by us
against Bio-Rad.

Additionally in fiscal 2006, we recorded a $26.6 million
pre-tax charge related to an award in an arbitration
proceeding with Amersham Biosciences, now GE
Healthcare, and a litigation matter. We recorded the
pre-tax charge as foltows: $25.9 million at the Applied
Biosystems group and $0.7 million at the Celera group.
We paid all amounts related to the arbitration matter in
January 2006. The arbitration matter involved the
interpretation of a license agreement relating ta DNA
sequencing reagents and kits. Amersham had alleged,
among other things, that the Applied Biosystems group
had underpaid royalties under the license agreement. The
arbitrator awarded Amersham past damages based on an
increase in royally rates for some of its DNA sequencing
enzymes and kits that contain those enzymes, plus
interest, fees, and other costs. As a result of this decision,
the Applied Biosystems group recorded a pre-tax charge
of $23.5 million in fiscal 2006, $22.6 million of which was
recorded in asset dispositions and legal settlements.

In fiscal 2008, the Applied Biosysiems group recorded a
pre-tax gain of $16.9 million from the sale of a vacant
facility in Connecticut. This facility was previously used for
manufacturing and administration.

investments

In fiscal 2008, the Applied Biosystems group recorded
pre-tax gains of $27.6 million, $25.0 million of which was
recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, in gains on
investments, net from the sales of non-strategic minority
equity investments. Also in fiscal 2008, the Celera group
recorded a pre-tax charge of $3.1 millicn in gains on
investments, net for an ather-than-temporary impairment
of a publicly traded non-strategic minority equity
investment. The impairment charge resulted from a
number of factors that were assessed, including the
duration of the decline in market value, the financial
condition, and future prospects for the investee. In fiscal
2008, the Celera group recorded pre-tax gains of $7.6
million in gains on investments, net from the sale of
non-strategic minority equity investments.

— (Continued) Applied Biosystems Inc.

Tax items
Fiscal 2008

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, the Celera group
recorded a non-cash tax charge of $90.6 million to
establish a valuation allowance against the Celera group’s
deferred tax assets. As a result of the separation, the
Celera group will no tonger be a3 member of the
Company's consolidated return. Due to the Celera group’s
post separation separate taxpayer status and history of
losses, management determined that it was more likely
than not that the net deferred tax assets distributed to the
Celera group in conjunction with the separation will not be
realized. Some of these assets are expected to expire in
three to twelve years, if not used before then.

in fiscal 2008, we recorded net tax benefits of $8.9
million, primarily resulting from net benefits related to
completed Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and foreign
audits and R&D tax credits. $9.6 million of tax benefits
were recorded at the Applied Biosystems group. offset by
3 tax charge for R&D tax credits of $0.7 million recorded
at the Celera group.

Also in fiscal 2008, the Applied Biosystems group
recorded tax charges of $1.8 million primarily related to
the recalculation of deferred tax assets as aresult of a
decrease in the statutory tax rate in Germany.

Fiscal 2007

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007, the Applied
Biosystems group recorded a net tax benefit of $6.9
million primarily related to foreign tax settlements and a
reduction of foreign valuation allowances. The valuation
allowance release was due to management'’s
reassessment of the future realization of deferred tax
assets based on revised forecasted foreign income. Also
in fiscal 2007, we recorded tax benefits of $8.5 million,
primarily resulting from a $6.1 million valuation allowance
release. The valuation allowance release was due to
management’s reassessment of the future realization of
foreign tax credits. Tax benefits identified during the tax
return preparation accounted for the rernaining tax
benefits of $2.4 million. $8.1 million of the tax benefits
was recorded at the Applied Biosystems group and $0.4
million was recorded at the Celera group.

The Tax Relief and Health Care Act of 20086, enacted in
December 2006, extended the R&D tax credit from
January 1, 2006 through December 31, 2007. The Applied
Biosystemns group and the Celera group included the
estimated benefit of the current year R&D tax credit in the
fiscal 2007 estimated annual effective tax rate. In addition,
the Celera group recorded a tax benefit of $1.0 million in
fiscal 2007 related to the R&D tax credit generated
between January 1, 2006 and June 30, 20086.
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Also, in fiscal 2007, the Applied Biosystems group
recorded a tax benefit of $8.8 million related to a reduction
in the valuation allowance for German net operating loss
carryforwards.

Fiscal 2006

In fiscal 2008, the Applied Biosystems group recorded a
tax benefit of $13.5 million related to the resolution of
transfer pricing matters in Japan. Additionally, the Applied
Biosystermns group recorded a net tax charge of $26.6
million related to repatriation of foreign earnings. Alsec in
fiscal 2006, the Applied Biosysiems group recorded tax
benefits of $63.3 million related to a completed IRS exam,
state valuation allowance reversal, and R&D credits. The
IRS completed the audit of the Company for the fiscal
years 1996 through 2003 and, as a result, the Applied
Biosystems group recorded favorable adjustments of
$32.2 million to existing tax liabilities. A net of federal tax
$24.8 million increase in the net state deferred tax assets
primarily related to a reduction in valuation allowance and
the write-off of some state deferred tax assets. The
reduction in the valuation allowance was due to
management's reassessment of the future realization of
deferred tax assets based on revised forecasted taxable
income which includes the impact of a change in the
apportionment of income to California, a reduction in R&D
spending, and increased revenues and profits from our
worldwide operations. Also, the Company completed its
assessment of fiscal years 2001 through 2004 R&D
activities and, as a result, the Applied Biosystems group
recorded a net benefit of $6.3 million for additional R&D
credits.
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Discussion of Applied Biosystems Ine.’s
Consolidated Operations

Results of Operations —
2008 Compared with 2007

% Increase/

(Dollar amounts in milliens) 2008 2007 (Decrease)
Net revenues $2,361.5 $2,1325 10.7%
Cost of sales 999.1 951.5 5.0%
Gross margin 1,3624 1,18i.0 15.4%
SG&A expenses 7140 6227 14.7%
R&D 235.3 254.0 {7.4%)
Amortization of purchased

intangible assets 17.6 11.2 57.1%
Employee-related charges, asset

impairments and other 27.3 103  165.0%
Asset dispositions and

legal settlements (8.7) 4.6 89.1%
Acquired research and development 1143 {100.0%)}
Operating income 376.9 1731 1M7.7%
Gain on investments, net 245 0.2
interest income, net 26.3 43.2 {39.1%}
Other income {expense), net 34 6.8 {50.0%}
Income before income taxes 4311 2233 93.1%
Provision for income taxes 217.3 725 199.7%

Income from continuing operations $ 213.8 § 150.8 41.8%

Percentage of net revenues:

Gross margin 57.7% 554%
SG&A expenses 30.2% 29.2%
R&D 10.0% 11.9%
Operating income 16.0% 8.1%
Effective income tax rate 50.4% 32.5%

The following table summarizes the impact of the
previously described events impacting comparability
included in the financial results for fiscai 2008 and 2007:

{Doliar amounts in millions) 2008 2007
Income {charge} inctuded in income before

iNcome taxes $ 5.9 ${117.5)
Provision {benefit) for income taxes 89.3 (26.4)

Income from continuing aperations increased for fiscal
2008 primarily due to higher net revenues and gross
margin, and lower R&D expenses, partially offset by
higher SG&A expenses and the previously described
events impacting comparability. The net effect of foreign
currency on our income from continuing operations was a
benefit of approximately $32 million as compared to the
prior year. Read our discussion of segments for
information on their financial results.

Net revenues, which include the favorable effects of
foreign currency, increased in fiscal 2008 compared with
the prior year. The effect of foreign currency increased net
revenues by approximately 4% during fiscal 2008. In
addition, our fiscal 2008 net revenues increased primarily
due to the acquisitions of BHL and Atria, higher
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consumables sales at the Applied Biosystems group, and
higher diagnastic-related licensing and royalty revenues at
the Celera group.

The following table sets forth our revenue growth by
geographic area for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008:

Foreign

Reported Currency Operational

Growth Effect Growth*

United States 10% 10%

Europe 10% 7% 3%

Asia Pacific @ 11% 6% 5%

Other markets 17% 8% 9%

Total 11% 4% 7%

1 Asia Pacific:

Japan 3% 8% 5%)

Alf ather 23% 4% 19%

Y

Reported growth less impact of foreign currency.

* Revenues in Europe increased primarily as a result of
higher consumables sales, led by DNA sequencing
consumables, TagMan® Gene Expression Assay
products, and sequence detection consurnables, This
growth was partially offset by lower sales of genetic
analyzers.

The growth in revenues in Asia Pacific, other than
Japan, was led by China and Australia. From a product
perspective, revenues increased primarily due to higher
sales of genetic analyzers, API triple quad and Q TRAP®
systems, and human identification consumables.

Declining revenues in Japan were primarily the result of
lower sales of APl triple quad and Q TRAP systems
which were partially offset by the introduction of the
SOLID™ System and increases in sales of genetic
analyzers, human identification consumables and DNA
Sequencing consumabiles in the region.

In the U.S., higher service revenues from BHL, higher
royalty and license revenues, higher sales of TagMan
Gene Expression Assay products, sales of SOLID
Systems and higher sales of API triple quad and Q TRAP
systems were partially ofiset by lower sales of genetic
analyzers, Real-Time PCR instruments, DNA sequencing
consumables, and a U.S. Department of Defense
contract for an instrument system, which was included
in fiscal 2007.

The higher gross margin percentage in fiscal 2008
compared to fiscal 2007 was primarily from lower enzyme
costs from vendors and the favorable impact of foreign
currency, all ai the Applied Biosystems group, and higher
margin services and products due to BHL and Atria and
higher licensing and royalty revenues at the Celera group.
Partially offsetting these benefits was competitive pricing
and higher inventory-related costs in the Mass
Spectrometry product category at the Applied Biosystems
group.

SG&A expenses for fiscal 2008 increased over the prior
fiscal year primarily due to: the inclusion of BHL expenses

Applied Biosystems Inc.

of approximately $41 million at the Celera group; the
unfavorable impact of foreign currency of approximately
$23 million; higher empioyee-related costs of -
approximately $22 million; regional investments, including
additional headcount, of approximately $13 million to
support growth primarily in Europe and China; and the
reversal in fiscal 2007 of a $5 million accrual related to
settled litigation, all at the Applied Biosystems group. This
increase was partially offset by lower marketing and travel
expenses of approximately $3 miliion at the Applied
Biosystems group. Fiscal 2007 included approximately $5
million of integration costs related to Ambion at the
Applied Biosystemns group.

R&D expenses decreased for fiscal 2008 compared to
fiscal 2007 primarily as a result of lower employee-related
costs at the Applied Biosystems group, the termination in
June 2007 of a U.S. Department of Defense contract
awarded to the Applied Biosystems group, the timing of
expenses at the Applied Biosystems group, and reduced
proteomic-based target discovery and validation related
activities at the Celera group, partially offset by
investments in the SOLID System program at the Applied
Biosystems group.

Gain on investments, net in fiscal 2008 included sales of
non-strategic minority equity investrments.

Interest income, net decreased during fiscal 2008
compared to fiscal 2007 primarily due to interest expense
incurred on our loans payable and lower average cash and
cash equivalents and short-term investmenis in fiscal
2008, combined with lower average interest rates in fiscal
2008. The loans, which originated in fiscal 2008, were
used to fund the accelerated repurchase of shares of
Applied Biosystems siock, as described below.

The increase in the effective tax rate for fiscal 2008
compared to fiscal 2007 was primarily due to the
previously described events impacting comparability,
including the events described under tax items. An
analysis of the differences between the federal statutory
income tax rate and the effective income tax rate is
provided in Note 5 to our consolidated financial
statements.
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Results of Operations —
2007 Compared with 2006

% Increase/
(Doltar ameaunts in millions} 2007 2006 {Decrease)

$2,132.5 $1,949.4 9.4%

Net revenues

Cost of sales 9515 881.2 8.0%
Gross margin 1,181.0 1,088.2 10.6%
SG&A expenses 6227 5845 6.5%
R&D 2540 214 (6.4%}
Amortization of purchased

intangible assets 1.2 5.9 89.8%
Employee-related charges, asset

impairments and other 103 266 [61.3%!}
Asset dispositions and

legal settlements {4.6) 1.2 {141.1%;)
Acquired research and development 1143 34
Qperating income 173.1 165.2 4.8%
Gain on investments, net 0.2 76 (97.4%)
Interest income, net 43.2 37.1 16.4%
Other income (expense), net 6.8 5.3 28.3%
Income befcre income taxes 2233 215.2 3.8%
Provision for income taxes 725 2.7

Income from continuing operaticns $ 1508 8§ 2125  (29.0%)

Percentage of net revenues:

Gross margin 55.4% 54.8%
SG&A expenses 29.2% 30.0%
R&D 11.9% 13.9%
Cperating income 8.1% 8.5%
Effective income tax rate 32.5% 1.3%

The following table summarizes the impact of the
previously described events impacting comparability
included in the financial results for fiscal 2007 and 20086:

{Dollar amounts in millions} 2007 2006

Charge included in income before income taxes $(117.5) $(24.9)
Benefit for income taxes (26.4) (567.3}

Income from continuing operations decreased for fiscal
2007 primarily due to the previously described events
impacting comparability, in particular the acquired
research and development charge and the events
described under tax items, and higher SG&A expenses,
partially offset by higher net revenues and lower R&D
expenses. The net effect of foreign currency on our
income from continuing operations was a benefit of
approximately $21 million as compared to the prior year.

Net revenues, which include the favorable effects of
foreign currency, increased in fiscal 2007 compared with
the prior year. Revenues for fiscal 2007 included a
favorable impact of approximately 2% related to the
Ambion acguisition, which was effective March 1, 20086,
The effect of foreign currency increased net revenues by
approximately 2% during fiscal 2007.

* Net revenues increased at the Applied Biosystems
group, driven by strength in the Real-Time PCR/Applied
Genomics product category, primarily due to higher

Applied Biosystems Inc.

sales of consumabtes products, and in the Mass
Spectrometry product category, led by sales of the API
tripte quad, Q TRAP, and QSTAR® systerns and
increased instrument service contract revenue. Higher
sales of DNA sequencing consumables and increased
instrument service contract revenue contributed to the
growth in the DNA Sequencing produci caiegory.

* Net revenues decreased at the Celera group, primarily
due to lower revenues from the sales of small molecule
drug discovery and development programs and lower
equalization payments from Abbott in fiscal 2007.
Additionally, revenues in fiscal 2006 included the Online/
Information and Paracel businesses. Partially offsetting
these decreases were higher diagnostic-related
licensing and royalty revenues, including licensing
revenue from Beckman Coulter, and higher product
sales in fiscal 2007.

The following table sets forth our revenue growth by
geographic area for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007:

Faoreign

Reported Currency  Operational

Growth Effect Growth*

United States 4% 4%

Europe 15% 5% 10%

Asia Pacific e 9% 9%

Other markets 22% 2% 20%

Total 9% 2% 7%
@ Asia Pacific:

Japan 2% (1%} 3%

All other 21% 1% 20%

* Reported growth less impact of foreign currency.

* Revenues in Europe increased primarily as a result of
sales of DNA sequencing consumables, Ambion
products, low to medium throughput genetic analyzers,
API triple quad systems, Q TRAP sysiems, and TagMan
Gene Expression Assay products.

Sales in the U.S. increased primarily due to sales of
Ambion products, AP triple quad systems, a U.S.
Department of Defense contract for an instrument
system, Real-Time PCR consumables, human
identification consumables, and TagMan Gene
Expression Assay products. This growth was partially
offset by lower sales of genetic analyzers.

Revenues in Asia Pacific, other than Japan, increased
due to higher sales of low throughput reak-time PCR
instruments, Q TRAP systems, human identification
consumables, DNA Sequencing consumables, and
Ambion products.

The higher gross margin percentage in fiscal 2007
compared to fiscal 2006 was primarity due to improved
vendor pricing related to enzymes, the favorable effects of
foreign currency, higher contract revenues, and improved
service margins, all at the Applied Biosystems group,
partially offset by increased royalty costs as a result of
recent legal settlements and decreased royalty revenues
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due in part to the settlement with Bio-Rad, both at the
Applied Biosystems group. The improvement in service
margins at the Applied Biosystemns group was primarily
driven by improved etficiency of the field service
organization and growth in the volume of service
contracts.

SG&A expenses for fiscal 2007 increased over the prior
fiscal year primarily due to operating and integration costs
of approximately $18 million related to Ambion, higher
employee-related costs of approximately $17 million,
which included increases related to sales commissions,
and strategic investments of approximately $11 million to
support growth in China, North America, and Europe, all at
the Applied Biosystems group. This increase was partially
offset by lower legal expenses of approximately $14
million, including a reversal of a $5 millicn accrual related
to settled litigation recorded in fiscal 2006.

R&D expenses decreased for fiscal 2007 compared to
fiscal 2006 primarily as a result of the Celera group’s
decision to exit small molecule drug discovery and
development as well as a reduction in costs incurred at
the Applied Biosystems group in fiscal 2006 for R&D
projects that were either completed or not continued in
fiscal 2007. This decrease was partially offset by costs
associated with the development of an advanced genetic
anzlysis platiorm related to the APG acquisition, increased
costs related to Ambion, and the U.S. Department of
Defense contract awarded to the Applied Biosystems
group in August 20086,

Interest income, net increased during fiscal 2007
compared to fiscal 2006 primarily due to higher average
interest rates, partially offset by lower average cash and
cash equivalents and shori-term investments. The lower
cash and cash equivalents and short-ierm investmenis
were primarily the result of share repurchases in fiscal
2007, the acquisition of Ambion in March 20086, and the
acquisition of APG in July 20086.

The increase in the effective tax rate for fiscal 2007 was
primarily due to the previously described events impacting
comparability, including ihe events described under tax
items.

Applied Biosystems Inc.

Discussion of Consolidated Financial Resources
and Liquidity

We had cash and cash equivalenis and short-term
investments of $876.7 million at June 30, 2008, and
$1,056.0 million at June 30, 2007. We maintain a $250
million unsecured revolving credit agreement with four
banks that matures on May 25, 2012. This amount was
increased from $200 million effective August 27, 2007, at
our request in accordance with the terms of the
agreement. There were no borrowings outstanding under
this agreement at June 30, 2008. On August 27, 2007, we
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entered into a $100 million unsecured term loan
agreement with Bank of America, N.A. that matures on
September 4, 2008. Upon the satisfaction of various
conditions, we have the option to extend the maturity
date on this agreement to September 4, 2010. There was
$100 million outstanding under this agreement at June 30,
2008. Subsequent to June 30, 2008, we repaid $50 million
of the amount outstanding. Both the revolving credit
agreement and the term loan agreement require that we
maintain a debt to total capital ratio, as defined in each
agreement, of not more than 0.50:1:00. See Note 10 to
our consclidated financial statements for more information
on our loans payable. The amounts borrowed under these
agreements were used to fund the repurchase of shares
of Applied Biosystems stock and were allocated entirely
to the Applied Biosystems group. Cash provided by
operating activities and our debt borrowings have been
our primary source of funds over the last three fiscal
years.

In April 2007, we announced that our board of directors
authorized the repurchase of up to 10% of the
outstanding shares of Applied Biosystems stock. This
authorization has no time restrictions and delegates to
management the discretion to purchase shares at times
and prices it deems appropriate through open market
purchases, privately negotiated transactions, tender
offers, exchange offers, or otherwise. We repurchased
3.4 million shares of Applied Biosystems stock for
approximately $100 million during the fourth quarter of
tiscal 2007 under this authorization. Subsequently, on
August 8, 2007, we announced that our board of directors
increased this authorization 1o $1.2 billion in the
aggregate, including the $100 million already repurchased
as discussed above, which at market prices on that date
represented approximately 20% of the outstanding shares
of Applied Biosystems stock. in accordance with this
autherization, we entered into an agreement with Morgan
Stanley in August 2007 for the accelerated repurchase of
$600 million of Applied Biosystems stock. During fiscal
2008, we paid Morgan Stanley approximately $602 million
for this transaction, of which $327 million was funded by
cash and $275 million was funded by bank loans. In fiscal
2008, we repaid $175 million of these bank loans. In
October 2007, 16 million shares of Applied Biosystems
stock were deliverad to us under this agreement. In
January 2008, Morgan Stanley exercised its option to
settle the accelerated share repurchase transaction prior
to its maturity and delivered to us an additional 1.9 million
shares of Applied Biosystems stock. See Note 7 to our
consolidated financial statements for more information on
the accelerated share repurchase. These authorizations
supplement the hoard's standing authorization to
replenish shares of Applied Biosystems stock issued
under our employee stock benefit plans, UUnder the terms
of the merger agreement with Invitrogen, we are
generally prohibited from repurchasing any shares of
Applied Biosysterns stock without the prior agreement of
Invitrogen.
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The discussion in this section below does not give effect
to the indebtedness to be incurred in connection with the
pending merger with Invitrogen and is based on our
current liquidity needs and operations.

We believe that existing funds, cash generated from
operations, and existing scurces of debt financing are
more than adequate to satisfy our normal operating cash
flow needs, planned capital expenditures, acquisitions,
and dividends for the next twelve months and for the
foreseeable future.

{Dollar ameunts in millions) 2008 2007
Cash and cash equivalents $589.0 3 3232
Short-term investments 287.7 732.8
Total cash and cash equivalents and

short-term investments $876.7 $1,0%96.0
Total debst 100.1
Working capital 964.2 11,2055
Debt to total capitalization 4.6%

The overall decrease of cash and cash equivalents and
short-term investments for fiscal 2008 from June 30, 2007
resulted from cash expenditures for the accelerated share
repurchase transaction and the acquisitions of BHL and
Atria, partially offset by cash generated from operating
activities. Cash and cash equivalents increased for fiscal
2008 from June 30, 2007, as cash generated from
operating activities, proceeds from bank loans, net of
repayments, sales and maturities of investments and
other assets, net of purchases, and stock issuances
exceeded the payment to Morgan Stanley for the
accelerated share repurchase transaction, cash
expenditures for the acquisitions of BHL and Atria, capital
spending and dividends paid.

Cash and cash equivatents decreased in fiscal 2007 from
June 30, 2008, as cash expenditures for the acquisition of
APG, share repurchases, the purchase of capital and other
assets, the purchase of available-for-sale investments, net
of sales and maturities, and the payment of dividends,
exceeded cash generated from operating activities and
proceeds from stock issuances.

Net cash flows of continuing operations for the fiscal
vears ended June 30 were as follows:

{Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 2006
Net cash from operating activities $503.0 $343.0 $278.8
Net cash from investing activities 2221 (406.8) {159.4)
Net cash from financing activities {451.8) (63.3) (461.5)
Effect of exchange rate changes oncash ~ {20.4) 16.2 3.00

Operating activities

The increase in net cash provided from operating activities
for fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007 resulted primarily
from higher income-related cash flows and a higher
source of cash in accounts receivable, partially offset by a
higher use of cash in inventories. The higher source of
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cash in accounts receivable was primarily due to higher
sales volume in fiscal 2008, partially offset by the timing
of the collection of licensing and milestone payments at
the Celera group recorded in fiscal 2007, as well as an
increase in receivables related to both royalty revenues
and the sale of BHL services and Atria products. The
higher use of cash in inventories is primarily related to the
build up of both instruments and consumables for the
SOLID System. Within prepaid expenses and other
assets, the higher source of cash primarily resulted from
the timing of royalty receipts, collection of value-added tax
receivables, and dividends and distributions related to our
joint venture activities. Partially offsetiing these sources of
cash were higher payments by the Applied Biosystems
group in fiscal 2008 under license and collaboration
agreements, including approximately $37 million made in
the second quarter of fiscal 2008. The higher use of cash
in accounts payable and other liabilities resulted primarily
from the timing of royalty payments, partially offset by tax
refunds received in fiscal 2008 primarily due to the
compietion of the IRS and foreign tax audits, the timing of
vendor payments at the Applied Biosystems group, and
lower severance and other restructuring-related payments
at the Celera group in fiscal 2008. The Applied Biosystems
group’s days sales outstanding was 58 days at June 30,
2008 and 2007 and 54 days at June 30, 2008. Successiul
collection efforts in fiscal 2008 offset the higher sales
volume. The growth in days sales cutstanding at June 30,
2007 over the prior year was driven primarily by higher
sales volume and increased royalty receivables, Inventory
on hand was 3.3 months at June 30, 2008, compared to
2.7 months at June 30, 2007.

The increase in net cash provided from operating activities
for fisca! 2007 compared to fiscal 2006 resulted primarily
from higher income-related cash flows and a lower use of
cash in accounts payable and other liabilities, partially
offset by a higher use of cash in accounts receivable and
prepaid expenses and other assets. The lower use of cash
in accounts payable and other liabilities resulted primarily
from a voluntary contribution of approximately $31 million
to our pension plans in fiscal 2008, the payment of
approximately $58 million refated to the previously
discussed Amersham and Beckman Coulter legal matiers
also in fiscal 2006, and lower severance and excess lease
paymenis at the Applied Biosystems group in fiscal 2007,
partially offset by the timing of vendor payments at the
Applied Biosystems group. At the Celera group, working
capital benefited from the decisions to exit small molecule
drug discovery and development in fiscal 2006 and the
Online/Information business in fiscal 2005. The higher use
of cash in accounts receivables at the Applied Biosystems
group was due to increased sales. The higher use of cash
in prepaid expenses and other assets in fiscal 2007
primarily resulted from the timing of the receipts of
dividends and disiributions relaied to the Applied
Biosystems group’s joint venture activities, partially offset
by the collection of non-trade receivables also related to
joint venture activities in fiscal 2007.
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Investing activities

Capital expenditures, net of disposals, were $53.3 millicn
in fiscal 2008, $62.6 million in fiscal 2007, and $46.1
million in fiscal 2006. Fiscal 2008 included expenditures
for & manufacturing execution system project, continued
facility renovations in Foster City, California, and
purchases of testing, laboratory, computer and production
equipment at the Applied Biosystems group. The
ranufacturing execution system project is expected to
enhance turnaround time from when an order is placed,
allow faster new product introduction, and improve the
ability to track work orders. Fiscal 2007 included
expenditures for facility renovations in Foster City,
California, the opening of new application support centers
in Shanghai, China, and Foster City, California, and
purchases of computer, production and laboratory
equipment at the Applied Biosystems group. Fiscal 2006
included expenditures for the development of, and
enhancements to, the Applied Biosysiems Portal of
approximately $8 million, Additionally, fiscal 2006 capital
expenditures included purchases of production
equipment, testing and laboratory equipment, computer
equipment, and computer software and licenses at the
Applied Biosystems group. Fiscal 2008 capital
expenditures at the Celera group consisted primarily of
leasehold improvements at BHL's laboratory and
4myheart Centers. Fiscal 2007 and 2006 capita!
expenditures at the Celera group consisted of equipment
purchases and leasehold improvements, the majority of
which relaied to our diagnostics business.

Fiscal 2008 included lower proceeds from sales and
maturities of and lower purchases of available for sale
investrnents. In fiscal 2007, purchases exceeded the
proceeds received from the sales and maturities of
available-for-sale invesiments. In fiscal 2006 and 2005,
cash was generated from the sales and maturities, net of
purchases, of available-for-sale investments. In October
2007, we acquired BHL and Atria for approximately $214
million, including transaction costs and net of cash
acquired. In July 20086, we acquired APG for approximately
$121 million, including transaction costs, and in March
2006, we acquired Ambion for approximately $279 million,
including transaction cosis. Thaese acquisitions are
described in Note 3 to our consolidated financial
statements, In fiscal 2008, the Applied Biosystems group
sold non-strategic minority equity investments and an
airplane and received net proceeds of approximately $46
million, the majerity of which was received in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2008. In fiscal 2008, we sold & vacant
facility in Connecticut and our San Jose, California facility
and received net proceeds of approximately $26 million. in
fiscal 2006, the Celera group received proceeds of $9.5
million primarily related to the sale of non-strategic
minority equity investments.

Applied Biosystems Inc.

Financing activities

During fiscal 2008, we paid Morgan Stanley approximately
$602 million for the accelerated share repurchase
transaction, of which $275 million was funded by bank
loans and the balance with cash. In October 2007,

16 million shares of Applied Biosystems stock were
delivered to us under this transaction. In January 2008,
Morgan Stanley exercised its option to settle the
accelerated share repurchase transaction prior to its
maturity and delivered to us an additional 1.9 million
shares of Applied Biosysiems stock. During fiscal 2008,
we borrowed $175 million under our $250 million
unsecured revolving credit agreement and $100 million
under our unsecured term loan agreement and we repaid
$175 million of these borrowings. In connection with the
acquisition of BHL, we assumed approximately $10.8
million of floating and fixed rate debt, of which $10.7
million was repaid in fiscal 2008. Fiscal 2007 included four
dividend payments on Applied Biosystems stock
compared to three payments in fiscal 2006 due to the
timing of the payment dates. We repurchased the
{ollowing shares of Applied Biosystems stock during the
fiscal years ended June 30:

Number of Shares  Purchase

{Dollars and shares in millicns) Repurchased Price
2008 179  $601.5
2007 5.2 168.6
2006 245 601.9

Contractual Obligations

Our significant contractual obligations at June 30, 2008,
and the anticipated payments under these obligations
were as follows:

Payments by Period

2010- 2012 -
{Dollar amounts in millions) Total 2009 2011 2013 Thereafter

Minimum operating

lease payments @l $139.8 § 42.2 $54.6 $20.8  $22.2

Purchase obligations ® 101.7 746 231 28 1.2
Other long-term liabilities ! 34.8 28 28 21 26.9
Total & $276.3 $119.7 $80.6 $25.7 $50.3

{al Refer to Note 11 to our consolidated financial staternents for further infarmation.
(bl Purchase obligations are entered into with various vendors in the normal course of
business, and include commitmants ratated 19 inventady, capital expenditures,
R&D arrangements and collaborations, license agreements, and other services.
We have excluded deferred revenues as they have no impact on cur future
liquidity. We have alsc excluded deterred tax liabilities and cbligations connectad
with our pension and postretirement plans and other forergn employee-related
plans as they arg not contractually fixed as to tming and amount. See Note 6 to
our consolidatad financial statements for mere information on these plans.
Included in the table are obligations related to the Celera group which were
assumed by Celera Corporation in cennection with the Celera separation on July 1,
2008. The Celera group's portion of the above obligations was $9.0 million for
fiscal 2009, $14.2 miltion for fiscal 2010-2011, $4.2 million for fiscal 2012-2013,
and 39.8 million thereafter.
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The Company adopted FIN 48, *Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes - an interpretation of FASB
Statement No. 109" on July 1, 2007. As of June 30, 2008,
the Company had approximately $32 million of
unrecognized tax benefits. This amount represents the tax
benefits associated with various tax positions taken, or
expected to be taken, on domestic and international tax
returns that have not been recognized in our financial
statementis due to uncertainty regarding their resolution.
This amount has been excluded from the contractual
obligations table because the Company is unable to
reasonably predict the ultimate amount or timing of future
tax payments.

For additional information regarding our financial

obligations and commitments, see Notes 10 and 11 to our
consolidated financial statements,

Discussion of Segments’ Operations, Financial
Resources and Liquidity

Applied Biosystems Group

Results of Operations—

2008 Compared with 2007
% Increase/

[Dellar ameunts in millions) 2008 2007 {Decreass)
Net revenues $2,224.7 $2,0935 6.3%
Cost of sales 960.0 936.2 2.5%
Gross margin 1,264.7 1,157.3 9.3%
SG&A expenses 6393 593.0 7.8%
R&D 196.1 2039 {3.8%])
Amortization of purchased

intangible assets 105 1.2 (6.3%)
Employee-related charges, asset

impairments and other 20.3
Asset dispositions and

legal settlements (7.6} (2.2) 245.5%
Acquired research and development 1143 {100.0%)
Operating incame 406.1 2371 71.3%
Gain on investments, net 27.6 0.2
Interest income, net 8.6 15.4  {44.2%)
Other income {expense), net 33 6.3 (47.6%)
Income before income taxes 445.6 2590 72.0%
Provision for income taxes 129.0 88.1 46.4%
Incorme from continuing operations $ 3166 § 1709 853%

Percentage of net revenues:

Gross margin 56.8% 55.3%
SG&A expenses 287% 2B3%
R&D 8.8% 9.7%
Operating income 18.3% 11.3%
Effective income tax rate 28.9% 34.0%

Applied Biosystems Inc.

The following table summarizes the impact of the
previously described events impacting comparability
included in the financial results for fiscal 2008 and 2007:

[Dollar amounts in millions} 2008 2007

Income {charge) included in income before
income taxes
Benefit for income taxes {0.5)

$148 31121}
(23.0)

Income from continuing operations increased in fiscal
2008 compared to the prior year primarily due {o the
previously described events impacting comparability,
higher net revenues and gross margin and lower R&D
expenses, partially offset by higher SG&A expenses. The
net effect of foreign currency on income from continuing
operations was a benefit of approximately $32 million in
fiscal 2008 as compared to the prior fiscal year.

Revenues - overall summary

The following table sets forth the Applied Biosystems
group's revenues by product categories for the fiscal
years ended June 30:

% Increase/
{Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 (Decrease)
DNA Sequencing $ 5739 % 5576 3%
% of total revenues 26% 27%
Real-Time PCR/Applied Genomics 803.4 704.6 14%
% of total revenues 36% 34%
Mass Spectrometry 539.2 5254 3%
% of total revenues 24% 26%
Core PCR & DNA Synthesis 199.8 190.5 5%
% of total revenues 9% 9%
Other Product Lines 1084 115.4 {6%)
% of total revenues 5% 5%
Total $2,224.7 $2,093.5 6%

The effect of foreign currency increased net revenues in
fiscal 2008 by approximately 4% as compared to the prior
year.

Real-Time PCR/Applied Genomics:

* Revenues in the Real-Time PCR/Applied Genomics
product category increased primarily due to higher sales
of consurnable products, including TagMan Gene
Expression Assay products, human identification kits
used in forensics, sequence detection consumables,
and RNA kits and reagents. Sales of low end Real-Time
PCR instruments also contriputed to the product
category growth.

» Revenue from other sources increased for fiscal 2008
compared to fiscal 2007 primarily due to higher royalty
and license revenues, including a real-time PCR
instrument license granted in the first guarter of fiscal
2008 as part of a patent infringement settlement related

. 1o a real-time instrurment paient, and higher service

_contract revenues.
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DNA Sequencing:

* Revenues in the DNA Segquencing product category
increased due to higher consumables sales, including
CE. or capillary electrophoresis, consumables, and
higher instrument service contract revenues, partially
offset by lower instrument sales. Decreased sales of
genetic analyzers were partially offset by sales of the
SOLID System. During the third quarter of fiscal 2008,
the Applied Biosystems group recognized its first
revenues from sales of the SOLID next-generation
seqguencing system, and in May 2008, the Applied
Biosystems group began shipping SOLID 2.0, a major
upgrade to the initial platform.

Mass Spectrometry:

* Revenues in the Mass Spectrometry product category
increased in fiscal 2008 due primarily to significantly
higher instrument service contract revenues and growth
in the sales of the API triple quad and Q TRAP systems.
Partially offsetting these increases were lower sales of
the QSTAR® and MALDI TOF/TOF™ systems. The
QSTAR and MALDI TOF/TOF systems are used
primarily in proteomics research, while the Q TRAP and
API triple guad systems are used predominantly in
pharmaceutical, applied market, and quantitative
protecmic applications.

* Mass Spectrometry product category revenues were
believed to be affected by cautious spending by
pharmaceuticals companies, which was not entirely
offset by strength among the contract research
organizations {"CRQOs"), and competitive offerings in
proteomics.

Other:

|

! + Revenues in the Other Product Lines product category

| decreased primarily due to the termination in June 2007
of a U.S. Department of Defense contract, revenues
from which were included in fiscal 2007.
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Revenue by sources

The following table sets forth the Applied Biosystems
group's revenues by sources for the fiscal years ended
June 30:

% Increase/

{Oollar amounts 0 millians) 2008 2007  (Decreasel
Instruments $ 8911 §$ 8893 0.2%
Consumables 834.0 8420 10.9%
Other sources 399.6 362.2 10.3%
Total $2,2247 32,0935 6.3%
Instruments

For fiscal 2008, instrument revenues were relatively flat as
compared to the prior year. Sales of the SOLID System in
the DNA Sequencing product category, the new Veriti™
thermai cycler in the Core PCR & DNA Synthesis product
category, and higher sales of low end Real-Time PCR
instruments and the API tripte quad and Q TRAP systems
in the Mass Spectrometry product category were almost
entirely offset by lower sales of genetic analyzers in the
DNA Sequencing product category and the QSTAR and
MALDI TOF/TOF systems in the Mass Spectrometry
product category.

Consumables

The increase in consumables sales in fiscal 2008 primarily
refiected the strength of Real-Time PCR/Applied
Genomics consumable sales. These sales increased
primarily as a resu't of higher sales of TagMan Gene
Expression Assay products, human identification kits used
in forensics, sequence detection consumables, and RNA
kits and reagents. Also, favorably impacting consumables
revenues were higher sales of CE consumables in the
DNA Sequencing product category.

Other sources

Revenues from other sources, which includes service and
support, rovalties, licenses, and contract research,
increased for fiscal 2008 due to higher service contract
revenues, particularly in the Mass Spectrometry and Real-
Time PCR/Applied Genomics product categories, and
higher royalty and license revenues, in part due to a patent
infringement seitlement.
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Revenues by gecgraphic area

The following table sets forth the Applied Biosystems
group’s revenues by geographic area for the fiscal years
ended June 30:

Foreign

{Dollar amounts Reported Currency Operational
in millions) 2008 2007 Growth Effect  Growth*
United States $ 895.8 § 8943 - % -%
Europe 810.7 738.6 10% 7% 3%
Asia Pacific 1 413.7 3714 1% 6% 5%
Other markets 104.5 83.2 17% 8% 9%
Total $2,224.7 $2,093.5 6% 4% 2%
@ Asia Pacific:

Japan 2% 8% (6%)

All other 23% 4% 19%

-

Reported growth less impaci of foreign currency.

* Revenues in Europe increased primarily as a result of
higher consumables sales, led by DNA sequencing
consumables, TagMan Gene Expression Assay
products, and sequence detection consumables. This
growth was partially offset by lower sales of genetic
analyzers.

* The growth in revenues in Asia Pacific, other than
Japan, was led by China and Ausiralia. From a preduct
perspective, revenues increased primarily due to higher
sales of genetic analyzers, APl triple quad and G TRAP
systems, and human identification consumables,

Declining revenues in Japan were primarily the result of
lower sales of API triple quad and Q TRAP systems
which were partially oifset by the introduction of the
SOLID System and increases in sales of genetic
analyzers, human identification consumables and DNA
Sequencing consumables in the region.

¢ In the U.S., higher royalty and license revenues, higher
sales of TagMan Gene Expression Assay products, sales
of SOLID Systems and higher sales of API triple quad
and O TRAP systems were almost entirely offset by
lower sales of genetic analyzers, Real-Time PCR
instruments, DNA sequencing consurnables, and a U.S.
Department of Defense contract for an instrument
system, which was included in fiscal 2007.

Gross margin, as a percentage of net revenues, increased
for fiscal 2008 over the prior year primarily due to lower
enzyme costs from vendors and the favorabte impact of
foreign currency. Partially offsetting these benefits were
competitive pricing and higher inventory-related costs in
the Mass Spectrometry product category. Service margin
was lower in fiscal 2008 compared to the prior year due to
product mix.

SG&A expenses for fiscal 2008 increased compared to the
prior year primarily due to the unfaverable impact of
foreign currency of approximately $23 million; higher
employee-related costs of approximately $22 million,
particularly in sales and marketing; regional investments,
including additional headcount, of approximately $13
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million to support growth primarily in Europe and China;
and the reversal in the first quarter of fiscal 2007 of a $5
million accrual related to settled litigation. This increase
was partially offset by lower marketing and travel
expenses of approximately $3 million. Additionally, fiscal
2007 included approximately $5 million of integration
costs related to Ambion,

R&D expenses decreased in fiscal 2008 from the prior
year primarily as a result of lower employee-related costs,
the termination in June 2007 of a U.S. Department of
Defense contract, and the timing of expenses, partially
offset by investments in the SOLID System program.

Gain on investments, net in fiscal 2008 inciuded sales of
non-strategic minarity equity investments. '

Interest income, net decreased during fiscal 2008
compared to the prior year primarily due to a combination
of interest expense incurred on our loans payable and
lower average interest rates on our cash and cash
equivalents and short-term investments, which were
partially offset by higher average cash and cash
equivalents and short-term investments. The loans, which
originated in fiscal 2008, were used 10 fund the
accelerated repurchase of shares of Applied Biosystems
stock, as described below.

Other income {expense), net decreased in fiscal 2008
compared to fiscal 2007 primarily due to lower income
from our foreign currency risk management program,

The decrease in the effective tax rate for fiscal 2008
compared to fiscal 2007 was primarily due to the
previously described events impacting comparability,
including the events described under tax items.
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Results of Operations —
2007 Compared with 2006

% Increase/

Applied Biosystems [nc.

Revenues - overall summary

The following table sets forth the Applied Biosystems
group's revenues by product categories for the fiscal

{Dollar amounts in millions) 2007 2006 {Decreass) years ended June 30:

Net revenues $2,0935 $1,911.2 9.5% %l y
ncrease,

Cost of sales 9362 8664 8.1% (Dollar amounts in millions} 2007 2006 {Decrease

Srose margin Faols My 198%  DNASecquencing $ 5576 § 5399 %

expenses . . . . -

R&D P 203.8 1803 13.1 g/: % of total revenues 27% 29%

Amortization of purchased Real-Time PCR/Applied Genomics 7046 6004 17%

intangible assets 1.2 48 133.3% % of total revenues 34% 31%
Employee-related charges, asset

impairments and other 0.4 {100.0%) Mass Spectrometry 525.4 465.3 13%
Asset dispositions and % of total revenues 25% 24%

Iegal settlements {2.2) 10.5 “ 21 09’0) PCR & DNA Svnthesi 1 4 49
Acquired research and development 1143 3.4 %,f?ff total revenuesvn es1s 93‘2 1?3% (4%)
Operatin_g income 2371 2970 (202%) Other Product Lines 1154 107.2 8%
Gain on investments, net 0.2 % of total revenues 5'% 6%

Interest income, net 154 14.7 4.8% erve

Other income (expense), net 6.3 55 145% Total $2,0935 $1,911.2 10%
Income before income taxes 259.0 317.2 {18.3%}

Provision for income taxes 88.1 421 109.3%

Income from continuing operations $ 1709 $§ 2751 (37.9%)

Percentage of net revenues:

Gross margin 663% B4.7%
SG&A expenses 283% 28.7%
R&D 9.7% 9.4%
Operating income 11.3% 155%
Effective income tax rate 340% 13.3%

The following table summarizes the impact of the
previously described events impacting comparability
included in the financial results for fiscal 2007 and 2006:

{Dollar amounts in millions) 2007 2008

Charge included in income before
income taxes $(112.1) $(14.3)
Benefit for income taxes (23.0) (54.0)

Income from continuing operations decreased in fiscal
2007 compared to the prior year primarily due to the
previously described events impacting comparability, in
particular the acquired research and development charge
and the events described under tax items, and higher
operating expenses, partially offset by higher net
revenues. The net effect of foreign currency on income
from continuing operations was a benefit of approximately
$21 million in fiscal 2007 as compared to the prior fiscal
year.

Revenues for fiscal 2007 included a favorable impact of
approximately 2% related to the Ambion acquisition,
which was effective March 1, 2006. The effect of foreign
currency increased net revenues in fiscal 2007 by
approximately 2% as compared to the prior year.

Real-Time PCR/Applied Genomics:

+ Revenues in the Real-Time PCR/Applied Genomics
product category increased primarily due to higher sales
of consumables products, targely due to the acquisition
of Ambion. Sales of TagMan Gene Expression Assay
products used in academic, clinical research and
agriculturat biotechnology settings, sequence detection
systems consumables, human identification kits used in
forensics, and low-throughput Real-Time PCR
instruments also contributed to the product category
growth.

Real-Time PCR continued to grow in all sectors as an
application for both genotyping and gene expression. On
the instrument side, the category grew in guality and
safety testing applications within the applied markets,
especially in food and environmental testing. Ambion
revenues continued to increase above the market
growth rate for RNA reagents.

Mass Spectrometry:

+ Mass Spectrometry revenue growth for fiscal 2007 was
led by sales of AP triple quad, Q TRAP, and QSTAR
systems, as well as increased insirument service
contract revenue. We believe public healih and private
industry laboratories adopted high-performance triple
guad Mass Spectrometry sysiems 10 meet stricter
regulations for food, forensics, and environmental
testing. Regulatory changes were driven by increased
public awareness of safety issues. Demand for
instruments was also driven by traditional
pharmaceutical and CRO customers.
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DNA Seguencing:

* Revenues in the DNA Sequencing product category
increased due to higher sales of DNA sequencing
consumables and instrument service contract revenue.
Our DNA Sequencing business grew modestly in fiscal
2007 after four years of consecutive declines. We
believe that the usage of CE technology remained, and
will continue to remain, vital for applications such as
medical sequencing and forensics, as well as newer
applications including DNA methylation studies. During
fiscal 2007, we shipped DNA sequencers to more than
50 new forensics laboratories in China and Russia, and
we expect continuing reagent sales related to these
shipments as well as additional system shipments in
fiscal 2008.

* Consumables growth was driven by the increased use
of consumables from existing customers.

Revenue by sources

The following table sets forth the Applied Biosystems
group's revenues by sources for the fiscal years ended
June 30:

% Increase/

{Doilar amounts in millions} 2007 2006  (Decrease)
Instruments § 8893 £ 83863 6.3%
Consumables 842.0 7348 14.6%
Qther sources 362.2 3403 6.4%
Total $2,093.5 $1,911.2 9.5%
Instrurments

For fiscal 2007, instrument revenues increased as
compared to the prior year primarily due to higher sales in
both the Mass Spectrometry and Real-Time PCR/Applied
Genomics product categories. Contributing to the
increased sales in the Mass Spectrometry category were
sales of the API triple quad, Q TRAP, and QSTAR
systems. The Real-Time PCR/Applied Genomics category
increased primarily as a result of higher sales of low
throughput Real-Time PCR instruments for core research
and applied market applications.

Consumables

The increase in consumables sales in fiscal 2007 primarily
reflected the strength of Real-Time PCR/Applied
Genomics consumable sales. These sales increased
primarily as a result of the acquisition of Ambion, higher
sales of TagMan Gene Expression Assay products, human
identification kits used in forensics, and sequence
detection systems consumables. Also favorably impacting
consumables revenues were higher sales of DNA
sequencing consumables.

Applied Biosysiems Inc.

Other sources

Revenues from other sources, which included service and
support, royalties, licenses, and contract research,
increased for fiscal 2007 due to higher service and support
and contract research revenues, which were partially
offset by lower rovalty and licensing revenues in part due
to the Bio-Rad settlement in fiscal 2006. Contract research
revenues for fiscal 2007 included a U.S. Department of
Defense contract for an instrument system that was
terminated in June 2007 for the convenience of the
government.

Revenues by geographic area

The following table sets forth the Applied Biosystermns
group’s revenues by geographic area for the fiscal years
ended June 30:

Foreign

{Dallar amounts Reported Currency Operational
in millions) 2007 2006 Growth Effect  Growth®
United States  $ 8943 § 855.1 5% 5%
Europe 7386 6436 15% 5% 10%
Asia Pacific @ 371.4 339.7 9% 9%
Qther markets 89.2 728 23% 3% 20%
Tetal $2,093.5 $1,811.2 10%
W Asia Pacific:

Japan 2% (19%) 3%

All other 21% 1% 20%

* Reported growth less impact of foreign currency.

s Revenues in Europe increased primarily as a result of
sales of DNA sequencing consumables, Ambion
products, low to medium throughput genetic analyzers,
API triple quad systems, Q TRAP systems, and TagMan
Gene Expression Assay products.

Sales in the U.S. increased primarily due to sales of
Ambion products, AP triple quad systems, a U.S.
Department of Defense contract for an instrument
system, Real-Time PCR consumables, human
identification consumables, and TagMan Gene
Expression Assay products. This growth was partially
offset by lower sales of genetic analyzers.

Revenues in Asia Pacific, other than Japan, increased
due to higher sales of low throughput Real-Time PCR
instruments, Q TRAP systems, human identification
consumables, DNA Sequencing consumables, and
Ambion products.

Gross margin, as a perceniage of net revenues, increased
for fiscat 2007 over the prior year primarily due to
improved vendor pricing related to enzymes, the favorable
effects of foreign currency, higher contract revenues due
in part to the U.S. Department of Defense contract
awarded to the Applied Biosystems group in August 2006,
and improved service margins, partially offset by
increased royalty costs as a result of legal settlements and
decreased royalty revenues dug in part to the settlement
with Bio-Rad. The improvement in service margins was
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primarily driven by improved efficiency in the field service
organization and growth in the volume of service
contracts. in regards to the new enzyme program, we
renegotiated pricing under our purchase agreement with
our vendor and we began to manufacture cur own
enzymes and to launch new master mix products with
those enzymes, all of which benefited our gross margin in
fiscal 2007,

SG&A expenses tor fiscal 2007 increased compared to the
prior year primarily due to operating and integration costs
of approximately $18 million related to Ambion, higher
employee-relaied costs of approximately $17 million,
which included increases related to sales commissions,
and strategic investments of approximately $11 million to
support growth in China, North America, and Europe. This
increase was partially offsei by lower legal expenses of
approximately $14 million, including a reversal of a $5
million accrual related to settled litigation recorded in fiscal
20086.

R&D expenses increased in fiscal 2007 from the prior year
primarily as a result of costs associated with the
devetlopment of an advanced genetic analysis platform
related to the APG acquisition, increased costs related to
Ambion, and the .S, Department of Defense contract
awarded to the Applied Biosystems group in August 2006,
Partially offsetting these expenses was a reduction in
costs incurred in fiscal 2006 for R&D projects that were
either completed or not continued in fiscal 2007,

Interest income, net increased during fiscal 2007
compared to the prior year primarily due to higher average
interest rates, partially offset by lower average cash and
cash equivalents and short-term investments. The lower
cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments
were primarily the result of share repurchases in fiscal
2007, the acquisition of Ambion in March 2008, and the
acquisition of APG in July 20086.

Other income {expense), net increased in fiscal 2007
compared to fiscal 2006 primarily due to higher benefits
associated with our foreign currency risk management
program.

The increase in the effective tax rate for fiscal 2007
compared to fiscal 2006 was primarily due to the
previously described events impacting comparability,
including the events described under tax items.

Applied Biosystems Group
Discussion of Financial Resources and Liquidity

The Applied Biosystems group had cash and cash
equivalents and short-term investments of $543.2 million
at Jung 30, 2008, and $494.5 million at June 30, 2007. We
maintain a $250 million unsecured revolving credit

— (Continued) Applied Biosystems Inc.

agreement with four banks that matures on May 25, 2012,
This amount was increased from $200 million effective
August 27, 2007, at our request in accordance with the
terms of the agreement. There were no borrowings
outstanding under this agreement at June 30, 2008. On
August 27, 2007, we entered into a $100 million
unsecured term loan agreement with Bank of America,
N.A. that matures on September 4, 2008. Upon the
satisfaction of various conditions, we have the option to
extend the maturity date on this agreement to
September 4, 2010. There was $100 million outstanding
under this agreement at June 30, 2008. Subsequent to
June 30, 2008, we repaid $50 million of the amount
outstanding. Both the revolving credit agreement and the
term loan agreement require that we maintain a debt to
total capital ratio, as defined in each agreement, of not
more than 0.50:1:00. See Note 10 to our consolidated
financiai statements for more information on our loans
payable. The amounts borrowed under these agreements
were used to fund the repurchase of shares of Applied
Biosystems group stock and were allocated entirely to the
Applied Biosystems group. Cash provided by operating
activities and our debt borrowings have been the Applied
Biosystems group’s primary source of funds over the last
three fiscal years.

In April 2007, we announced that our board of directors
authorized the repurchase of up to 10% of the
outstanding shares of Applied Biosystems stock. This
authorization has no time restrictions and delegates to
management the discretion to purchase shares at times
and prices it deems appropriate through open market
purchases, privately negotiated transactions, tender
offers, exchange offers, or otherwise. We repurchased
3.4 million shares of Applied Biosystems stock for
approximately $100 million during the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2007 under this authorization. Subsequently, on
August 8, 2007, we announced that our board of directors
increased this authorization to $1.2 billion in the
aggregate, including the $100 million already repurchased
as discussed above, which at market prices on that date
represented approximately 20% of the outstanding shares
of Applied Biosystems stock. In accordance with this
authorization, we entered into an agreement with Morgan
Stanley in August 2007 for the accelerated repurchase of
$600 million of Applied Biosystems stock. During fiscal
2008, we paid Morgan Stanley approximately $602 million
for this transaction, of which $327 million was funded by
cash and $275 million was funded by bank loans. In fiscal
2008, we repaid $175 million of these bank loans. In
October 2007, 16 million shares of Applied Biosystems
stock were delivered to us under this agreement. In
January 2008, Morgan Stanley exercised its option to
settle the accelerated share repurchase transaction prior
to its maturity and defivered to us an additional 1.9 million
shares of Applied Biosystems stock. See Note 7 to our
consolidated financial statements for more information on
the accelerated share repurchase. These authorizations
supplement the board’s standing authorization to
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replenish shares of Applied Biosystems stock issued
under our employee stock benefit plans. Under the terms
of the merger agreement with Invitrogen, we are
generally prohibited from repurchasing any shares of
Applied Biosystems stock without the prior agreement of
Invitrogen.

The discussion in this section below does not give effect
to the indebtedness to be incurred in connection with the
pending merger with Invitrogen and is based on our
current liquidity needs and operations.

We believe that existing funds, cash generated from
operations, and existing sources of debt financing are
more than adequate to satisfy the Applied Biosystems
group’s normal operating cash flow needs, planned capital
expenditures, acquisitions, and dividends for the next
twelve months and for the foreseeable future. Capital
spending in fiscal 2009 is expected to be in the range of
$85 to $90 million. We manage the investment of surplus
cash and the issuance and repayment of short and long-
term debt for the Applied Biosystems group and the
Celera group on a centralized basis and allocate activity
within these balances to the group that uses or generates
such resources.

(Dollar amounts in millions} 2008 2067
Cash and cash equivalents $543.2 32932
Short-term investments 201.3
Total cash and cash eguivalents and

short-term investments $543.2 $4945
Total debt 100.0
Working capital 585.7 B46.7
Debt to total capitalization 6.5%

The overail increase in cash and cash equivalents and
short-term investments for fiscal 2008 from June 30, 2007
resulted from cash generated from operating activities and
from debt financing, partially offset by cash expenditures
for the accelerated share repurchase transaction. Cash
and cash equivalents increased from June 30, 2007, as
cash generated from operating activities, proceeds from
bank loans, net of repayments, sales of investments and
other assets, net of purchases, and stock issuances
exceeded the payment to Morgan Stanley for the
accelerated share repurchase transaction, capital spending
and dividends paid.

Net cash flows of continuing operations for the fiscal
years ended June 30 were as follows:

{Dgllar arnounts in miltions] 2008 2007 2008
Net cash from operating activities $508.4 £366.1 $§375.3
Net cash from investing activities 198.1 (383.0) (295.1)
Net cash from financing activities {449.0) {(80.1) {459.4)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  {20.4) 15.2 (3.0)

Operating activities

Net cash from operating activities for fiscal 2008 was
$142.3 million higher than in fiscal 2007. This increase
resulted primarily from higher income-related cash flows

Applied Biosystems Inc.

and a higher source of cash in accounts receivable,
partiatly offset by a higher use of cash in inventories. The
higher source of cash in accounts receivable was primarily
due to higher sates volume. The higher use of cash in
inventories is primarily related to the build up of both
instrurments and consumables for the SCLID System.
Within prepaid expenses and other assets, the higher
source of cash primarily resulted from the timing of royalty
receipts, collection of value-added tax receivables, and
dividends and distributions related to our joint venture
activities. Partially offsetting these sources of cash were
higher payments by the Applied Biosystems group in
fiscal 2008 under license and collaboration agreements,
including approximately $37 million made in the second
quarter of fiscal 2008. The higher use of cash in accounts
payable and other liabilities resuited primarily from the
timing of royalty payments, partially offset by tax refunds
received in fiscal 2008 primarily due to the completion of
the IRS and foreign tax audits and the timing of vendor
payments.

Net cash from operating activities for fiscal 2007 was $9.2
millicn lower than in fiscal 2006. This decrease resulted
primarily from a higher use of cash in accounts receivable
and prepaid expenses and other assets, partially offset by
a lower use of cash in accounts payable and other
liabilities in fiscal 2007. The higher use of cash in accounts
receivable was due to increased sales. The higher use of
cash in prepaid expenses and other assets in fiscal 2007
primarily resulted from the timing of the receipts of
dividends and distributions related to joint venture
activities, partially offset by the collection of non-trade
receivables also related to joint venture activities. The
lower use of cash in accounts payable and other liabilities
resulted primarily from a voluntary contribution of
approximately $31 million to our pension plans in fiscal
2006, the payment of approximatety $58 million related to
the previously discussed Amersham and Beckman Coulter
legal matters also in fiscal 20086, and lower severance and
excess lease payments in fiscal 2007, partially offset by
the timing of vendor payments.

The Applied Biosystems group’s days sales outstanding
was 58 days at June 30, 2008 and 2007, and 54 days at
June 30, 2006. The growth in days sales outstanding at
June 30, 2007 over the prior year was driven primarily by
higher sales volume and increased royalty receivables.
Successful collection efforts in fiscal 2008 offset the
higher sales volume. tnventory on hand was 3.3 months at
June 30, 2008, 2.7 months at June 30, 2007, and 2.4
months at June 30, 2006.

Investing activities

Capital expenditures, net of disposals, were $48.2 million
in fiscal 2008, $60.3 million in fiscal 2007, and $41.5
miltion in fiscal 2006. Fiscal 2008 included expenditures
for a manufacturing execution system project, continued
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facility renovations in Foster City, California, and
purchases of testing, laboratory, computer and production
equipment. The manufacturing execution system project
is expected 10 enhance turnaround time from when an
order is placed, allow faster new product introduction, and
improve the ability to track work oiders. Fiscal 2007
included expenditures for facility renovations in Foster
City, California, the opening of new application suppaort
centers in Shanghai, China, and Foster City, California, and
purchases of computer, production and laboratory
equipment. Fiscal 2006 included expenditures for the
development of, and enhancements to, the Applied
Biosystems Portal of approximately $8 milfion. Additionally
fiscal 2006 capital expenditures included purchases of
production equipment, testing and laboratory equipment,
computer egquipment, and computer software and
licenses.

Fiscal 2008 included higher proceeds from sales of
available for sale investments and lower purchases of
available for sale investments. In fiscal 2007, purchases
exceeded the proceeds received from the sales and
maturities of available-for-sale investments. In fiscal 2005,
cash was generated from the sales and maturities, net of
purchases, of availahle-for-sale investments. In July 2008,
we acquired APG for approximately $121 million, including
transaction costs, and in March 2008, we acquired
Ambion for approximately $273 million, including
transaction costs. Both of these acquisitions are described
in Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements. In fiscal
2008, we sold non-strategic mincrity equity investments
and an airplane and received net proceeds of
approximately $46 millien, the majority of which was
received in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008. In fiscal 20086,
we sold a vacant facility in Connecticut and our San Jose,
California facility and received net proceeds of
approximately $26 million.

Financing activities

During fiscal 2008, we paid Morgan Stanley approximately
$602 million for the accelerated share repurchase
transaction, of which $275 million was funded by hank
leans and the balance with cash. In October 2007,

16 million shares of Applied Biosystems stock were
delivered to us under this transaction. In January 2008,
Margan Stanley exercised its option to settle the
accelerated share repurchase transaction prior to its
maturity and delivered to us an additional 1.9 million
shares of Applied Biosystems stock. During fiscal 2008,
we borrowed $175 million under our $250 million
unsecured revolving credit agreement and $100 million
under our unsecured term loan agreement and we repaid
$175 million of these borrowings. See Note 10 to our
consolidated financial statements for more information on
our loans payable. Fiscal 2007 included four dividend
payments on Applied Biosystems stock compared to
three payments in fiscal 2006 due to the timing of the
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payment dates. We repurchased the following shares of
Applied Biosystems stock during the fiscal years ended
June 30:

Number of Shares  Purchase

{Dollars and shares in millions) Repurchased Price
2008 17.8 $601.5
2007 5.2 168.6
2008 24,5 6019

In fiscal 2006, the Applied Biosystems group received $30
million from the Celera group as partial consideration for
its interest in the Celera Diagnostics joint veniure. See
Note 16 for further information on the Celera Diagnostics
restructuring.

Celera Group

Results of Operations—
2008 Compared with 2007

% Increase/

|Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 (Decrease)
Net revenues $1394 § 434 221.2%
Cost of sales 39.8 17.6 126.1%
Gross margin 99.6 25.8 286.0%
SG&A expenses 74.6 297 151.2%
R&D 40.9 51.7 {20.9%)
Amortization of purchased

intangible assets 71
Employee-related charges, asset

impairments and other 7.0 10.3 {32.0%)
Asset dispositions and

legal settlements {1.1) {2.4) {54.2%}
Operating loss (28.9) (63.5) {54.5%)
Loss on investment, net {3.0)
Interest income, nat 17.7 27.8 {36.3%)
Other income {expense), net 0.5 {100.0%)
Loss before income taxes {14.2) (35.2) {59.7%)
(Provision) benefit for income taxes  (88.4) 15.4 {674.0%)
Net loss $ (102.6) $ (19.8) 418.2%
Effective income tax benefit rate  622.5% 43.8%

The following table summarizes the impact of the
previously described events impacting comparability
included in the financial results for fiscal 2008 and 2007:

{Doltar ameunts in miflions) 2008 2007
Charge included in loss before income taxes $(89) $(54)
Proviston {benefit) for income taxes 899 (34)

The higher net loss in fiscal 2008 compared to the prior
year resulted primarily from the previously described
events impacting comparability and higher SG&A
expenses, partially offset by higher net revenues and
lower R&D expenses.
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The following table sets forth the components of our net
revenues for the fiscal years ended June 30:

% Increase/

{Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 (Decrease)

Products, including alliance egualization § 32.1 $25.3 26.9%

Services 71.0
Royalty, icenses, and milestones 363 181 100.6%
Total net revenues $139.4 3434 221.2%

Reported revenues for the Celera group are comprised of
three categories: product sales, including equalization
payments from Abbott, service revenues, and royaity,
ticenses and milestones revenues. Product sales consist
of the Celera group’s portion of sales of Atria HLA
products and shipments of products manufactured by the
Celera group to our altiance partner, Abbeit Laboratories,
at cost. Equalization payments result from an equal
sharing of alliance proiits and losses between the alliance
partners and vary each period depending on the relative
income and expense contribution of each partner. Service
revenues consist primarily of clinical laboratory testing
services by BHL.

Costs associated with our product sales to Abbott are
included in cost of sales. End-user sales to third parties
are recegnized by Abbott. Research and development and
administrative costs incurred by the Celera group in
connection with the Abbott alliance are presented on a
gross basis in our Consolidated Statements of Cperations.
All revenues, costs and expenses of the alliance are
shared equally by both parties. The timing and nature of
equalization payments can lead to fluctuations in both
reparied revenues and gross margins from period to
period due to changes in end-user sales of alliance
products and differences in relative operating expenses
between the alliance partners.

Product revenues for fiscal 2008 increased compared to
the prior year primarily due to $7.5 million of net revenues
from Atria, partially offset by lower egualization paymenis
from Abbott. Equalization revenue, net was $14.9 million
for fiscal 2008 compared to $15.5 million for fiscal 2007,
Service revenues for fiscal 2008 were primarily from BHL.
Royalty, licenses and milestones revenues for fiscal 2008
included: $92.6 million from agreements with Siemens
Medical Solutions Diagnostics, which included patent
licenses for real-time PCR thermal cycling instruments and
reagents in the human in vitro diagnostics field; $12.3
million from licenses with Cepheid relating to real-time
PCR thermal cycler instruments; $3.0 million from the
resale of our cathepsin S inhibitor program to a privately-
held drug development company; and $2.0 million from
Merck as a result of the cathepsin K inhibitar program
entering a Phase Il! clinical trial. Fiscal 2007 included $2.5
million from the sale of a small molecule drug discovery
and development program to Schering AG.

Applied Biosystems Inc.

The increase in gross margin in fiscal 2008 compared to
fiscal 2007 was primarily attributable to the sales of higher
margin services and products due to BHL and Atria and
higher licensing and royalty revenues.

R&D expenses decreased in fiscal 2008 compared to the
prior year primarily due to reduced proteomic-based target
discovery and validation related activities. SG&A expenses
increased in fiscal 2008 compared to the prior year
primarily due to the inclusion of BHL expenses of
approximately $41 million for fiscal 2008.

Interest income, net decreased during fiscal 2008 as
compared to the prior year primarily due to lower average
cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments
combined with lower average interest rates.

The increase in the effective tax rate for fiscal 2008
compared to the prior year was primarily due to the
previously described events impacting comparability,
including the events described under tax items.

Supplemental Information

The following supplemental information is provided for the
fiscal years ended June 30. The amounts disclosed below
for end-user sales are not included as part of the Celera
group’s revenues. End-user sales censist of products sold
globally through the alliance with Abbott and are thus
recognized by Abbott. A significant portion of our product
revenues is derived from the alliance through our profit
sharing arrangement. We believe discussion of end-user
sales of products sold through the alliance provides a
meaningful measure of market acceptance of these
products and thus also a meaningful measure of the sales
performance of the alliance. The reporting of this
supplemental data permits comparisons of product and
alliance performance on a period-to-period basis. The
revenues reported in our Consolidated Statements of
Operations do not directly provide this or comparable
information, because the reported product revenues
fluctuate period to period based on factors other than
product sales due to the profit sharing arrangement with
Abbott. Accordingly, end-user sales are the only publicly
reported measure of alliance product sales.

{Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007
Equalization revenue, net $ 149 § 155
End-user revenues 123.6 100.3

Increased sales of Human Immunodeficiency Virus
{"HIV"), HCV, and hepatitis B virus ("HBV") RealTime™
viral load assays used on the m2000™ system and
increased sales of the Atria HLA products, ViroSeg™
HIV-1 Genotyping System for genotyping HIV, fragile X
ASRs, and ASRs for the detection of mutations in genes
known to be involved in deep vein thrombosis all
contributed to the growth in end-user sales for fiscal 2008

35




36

Management’s Discussion and Analysis — (Continued)

compared to the prior year. These increased sales were
pariially ofiset by lower sales of cystic fibrosis reagents
and the removal of the HCV genotyping ASRs due to the
injunction against sales of these products by Abbott
previously issued in the litigation with Innogenetics N.V.
Following Abbott's settlement of its litigation with
Innogenetics in the third quarter of fiscal 2008, the HCV
genotyping ASRs were reintroduced onto the menu of
iests offered through the alliance.

Results of Operations—
2007 Compared with 2006

% Intrease/

{Dollar armounts in millions) 2007 2006 {Decrease)
Net revenues $ 434 § 46.2 {6.1%)
Cost of sales 176 19,7  (10.7%)
Gross margin 258 26.5 {2.6%)
R&D 51.7 94.3  (45.2%)
SG&A expenses 29.7 381 N7.7%)
Arnortization of purchased

intangible assets 1.1 (100.0%}
Employee-related charges, asset

impairments and other 10.3 26.2  B0.7%)
Asset dispositicns and

legal settlements {2.4) 0.7 (442.9%)
Operating loss (63.5) {131.9) (51.9%)
Gain on investments, net 7.6 (100.0%)
Interest income, net 278 22.4 24.1%
Other income (expense), net 0.5 0.2) (350.0%)
Loss before income taxes {36.2) (102.1} (B5.5%}
Benefit for income taxes 15,4 394  (60.9%}
Net loss ${(198 % 62.7) (68.4%)
Effective income tax benefit rate 43.8% 38.6%

The following table summarizes the impact of the
previously described events impacting comparability
included in the financial results for fiscal 2007 and 2006:

{Dollar amounts in millions) 2007 2006
Charge included in loss before income taxes $(5.4) %{10.8)
Benefit for income taxes (3.4) 3.7

The lower net loss in fiscal 2007 compared to the prior
year resulted primarily from lower R&D and SG&A
expenses, the previously described events impacting
comparability, and a higher effective income tax benefit
rate.

The following table sets forth the components of our net
revenues for the fiscal years ended June 30:

% Increasef

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2007 2006 {Decrease)

Products, including alliance equalization $25.3 $29.2 {13.4%)
Services 0.4 100.0%)
Royalty, kicenses, and milestones 181 1686 9.0%
Total net revenues 3434 $46.2 (6.1%)

Applied Biosystems Inc.

Product revenues in fiscal 2007 decreased compared to
fiscal 2006 primarily due to $2.6 million of revenues in
fiscal 2006 from Paracel and lower equalization payments
from Abbott in fiscal 2007, partially offset by higher
product sales in fiscal 2007. Equalization revenue, net was
$15.5 million in fiscal 2007 compared to $17.8 million in
fiscal 2006. Service revenues for fiscal 2006 included $0.4
million associated with genotyping setected DNA
sequence variants. Royalty, licenses and milestones
revenues included: $8.0 million in fiscal 2007 of licensing
revenue from Beckman Coulter, Inc., or Beckman Coulter,
$2.5 million in fiscal 2007 and $8.6 million in fiscal 2006
from the sale of some small molecute drug discovery and
development programs, $1.9 million of revenues in fiscal
2006 from the Online/Information Business, and higher
royalties in fiscal 2007. Cornmencing in July 20086,
Beckman Coulter began making quarterly payments which
are expected to total $20.0 million over ten quarters for
diagnosti¢ rights to some technology as part of a legal
settlement between Beckman Coulter and the Company.

The decrease in gross margin in fiscal 2007 compared to
fiscal 2006 was primarily attributable 1o lower revenue
from the sale of small molecule programs and lower
equalization payments from Abbott in fiscal 2007, partially
offset by increased licensing and royalty revenues. In
addition, fiscal 2006 included revenues from the Onling/
Infarmation and Paracel businesses.

Both R&D and SG&A expenses decreased in fiscal 2007
compared to the prior year primarily due to the decision to
exit small molecule drug discovery and development in
the third quarter of fiscal 2006.

Interest income, net increased during fiscal 2007 as
compared 10 the prior year primarily due to higher average
interest rates, partially offset by lower average cash and
cash equivalents and short-term investments.

The increase in the effective income tax benefit rate for
fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006 was primarily
attributable to the extension of the R&D tax credit, which
included a tax benefit of $1.0 million related to the
recognition of the prior fiscal year R&D tax credit, as a
result of the Tax Relief and Health Care Act of 20086.

Supplemental Information

The following supplemental information is provided for the
fiscal years ended June 30. The amounts disclosed below
for end-user sales are not included as part of the Celera
group's revenues. End-user sales consist of products sold
globally through the alliance with Abbott and are thus
recognized by Abbott. A significant portion of our product
revenues is derived from the alliance through our profit
sharing arrangement. We believe discussion of end-user
sales of products sold through the alliance provides a
meaningful measure of market acceptance of these
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products and thus also a meaningful measure of the sales
performance of the alliance. The reporting of this
supplemental data permits comparisons of product and
alliance performance on a period-to-period basis. The
revenues reported in our Consolidated Statements of
Operations do not directly provide this or comparable
information, because the reported product revenues
fluctuate period to period based on factors other than
product sales due to the profit sharing arrangement with
Abbott. Accordingly, end-user safes are the only publicly
reported measure of alliance product sales.

The following supplemental information is provided for the
fiscal years ended June 30:

|Dollar amounts in millions} 2007 2006

Equalization revenue, net $ 155 %178
End-user revenues 100.3 79.5

End-user revenues included products sold through the
alliance with Abbott and revenues from our unpartnered
new genetic tests. Higher sales of HIV and HCV viral load,
Chlamydia, and Gonorrhea Real-Time assays used on the
m2000 system, as well as high resolution HLA genotyping
products, ViroSeq® HIV-1 genotyping products, and cystic
fibrosis, Fragile X, and thrombosis related ASRs all
contributed to the year-over-year growth in end-user
revenues, These increases were partially offset by lower
sales of our HCV genotyping ASRs due to an injunction
against sales of these products as described above. Fiscal
2006 included $3.6 million of end-user revenues from a-
low reseclution HLA product line that was removed from
the alliance in Decernber 2005.

Celera Group
Discussion of Financial Resources and Liquidity

The Celera group had cash and cash equivalents and
short-term investments of $333.5 million at June 30, 2008
and $561.5 million at June 30, 2007. We maintain a $250
million unsecured revolving credit agreement with four
banks that matures on May 25, 2012. This amount was
increased from $200 miltion effective August 27, 2007, at
our request in accordance with the terms of the
agreement. There were no borrowings outstanding under
this agreement at June 30, 2008. On August 27, 2007, we
entered into a $100 million unsecured term loan
agreement with Bank of America, N.A. that matures on
September 4, 2008. Upon the satisfaction of various
conditions, we have the option to extend the maturity
date on this agreement to September 4, 2010, There was
3100 million outstanding under this agreement at June 30,
2008. Subseguent to June 30, 2008, we repaid $50 million
of the amount outstanding. Both the revolving credit
agreement and the term loan agreement require that we
maintain a debt to total capital ratio, as defined in each
agreement, of not more than 0.50:1:00. See Note 10
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to our consolidated financial statements for more
information on our loans payable. None of the above
borrowings or related interest expense was allocated to
the Celera group.

We manage the investmenti of surplus cash and the
issuance and repayment of short and long-term debt for
the Celera group and the Applied Biosystems group on a
centralized basis and allocate activity within these
balances to the group that uses or generates such
resources.

{Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007

Cash and cash equivalents $ 458 $ 300
Short-term investments 287.7 531.8

Total cash and cash equivalents and
short-term investments $3335 §561.5
Total debt 0.1

Working capita! 379.3 569.2

The overall decrease of cash and cash equivalents and
short-term investments for fiscal 2008 from June 30, 2007
resuited from cash expenditures for the acquisitions of
BHL and Adtria, partially offset by lower cash used by
operating activities. Cash and cash equivalents increased
from June 30, 2007, as proceeds from the sales and
maturities of available for sale investments, net of
purchases, and stock issuances exceeded the amount
expended on the acquisitions of BHL and Atria, the
purchase of capitat assets, and the repayment of debt
assumed in the BHL acquisition.

Net cash flows for the fiscal years ended June 30 were as
follows:

{Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 2006
Net cash from operating activities $(5.5) $(23.0} $(96.3)
Net cash from invesiing activities 24.0 (24.0F 1355
Net cash from financing activities 2.7y 168 2.1)

Operating activities

The lower use of cash from operating activities for fiscal
2008 compared to fiscal 2007 resulted primarily from
higher income-related cash flows in fiscal 2008, partially
offset by a higher use of cash in accounts receivable. The
higher use of cash in accounts receivable was due in part
to the timing of the collection of licensing and milestone
payments recorded in fiscal 2007, as well as an increase
in receivables related to both royalty revenues and the
sale of BHL services and Atria products, partially offset by
higher sales volume in fiscal 2008.

Net cash used by operating activities for fiscal 2007 was
$75.3 million lower than in fiscal 2006. The lower use of
cash resulted primarily from lower net cash operating
losses and lower working capitai requirements in fiscal
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2007. Working capital benefited primarily from a lower
decrease in accounts payable and other liabilities and
higher proceeds from accounts receivable. The lower
decrease in accounts payable and other liabilities was
primarily due to exiting small motecule drug discovery and
development and ihe Onling/lnformation business. The
higher proceeds in accounts receivable was primarily due
to the collection of receivables in fiscal 2007 related to
exiting the small molecule business.

Investing activities

Capital expenditures, net of disposals, were $4.1 million in
fiscal 2008, $2.4 million in fiscal 2007, and $4.8 million in
fiscal 2006. Fiscal 2008 capital expenditures consisted of
leasehold improvements at BHL's laboratory and
dmyheart Centers. Fiscal 2007 and 2006 capital
expenditures consisted of equipment purchases and
leasehold improvements, the majority of which related to
the diagnostics business.

Fiscal 2008 included lower proceeds from sales and
maturities and lower purchases of available for sale
investments, In October 2007, we acquired BHL and Atria
for approximately $214 million, including transaction costs
and net of cash acquired. In fiscal 2007, purchases
exceeded the proceeds received from the sales and
maturities of available-for-sale investments. In fiscal 20086,
cash was generated from the sales and maturities of
available-for-sale investments, net of purchases of
available-for-sale investments. In fiscal 2006, the Celera
group received proceeds of $9.5 million primarily related
to the sale of non-strategic minority equity investments.

Financing activities

In connection with the acquisition of BHL, we assumed
approximately $10.8 million of floating and fixed rate debt,
of which $10.7 million was repaid in fiscal 2008. See Note
10 to our consolidated financial statements for more
information on our debi. In fiscal 2006, we received
proceeds of $9.2 million from the exercise of stock
options held by The Institute for Genomic Research
{"TIGR"). TIGR received these options in fiscal 1999 in
connection with the formation of the Celera group. Also in
fiscal 2008, we paid $30 million to the Applied Biosystems
group as partial consideration for its interest in the Celera
Diagnostics joint venture. See Note 16 for further
information on the Celera Diagnostics restructuring.

Market Risks

We are exposed to potential loss from exposure to market
risks represented principally by changes in currency rates,
interest rates, and equity prices.

Applied Biosystems Inc.

We operate internationally, with manufacturing and
distribution facilities in various countries throughout the
world. In each of fiscal years 2008, 2007, and 2006, we
derived approximately 55% of our revenues from
couniries outside of the U.S., while a significant portion of
the related costs were based in U.S. dollars. We anticipate
that our future results will continue to be affected by
market risks, including changes in political and economic
conditions in foreign markets and fluctuations in currency
rates, primarily the euro, Japanese yen, and British pound.

Our foreign currency risk management strategy uses
derivative instruments to hedge exposures related to
various foreign currency forecasted revenues and
intercompany transactions and to offset the impaci of
changes in currency rates on various foreign currency-
denominated assets and liabilities. The principal cbjeciive
of this strategy is to minimize the risks andfor costs
associated with our global financing and operating
activities. We use forward, option, and range forward
contracts to manage our foreign currency exposures.
Forward contracts commit us to buy or sell a currency at a
contracted rate on a specific future date. Option contracts
grant us the right, but not the obligation, to buy or sell a
currency at a certain rate by or on a specific future date in
exchange for a fee. Option contracts provide us with an
effective hedge against a negative movement in currency
rates at a fixed cost. Range forward contracts consist of
the simultaneous purchase and sale of options 1o create a
range within which we can benefit from changes in
currency rates. We use forward contracts to offset the
impact of changes in currency rates on various foreign
currency-denominated assets and liabilities. In hedging
various foreign currency forecasted revenues and
intercornpany transactions where we have functional
currency exposure, we use a combination of forward,
option and range forward contracts in a cost beneficial
manner. We do not use derivative financial instruments
for trading or speculative purposes, nor are we a party to
leveraged derivatives.

We performed a sensitivity analysis as of June 30, 2008,
based on & hypothetical 10% adverse change in foreign
currency rates relative to the U.S. dollar. This analysis
included the change in fair value of all derivative financial
instrurments used 1o hedge our forecasted third party and
intercompany sales. In addition, this analysis excluded
both the impact of translation on foreign currency-
denominated assets and liabilities as well as the change in
fair value of all derivative financial instruments used to
hedge these balance sheet items as the resulting
amounts would largely offset each other. As of June 30,
2008, we calculated a hypothetical afier-tax loss of $26.9
million, as compared to a hypothetical after-tax loss of
$21.8 million at June 30, 2007. If currency rates actually
change in a manner similar to the assumed change in the
faregoing calculation, the hypothetical calculated loss
would be more than offset by the recognition of higher
U.S. dollar equivalent foreign revenues. Actual gains and
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losses in the future could, however, differ materialty from
this analysis, based on changes in the timing and amount
of currency rate movements and actual exposures and
hedges.

We do not hedge our equity positions in other companies
or our short-term investments. Qur exposure on these
instruments is limited to changes in quoted market prices.
The fair value of our minority equity pasitions in other
companies was approximately $2 million at June 30, 2008
and $16 million at June 30, 2007,

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices

Inflation and changing prices are continually monitored,
We attempt to minimize the impact of inflation by
improving productivity and efficiency through continual
review of both manufacturing capacity and operating
expense levels. When operating costs and manufacturing
costs increase, we attempt to recover such costs by
increasing, over time, the selling price of our producis and
services. We believe the effects of inflation have been
appropriately managed and therefore have not had a
material impact on our historic consolidated operations
and resulting financial position.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements for a
description of the effect of recently issued accounting
pronouncements.

Forward-Looking Statements

Some statements contained in this report are forward-
looking and are subject to a variety of risks and
uncertainties, Similarly, the press releases we issue and
other public statements we make from time to time may
contain language that is forward-looking. These forward-
looking statements may be identified by the use of
forward-locking words or phrases such as “forecast,”
"helieve,” "expect,” "intend,” “anticipate,” “should,”
“plan,” "estimate,” and "potential,” arnong others, The
forward-looking statements contained in this report,
including statements regarding the pending merger with
Invitrogen, are based on our current expectations and
those made at other times will be based on our
expectations when the statements are made. We cannot
guarantee that any forward-looking statements will be
realized.

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995
provides a "safe harbor” for forward-locking statements.
To comply with the terms of the safe harbor, we note that
a variety of factors could cause actual results and
experience to differ materially from anticipated results or
other expectations expressed in forward-locking

— {Continued)

statements. We also note that achievement of anticipated
results or expectations in forward-looking statements is
subject to the possibility that assumptions underlying
forward-looking statements will prove to be inaccurate.
Investors should bear this in mind as they consider
forward-looking statements. The risks and uncertainties
that may affect the operations, performance,
development, and results of our business inciude, but are
not limited to, those described under the heading “Risk
Factors” contained in our Form 10-K Annual Report for
fiscal 2008. We note that our business could be affected
by other factors that we have not disclosed because we
think they are immaterial. Also, there may be additional
risks and uncertainties that could affect our business but
which are not currently known 1o us.

Applied Biosystems Inc.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

{Dollar amounts in thousands except per share amounts)

Applied Biosystems Inc.

For the years ended June 20, 2008 2007 2006
Products $1,855,174 $1,753,152 $1,695,230
Services 348,988 244,041 217.634
Other 157,322 135,300 136,626
Total Net Revenues 2,361,484 2,132,493 1,949,390
Products 840,142 832,24 776,764
Services 147,098 107,407 93,460
Other 11,890 11,824 11,014
Total Cost of Sales 999,130 951,472 881,238
Gross Margin 1,362,354 1,181,021 1,068,152
Selling, general and adminisirative 714,027 622,692 584,483
Research and development 235,230 253,971 271,359
Arnortization of purchased intangible assets 17,561 11,264 5,916
Employee-related charges, asset impairments and other 27,281 10,342 26,547
Asset dispositions and legal settlements (8,656) (4,585} 11,221
Acquired research and development 114,251 3,400
Operating Income 376,9M 173,086 165,226
Gain on investments, net 24,537 209 7,628
Interest expense {8,366} {904) (656)
interest income 34,698 44,076 37,714
Other income (expense), net 3,355 6,755 5,342
Income before Income Taxes 431,135 223,222 215,254
Provision for income taxes 217,327 72,451 2,762
Income from Continuing Operations 213,808 150,771 212,492
Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 8,629
Net Income $ 213,808 $ 159,300 $ 212,492
Applied Biosystems Group (see Note 1)
tncome from Continuing Operations per Share

Basic $ 1.83 $ 0.93 $ 1.47

Diluted $ 1.78 5 0.90 3 1.43
Income from Discontinued Operations per Share

Basic $ — % 0.05 3 -

Diluted $ — $ 0.04 $ —
Net Income per Share

Basic $ 1.83 $ 0.98 $ 1.47

Diluted $ 1.78 5 0.94 $ 1.43
Celera Group [see Note 1)
Net Loss per Share

Basic and diluted $ {1.29) $ {0.25) $ {0.83)

See accompanying notes to Applied Biosystems Ing.'s consolidated financial $tataments,




Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

{Daollar amounts in thousangs except share data)

Applied Biosystems Inc.

At June 30, 2008 2007
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 589,030 $ 323,203
Short-term investments 287,726 732,757
Accounts receivable (net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $15,928
and $7,422 respectively) 515,712 452,873
Inventories, net 170,265 140,349
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 154,558 179,445
Total current assets 1,717.291 1,828,627
Property, plant and equipment, net 371,387 390,810
Goodwill and intangibie assets, net 521,990 297,962
Other long-term assets 450,723 635,141
Total Assets $ 3,061,391 $3,152,540
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Loans payable $ 100,123 3 —
Accounts payable 172,116 162,665
Accrued salaries and wages 124,341 108,552
Current deferred tax liability 13,734 15,633
Accrued taxes on income 17,525 66,701
Other accrued expenses 325,269 269,623
Total current liabilities 753,108 623,174
Other long-term liabilities 243,809 213,312
Total Liabilities 996,917 836,486
Commitments and contingencies {see Note 11)
Stockholders’ Equity
Capital stock
Preferred stock
Applied Biosystems Inc.: $.01 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized at June 30, 2008,
and 2007; no shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2008 and 2007
Common stock
Applied Biosystems stock: $.01 par value; 213,393,000 shares issued at June 30, 2008,
and 213,309,000 shares issued at June 30, 2007 2,134 2,133
Celera stock: $.01 par value; 80,061,000 shares issued at June 30, 2008, and
79,012,000 shares issued at June 30, 2007 801 790
Capital in excess of par value 2,291,608 2,248,372
Retained earnings 1,076,247 854,721
Accumulated other comprehensive income 4,195 11,363
Treasury stock, at cost {1,310,511) (801,325}
Total Stockholders’ Equity 2,064,474 2,316,054
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $ 3,061,391 $3,152,640

See accompanying notes to Applied Biosystems Inc.'s consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

{©ollar amaunts in thousandsh

Applied Biosystems Inc.

For the years ended June 30, 2008 2007 2006
Operating Activities of Continuing Operations
Income from continuing operations $ 213,808 $ 150,771 $212.492
Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations
to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 89,728 86,091 90,988
Asset impairmenis 3911 6,795 10,070
Employee-related charges and other 19,356 3,647 7,674
Share-based compensation programs 32,424 19,911 12,829
Deferred income taxes 181,285 4,269 (42 789)
Sale of assets and legal settlements, net (27,562} (2,909} 34,936
Acqguired research and development 114,251 3,400
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable {2,572) {58,332} 14,399
Inventories {22,372) 1,466 4,398
Prepaid expenses and other assets {4,616) (9,037 9,638
Accounts payable and other liabilities 19,561 26,161 {79,221)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
of Continuing Operations 502,951 342,984 278814
Net Cash Provided {Used) by Operating Activities
of Discontinued Operations 12,900 {135}
Investing Activities of Continuing Operations
Additions to property, plant and equipment, net {53.250) 62,560} 46,077}
Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sate investments 143,094 274,928 317,008
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale investments 541,404 422,273 313,482
Purchases of available-for-sale investments {241,121) {318,183) (495,748)
Acquisitions and investments, net of cash acquired {214,798} (121,791} {279,133}
Investment in alliance activity {2} (1,853} {3,925}
Proceeds from the sale of assets, net 46,778 372 34,985
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities
of Continuing Operations 222,105 (406,814) (159,408)
Financing Activities
Proceeds from loan payable 100,000
Payments on loans payable and debt {10,622} 72)
Dividends (29,851} (31,079 {23,957)
Purchases of common stock for treasury {601,505) {168,640} (601,910)
Proceeds from stock issued for stock plans and other 90,219 136,375 164,442
Net Cash Used by Financing Activities (451,759) {63,344} {461,497)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash (20,370) 16,186 {2,984}
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 265,827 {110,988) {345,210}
Cash and Cash Equivalents Beginning of Year 323,203 434,191 779,401
Cash and Cash Equivalents End of Year $ 589,030 $ 323,203 $ 434,19

See accompanying notes to Applied Biosystems Int.'s conseolidated financial statements.




Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Applied Biosystems Inc.

Accumulated

Applied Capital in Other Total
Biosystems Celera Excess of Retained Comprehensive Treasury  Stockholders’

{Dollar ameunts in thousands) Stock Stock Par Value Earnings  Income (Loss} Stock Equity
Balance at June 30, 2005 $2,130 §743 $2,132,364 § 558,065 $(41,787} $ (307,432) $2,344,083
Comprehensive income

Net income 212,492 212,492

Other comprehensive income (See Note 14} 82,734 82,734
Comprehensive income 295,226
Cash dividends declared on Applied

Biosystems stock (31,660) (31,660)
Purchase of shares for treasury stock (601,910 {601,910
Issuances under Applied Biosystems stock 2 5,431 (24,794) 163,312 143,951
Issuances under Celera stock plans 30 25,107 (277) 24,860
Tax benefit related to employee stock options 16,956 16,956
Share-based compensation 12,701 34 93 12,828
Balance at June 30, 2006 2,132 773 2,192,559 714137 40,947 {746,214) 2,204,334
Comprehensive income

MNet income 159,300 159,300

Other comprehensive income (See Note 14) 22,115 22,115
Comprehensive income 181,415
Adoption of SFAS No. 158 (See Note 6) (51.699) (51,698)
Cash dividends declared on Applied

Biosystems stock (31,121} (31,121}
Purchase of shares for treasury stock {168,640} {168,640}
Issuances under Applied Biosystems stock 1 {5.662) 12,348 113,529 120,216
Issuances under Celera stock plans 17 15,778 {2) (79} 15,714
Tax benefit refated to employee stock options 25,924 25,924
Share-based compensation 19,773 59 79 19,911
Balance at June 30, 2007 2,133 790 2,248,372 854,721 11,363 (801,325) 2,318,054
Comprehensive income

Net income 213,808 213,808

Other comprehensive loss (See Note 14) (7,168} (7,168}
Comprehensive income __ 206,640
Adoption of FIN 48 (See Note 5} 33,963 33,963
Cash dividends declared on Applied

Biosystems stock {29,284) {29,284)
Purchase of shares for treasury stock (601,505} (601,505)
Issuances under Applied Biosystems stock 1 (12,077} 2,355 91.711 81,990
Issuances under Celera stock plans 1 8,069 8,080
Tax benefit related to employee stock options 16,112 16,112
Share-based compensation 31,132 684 608 32,424
Balance at June 30, 2008 $2,134 $801 $2.291,608 $1.076,247 $ 4,195 $(1,310,511) $2,064,474

See accompanying notas to Applied Bigsystems Inc.'s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1—Accounting Policies and Practices
Organization

Applied Biosysiems Inc., formerly known as Applera
Corporation, is a life sciences company with a mission to
improve human health and society by understanding and
applying the power of biclogy to develop breakthrough
research technologies and diagnostic products. Through
July 1, 2008, we conducted our business through two
business segments: the Applied Biosystems group and
the Celera group. We collectively refer to the Applied
Biosystems group and the Celera group as the groups.
We have reclassified some prior year amounts for
comparative purposes. See Note 17 to our consolidated
financial statements for more information on our
segments,

On August 8, 2007, we announced that our board of
directors had retained Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated
10 explore alternatives to our tracking stock structure,
including the possibility of creating independent publiciy-
traded companies in place of the Applied Biosystems
group and the Celera group. Further to that
announcement, on July 1, 2008, we completed the
separation of all of the business, assets, and liabilities of
the Cetera group from our remaining business. The
separation was completed by means of a redemption of
each outstanding share of Celera stock in exchange for
one share of common stock of Celera Corporation, a
Delaware corporation, which now holds alt of the
business, assets, and liabilities previously attributed to the
Celera group. On July 1, 2008, following the Celera group
separation, Celera Corporation became an independent,
publicly-traded company whose shares are listed on the
NASDAQ stock market under the symbol “CRA.” The
Applied Biosystems group hecame our only business and
Applied Biosystems stock bacame our only class of
outstanding comron stock. In connection with the Celera
separation, we changed our corporate name 1o Applied
Biosystems Inc. to reflect the remaining business of the
Company following the separation.

In this document, untess the context requires otherwise,
references to "Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our” for
pericds ended on or before July 1, 2008, refer to Applera
Corporation, and references to “Company,” "we,” “us,”
or "our” for periods ended after July 1, 2008, refer to
Applied Biosystems Inc., after giving effect to the
separation of the Celera group and the name change
discussed in further detail above,

On June 12, 2008, we and Invitrogen Corporation
announced that our respective boards of directors had
approved a definitive merger agreement under which
Invitrogen will acguire all of the outstanding shares of
Applied Biosystems stock. See Note 4 to our consolidated
financial statements for more information on the pending
merger.

Applied Biosystems inc.

Principles of Consolidation

We inciude the accounts of the Company and all of our
majority-owned subsidiaries that we control in our
consolidated financial statements. We have eliminated all
significant intracompany transactions and balances in
consolidation.

Use of Estimates

We prepare our consolidated financial statements and
retated disclosures in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, or GAAP, In preparing these statements, we are
required to use estimates and assumptions. While we
believe we have considered all available information,
actual results could affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the consolidated financial staterments, and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting periods.

Capital Structure

In fiscal 1999, as part of a recapitalization of our Company,
we created two classes of common stock: Applied
Biosystems Group Comrmon Stock (" Applied Biosystems
stock™) and Celera Group Common Stock (“"Celera
stock”). These two classes of stock, sometimes referred
to as "tracking” stocks, were intended to “track” or
reflect the relative performance of the Applied Biosystems
group and the Celera group, respectively. There was no
single security that represented the performance of the
Company as a whole. On July 1, 2008, we completed the
separation of all of the business, assets, and liabilities of
the Celera group into an independent publicly-traded
company as discussed above.

The Applied Biosystems group and the Celera group were
not separate legal entities, and holders of Applied
Biosystems stock and holders of Celera stock were all
stockholders of the Company. As a result, holders of
these stocks were subject to all of the risks associated
with an investment in the Company and all of its
businesses, assets, and liabilities. The Applied Biosystems
group and the Celara group did not have separate boards
of directors. The Company had one board of directors,
which made any decision in accordance with its good faith
business judgment that the decision was in the best
intgrests of the Company and all of its stockholders as a
whole.

Financial effects arising from one group that affect our
consolidated results of operations or consofidated financial
position could, if significant, affect the results of
operations or financial position of the other group and the
per share market price of the class of common stock
relating to the other group. Any net losses of the Applied
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Biosystems group or the Celera group and dividends or
distributions on, or repurchases of, Applied Biosystems
stock or Celera stock or repurchases of preferred stock of
the Company will reduce the assets of the Company
legally available for payment of dividends.

Recently {ssued Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Beard
{“FASB") Staff Position (“FSP"} No. 142-3, Determination
of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets, was finalized. FSP
No. 142-3 amends the factors that should be considered
in developing renewal or extension assurmptions used to
determine the useful life of a recognized intangible asset
under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS™"} No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.
The Position applies to intangible assets that are acquired
individually or with a group of other assets and to both
intangible assets acquired in business combinations and
asset acquisitions. FSP 142-3 is effective for our third
quarter of fiscal 2009. We are currently evaluating the
provisions of FSP 142-3 and the resulting impact of
adoption on our financial statements.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161,
“Disclosures about Derivative Insiruments and Hedging
Activities - an amendment to FASB Statement No, 133."
SFAS No. 181 is intended to help investors better
understand how derivative instruments and hedging
activities affect an entity’s financiat pasiticon, financial
performance and cash flows through enhanced disclosure
requirements. The provisions of SFAS No. 161 are
etfective for our third guarter of fiscal 2009, with early
adoption permitted.

In December 2007, the FASB ratified the consensus
reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force {"EITF"} an
Issue No. 07-1, “Accounting for Collaborative
Arrangements.” EITF 07-1 defines collaborative
arrangements and esiablishes reporting and disclosure
requirements for transactions between participants in a
collaborative arrangement and between participants in the
arrangement and third parties. The provisions of EITF 07-1
are effective for our 2010 fiscal year, beginning July 1,
2009,

In June 2007, the FASB ratified the consensus reached by
the EITF on Issue No. 06-11, “Accounting for Income Tax
Benefits of Dividends on Share-Based Payment Awards.”
EITF 06-11 states that an entity should recognize a
realized tax benefii associated with dividends or dividend
equivalents on nonvested equity shares, nonvested equity
share units, and outstanding equity share options charged
to retained earnings as an increase in capital in excess of
par value. The amount recognized in capital in excess of
par value should be included in the poal of excess tax
benefits available to absorb potential future tax
deficiencies on share-based payment awards. EITF 06-11

should be applied prospectively to income tax benefits of
dividends on equity-classified share-based payment
awards that are declared in {iscal years beginning after
December 15, 2007. The provisions of EITF 06-11 are
effective for our 2009 fiscal year, beginning July 1, 2008.
Adoption of EITF 06-11 will have no impact on our
financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, "The
Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liahilities Including an Amendment of FASB Statement
No. 115,” which permits entities to measure some
financial assets and liabilities at fair vaiue on an
instrument-by-instrument basis. Entities that elect the fair
value option wiil report unrealized gains and losses in
earnings at each subsequent reporting date. SFAS No. 159
also establishes additional disclosure reguirements. The
provisions of SFAS No. 159 are effective for our 2009 fiscal
year beginning July 1, 2008. We are currently assessing
the provisions of SFAS No. 159 to determine if there is an
impact of adoption on our financial statements.

In Septermnber 20086, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, "Fair
Value Measurements.” SFAS No. 157 defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value under
GAAP, and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. The provisions of SFAS No. 157 are
effective for our 2009 fiscal year beginning July 1, 2008,
and interim periods within that fiscal year. We are
currently assessing the impact of the adoption of the
provisions of SFAS No. 157 on our financial staiemenis.

Earnings (Loss) per Share

We compute basic earnings {loss) per share for each class
of common stock using the two-class method. The
two-class method is an earnings allocation formula that
determines earnings per share for each class of common
stock according to dividends declared and participation
rights in undistributed earnings. To calculate basic
earnings {loss) per share for each class of commen stock,
we divide the earnings {losses) allocated to each class of
common stock by the weighted average number of
outstanding shares of that class of common stock. Diluted
earnings {loss) per share is calculated using the weighted
average number of cutstanding shares of that class of
common stock adjusted to include the dilutive effect of
common stock equivalents. Dilutive common stock
equivalents primarily consist of employee stock options.

Qur board of directors approves the method of allocating
earnings to each class of common stock for purposes of
calculating earnings {loss) per share. This determination is
based on the net income or loss amounts of the
corresponding group calculated in accordance with GAAP,
consistently applied. We believe this method of allocation
is systematic and reascnable. Our board of directors can,
in its discretion, change the method of allocating earnings
{losses) to each class of common stock at any time.

T
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued} Applied Biosystems Inc.

The following table presents a reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings {loss} per share for the fiscal years ended June 30:

(Amounts in millions excapt per share amaounts)

Applied Biosysterns Group Celera Group
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2008

Income (loss) from continuing operations
Allocated intercompany profit (loss)

$316.6 31709 $275.1 $(102.6) $(19.8) $(62.7}
0.2) {03 0.1

Total income (loss) from continuing operations allocated
Less dividends declared on common stock

3164 1706 2752
29.3 31.2 31.7

(102.6) (198} (62.7)

Undistributed earnings {loss)

$287.1 $1394 $2435 $(102.6} $(19.8) $(62.7)

Allocation of basic earnings (loss) per share
Basic distributed earnings per share
Basic undistributed earnings (loss) per share

$017 $017 $017 § - § — § —
1.66 0.76 1.30 {1.29) (0.25) (0.83)

Total basic earnings {loss} per share from continuing operations

$183 $093 $ 147 § (1.29) $(0.25) ${0.83)

Allocation of diluted earnings (loss) per share
Diluted distributed earnings per share
Diluted undistributed earnings lioss} per share

$016 3016 $017 $§ - § — § —
1.62 0.74 1.26 (1.29) {0.25} (0.83)

Total diluted earnings (loss} per share from continuing operations

$178 $090 %143 $ (1.29} $(0.25) $(0.83)

Weighted average number of common shares

Basic 1728 183.2 187.0 79.5 78.3 758
Common stock equivalents 5.2 7.0 49
Diluted 1780 1902 1919 79.5 783 755

Onptions to purchase shares at exercise prices greater than
the average market prices of our two classes of common
stock were excluded from the computation of diluted
earnings per share because the effect was antidilutive.
Additicnally, options and warrants to purchase shares of
Celera stock were excluded from the computation of
diluted loss per share because the effect was antidilutive.
The following table presents the number of shares
excluded from the diluted earnings and loss per share
computations at June 30:

{Shares in millions) 2008 2007 2006
Applied Biosystems stock 58 65 52
Celera stock 66 73 841

Share-Based Compensation

Under our share-based compensation plans, we issue
stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock units.
We also sponsor an employee stock purchase plan. See
Note 8 to our ¢consolidated financial statermnents for further
information. Effective July 1, 2005, we adopted the
provisions of SFAS No. 123, "Share-Based Payment
(revised 2004)," for all of our share-hased compensation
plans. SFAS No. 123R requires entities to measure and
recognize the cost of employee services received in
exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the
grant-date fair value of the award. We adopted SFAS

No. 123R using the modified prospective meihod of
transition. This method reqguires us to apply the provisions
of SFAS No. 123R to new awards from and after our

adoption date and to any awards that were unvested as of
our adoption date, but did not require prior periods to be
restated. For our stock option and restricted stock plans,
compensation expense is recognized on a straightline
basis over the requisite service period for the entire grant.
We recognize expense for our employee stock purchase
plans as costs are incurred. Total share-based
compensation expense and the earnings per share effects
under the provisions of SFAS No. 123R for the fiscal years
ended June 30 were as follows:

Applied Biosystems Celera
Stock Stock

(Dollar amounts in millions

except per share amounts) 2008 2007 20086 2008 2007 2006

Pre-tax share-based
compensation expense $25.2 $165 $11.2$ 68 5 33 % 15
Tax benefit 80 49 34 21 09 03

Net expense $17235116578%$473824512

Basic earnings per share  $0.10 $0.06 $0.04 $0.06 $0.03 $0.02
Diluted earnings per share  0.10 0.06 0.04 0.06 0.03 0.02

Cash received from option exercises under these plans
was $90.2 million for fiscal 2008, $136.4 miilion for fiscal
2007 and $164.4 million for fiscal 2006 and the total
intrinsic value of awards exercised and released was
$53.8 million for fiscal 2008, $82.1 million for fiscal 2007
and $55.8 million for fiscal 2008. In connection with these
exercises, we realized a tax benefit of $16.1 million for
fiscal 2008, $25.9 million for fiscal 2007 and $17.0 miillion
for fiscal 2008,
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We estimate the fair value of our options using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model, which was developed for
use in estimating the value of freely-traded options that
have no vesting restrictions and are {ully transferable.
Similar to other option pricing models, this model requires
the input of highly-subjective assumptions, including the
stock price volatility. Qur options have characteristics
significantly different from tradecd options, and changes in
the input assumptions can materially affect the fair value
estimates. The fair value of the options was estimated at
the grant date with the following weighted average
assumptions for the fiscal years ended June 30:

2008 2007 2006

Applied Biosystems Group

Dividend yield 05% 05% 07%
Volatility 21% 2%  24%
Risk-free interest rate 38% 47% 45%
Expected option life in years 4 4 4
Weighted average fair value per

option granted $7.36 3$8.03 3631
Celera Group
Volatility 33% 32% 35%
Risk-free interest rate 38% 46% 43%
Expecied option life in years 5 5 5
Weighted average fair value per

option granted $5.38 $551 $4.36

We determine the expected term of our options based on
histerical exercise patterns, which factor in the histerical
weighted average holding period from grant date to
settlement date and from vest date to exercise date. We
use the historical exercise patterns io project future
settierment of outstanding options. Our forfeiture
assumption rates are based on historical experience.

We determined expected volatility over the expected term
based on historical volatilities of our two classes of
common stock. In addition, we use a mean reversion
analysis, which we believe provides a better estimate of
current and future volatility rate expeciations for our
classes of stock.

Foreign Currency

We translate assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
where the functional currency is the local currency of the
foreign gperation, into U.S. dollars at the fiscal year-end
currency rates. We record the related translation
adjustments as a separate component of accumulated
other comprehensive income in the Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position. We translate foreign
currency revenues and expenses using average currency
rates prevailing during the fiscal year. Foreign currency
transaction gains and losses, resulting from fluctuations in

exchange rates when assets and liabilities are
denominated in currencies other than the functicnal
currency of an entity, are included in net income. Net
transaction gains were $3.6 million for fiscal 2008, $6.7
million for fiscal 2007, and $5.7 million for fiscal 2006. Net
transaction gains and losses include the gains and losses
on the revaluation of non-functional currency-denominated
net assets offset by the losses and gains on non-qualified
hedges on these positions. See Note 12 to our
consolidated financial statements for further information
on our hedging program.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company recognizes derivative instruments as either
assets or liabilities and measures those instruments at fair
value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of a
derivative depends on the intended use of the derivative
and the resulting designation. For a derivative instrument
designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of
the derivative's gain or loss is initially reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income
and subsequently reclassified into earnings when the
hedge exposure effects earnings. The ineffective portion
of the gain or loss is reported in earnings immediately. For
derivative instruments that are not designated as
accounting hedges, changes in fair value are recegnized in
earnings in the period of change. See Note 12 to our
consolidated financial statements for further information
related to our derivative financial instruments.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-Term
Investments

Qur cash equivalents consist of highly liquid debt
instruments, time deposits, and certificates of deposit
with original maturities of three months or less at the date
of purchase. These instruments are readily convertible
into cash.

All short-term investrments are classified as
available-for-sale and are carrted at fair value with
unrealized gains and losses included as a separate
component of stockholders’ equity, net of any related tax
effect. Investments with maturities beyond cne year may
be classified as short-term based on their highly liquid
nature and because these marketable securities represent
the investment of cash that is readily available for current
operations should it be needed. We use the specific
identification method to determine the cost of securities
disposed of, with realized gains and losses recorded in
other income {expense), net in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations.
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The fair value of short-term investments and unrealized
gains {losses) at June 30 was as follows;

{Dotlar amounts in millions) 2008 2007
Certificates of deposit and time deposits $ 207 § 345
Commercial pagper 249 447
U.S. government and agency obligations 45.8 142.9
Corporate bonds 1529 3266
Asset backed securities 43.4 1841

Total short-term investments $287.7 %7328
Unrealized gains on investments $ 02 % 03
Unrealized losses on investments (2.8) 1.6

The realized gains and losses associated with our short-
term investments for the fiscal years ended June 30 were
as follows:

{Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 2006
Realized gains on investments $12 $05 $01
Realized losses on investments (1.1) (0.1}

In fiscal 2008, we recorded a pre-tax charge of $3.1 million
for an other-than-temporary impairment of a publicly
traded non-strategic minority equity investment. The
impairment charge resulted from a number of factors that
were assessed, including the duration of the decline in
market value, the financial condition, and future prospects
for the investee,

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost {on a first-in,
first-out basis) or market. Cost is determined principally on
the standard cost method for manufactured goods which
approximates cost on the first-in, first-out method.
Reserves for obsolescence and excess inventory are
provided based on historical experience and estimates of
future product demand. Inventories included the following
compenents at June 30:

The following table summarizes the contractual maturities
of available-for-sale securities at June 30:

{Dollar amounts in millions) 2008
Less than one year $110.5
Due in one to two years 88.3
Due in two to five years 88.9
Total $287.7

We also held securities that were classified as trading
totaling $34.0 million at June 30, 2008, and $35.6 million
at June 30, 2007, which were recorded at fair value with
realized and unrealized gains and losses included in
income. These securities were recorded in other current
assets. included in income were unrealized net holding
losses of $2.1 million during fiscal 2008 and unrealized net
holding gains of $5.1 miflion during fiscal 2007 and $2.6
miltion during fiscal 2006.

Investments

We classify investments for which we do not have the
ahility to exercise significant influence as minority equity
investments. We account for non-marketable minority
equity investments using the cost method of accounting.
We generally classify minority equity investments in public
companies as available-for-sale and carry them at market
value in accordance with SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for
Certain Investrnents in Debt and Equity Securities.” We
use the specific identification method to determine the
cost of securities disposed of. Under the cost method of
accounting, we carry investments in equity securities at
cost and adjust only for other-than-temporary declines in
fair value, distributions of earnings and additicnal
investments.

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007
Raw materials and supplies $583 § 490
Work-n-process 14.6 7.2
Finished products 974 84.1

Total inventories, net $170.3 3$140.3

Property, Plant and Equipment, and Depreciation

Property, plani and equipment are recorded at cost and
consisted of the following at June 30:

(Dollar amounts in miltions} 2008 2007
Land and improvements $1181 $116.7
Buildings and leasehold improvements 3023 2913
Machinery and equipment 2947 2827
Computer software and licenses 163.3 1584
Property. plant and equipment, at cost 8784 8491
Accumulated depreciation and amortization 507.0 4583
Property, plant and equipment, net $371.4 33908

We capitalize major renewals and improvements that
significantly add to productive capacity or exiend the life
of an asset. We expense repairs, maintenance, and minor
renewals and improvements as incurred. We remove the
cost of assets and related depreciation from the related
accounts on the balance sheei when assets are disposed
of, and any related gains or losses are reflected in current
earnings.

We compute depreciation expense of owned property,
plant and equipment based on the expected useful lives of
the assets primarily using the straightline method. We
amortize leasehold improvements over their estimated
useful lives or the term of the applicable lease, whichever
is less, Useful lives are generally five to ten years for land
improvements, 30 to 40 years for buildings, and three to
seven years for machinery and equipment. We amortize
capitalized internal-use software costs primarily over the
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expected useful lives, not 10 exceed seven years.
Depreciation expense for property, plant and equipment
was $66.2 million for fiscal 2008, $64.8 million for fiscal
2007, and $73.8 million for fiscal 20086,

Capitalized Software

We capitalize and include in other long-term assets
software development costs for software used in our
products which are incurred from the time technological

Intangible Assets

feasibility of the software is established until the software
is ready for its intended use. We amortize these costs
using the straight-line method over a maximum of three
years or the expected life of the product, whichever is
less. Capitalized software costs, net of accumulated
amortization, were $0.3 million at June 30, 2008, and $2.5
millien at June 30, 2007. Amortization expense was $2.0
million in fiscal 2008, $1.3 million in fiscal 2007, and $1.6
million in fiscal 2006, We expense R&D costs and other
computer software maintenance costs related to software
development as incurred.

We amortize intangible assets using the straight-line method over their expected useful lives, except for cusiomer
relationship intangibles. We amortize customer relationship intangibles on a proporticnate basis as the economic benefits
of the intangible assets are consumed. In determining the useful life of the customer relationship intangibles, we assumed
a number of factors, including the customer base and attrition rates, including our ability to renew or extend our
relationships with existing customers, as well as any legal, regulatory or contractual provisions that may limit the useful

life. Intangible assets at June 30 included the following:

2008 2007
Gross Gross
Weighted Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated

{Dotlar amounts in millions) Average Life Amount Amaortization Amount Amortization
Amortized intangible assets

Acqguired technology $ 525 $21.7 $32.8 $13.3

Patents 301 26.4 299 25.1

Customer relationships 112.3 14.4 271 5.2

Other 27 13 1.7 0.7
Total amortized intangible assets 197.6 63.8 91.5 443
Unamortized intangible assets

Trademarks and trade names 28.7 4.9
Total $226.3 $63.8 $96.4 $44.3

In connection with our acquisitions, we acquired
trademarks and trade names that we determined to be
indefinitely lived. In connection with the acquisition of
Berkeley HeartLab, Inc. {"BHL"), Atria Genetics Inc.
("Atria”) and the Research Products Division of Ambion
Inc. {“Ambion”), we acquired the Berkeley, Atria and
Ambion trade names. These intangible assets are tested
for impairment as part of our annua! goodwill impairment
test as discussed below. See Note 3 to our consolidated
financial statements for more information on these

We record amortization expense in cost of sales except
for amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets
which is recorded in the amortization of purchased
intangible assets in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. At June 30, 2008, we estimated annual
amortization expense of our intangible assets for each of
the next five fiscal years as shown in the iollowing table.
Future acquisitions or impairment events could cause
these amounts to change.

L Applied
acquisitions. Biosystems  Celera
{Dallar amounts in miltions} Group  Group Coensolidated
o ] 2009 $12.0 $10.2 $22.2
Aggregate amortization expense for the fiscal years ended 2010 95 103 19.8
June 30 was as follows: 2011 6.2 102 16.4
2012 50 101 15.1
{Dollar amounts in millions} 2008 2007 2006 203 3.0 9.2 12.2
Applied Biosystems group $12.3 $130 %64
Celera group 1.2
Consolidated $195 $130 564
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Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price over the
net asset value of companies acquired. We test goodwill
for impairment using a fair value approach at the reporting
unit tevel annually, or earlier if an event occurs of
circumstances change that would more likely than not
reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying
amount. Qur reporting units are the Applied Biosystems
group and the Celera group. Under the impairment test, if
a reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds its estimated
fair value, goodwill impairment is recognized to the extent
that the reporting unit's carrying amount of goodwill
exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill.

The carrying amount of goodwill at June 30 was as
follows:

Applied
Biosystems Celera
[Dollar amounts in mitlions) Group Group  Consolidated
Balance as of June 30, 2007 $2432 3% 2.7 $2459
Goodwill acquired 113.6 113.6
Balance as of June 30, 2008 $243.2 $116.3 $359.5

Refer to Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements
for information on the goodwill we acguired in connection
with the BHL and Atria acquisitions.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We review long-ived assets for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
Events that could trigger an impairment review include,
among others, a decrease in the market value of an asset,
an asset’s inability to generate income from operations
and positive cash flow in future periods, a decision to
change the manner in which an asset is used, a physical
change to an asset or a change in business climate. We
calculate estimated future undiscounted cash flows,
before interest and taxes, resulting from the use of the
asset and its estimated value at disposal and compare it to
its carrying value in determining whether impairment
potentially exists. i a potential impairment exists, a
calculation is performed to determine the fair value of the
long-lived asset. This calculation is based on a valuation
model and discount rate commensurate with the risks
involved. Third party appraised values may also be used in
deterrnining whether impairment potentially exists.

Product Warranties

We accrue warranty costs for product sales at the time of
shipment based on historical experience as well as
anticipated product performance. Qur product warranties
extend over a specified period of time ranging up to two
years from the date of sale depending on the product

subject to warranty. The product warranty accrual covers
parts and labor for repairs and replacements covered by
our product warranties. We periodically review the
adequacy of our warranty reserve, and adjust, if
necessary, the warranty percentage and accrual based on
actual experience and estimaied costs to he incurred.

The following table provides the analysis of the warranty
reserve for the fiscal years ended June 30:

{Daollar amount in miliions) 2008 2007
Beginning of year $121 %106
Accruals for warranties 197 17.0
Usage of reserve {(16.9) (158
Other* {1.) 0.3
End of year $138 3121

* Other consists of accrual adjustments 10 reflect actuat experience and currency
translation.

Revenues and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We record revenue on entering into & final agreement
with the customer that includes the specific nature and
terms of the revenue-generating activity and for which
collectibility is reasonably assured, which is generally at
the time of shipment of preducts or performance of
services. Concurrently, we record provisions for warranty,
returns, and installation based on historical experience and
anticipated product performance. Discounts are recorded
as sales reductions concurrenily with the applicable sale.
Cash discounts are recorded as sales reductions on our
receipt of the sales proceeds. Deferred revenues consist
of prepayments for trade-ins and service contracts.
Revenue is not recognized at the time of shipment of
products in situations where risks and rewards of
ownership are transferred to the customer at a point other
than shipment due to the shipping terms, the existence of
an acceptance clause, the achievement of milestanes, or
some return or cancellation privileges. Revenue is
recognized once customer accepiance occurs or the
acceptance provisions lapse. Service revenue is
recognized over the period services are performed.
Armounts billed to customers refated to shipping and
handling are included in net revenues, whereas shipping
and handling costs are included in cost of sales.

In revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables, we
record revenue as the separate elements are delivered to
the customer if the delivered item is determined to
represent a separate earnings process, there is objective
and reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered
item, and delivery or performance of the undelivered item
is probable and substantially in our control. For
instruments where installation is determined to be a
separate earnings process, the portion of the sales price
altocable to the fair value of the installation is deferred and
recognized when installation is complete. We determine
the fair value of the installation process based on
technician labor biiling rates, the expected number of
hours to install the instrument based on historical
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experience, and amounts charged by third parties.
Arrangements with multiple elements or deliverables are
segmented into individual units of accounting based on
the separate deliverables only if there is objective and
verifiable evidence of fair value to aliocate the
consideration received to the deliverables. Revenues from
multiple-elermnent arrangements involving license fees,
up-front payments and milestone payments, which are
received and/or billable in connection with other rights and
services that represent our continuing obligations are
deferred until all of the multiple elements have been
delivered or until objective and verifiable evidence of the
fair value of the undelivered elements has been
established. On establishing objective and verifiable
evidence of the fair value of the elements in multiple-
element arrangements, the fair value is allocated to each
element of the arrangement, such as license fees or
research collaboration projects, based on the relative fair
values of the elements. We determine the fair value of
each element in multiple-element arrangements based on
objective and verifiable evidence of fair value, which is
determined for each element based on the prices charged
when the similar elements are sold separately to third
parties. f objective and verifiahle evidence of fair value of
all undelivered elemenis exists but objective and verifiable
evidence of fair value does not exist for one or more
delivered elements, then revenue is recognized using the
residual method. Under the residual method, the revenues
from delivered elements are not recognized until the fair
value of the undelivered element or elements has been
determined. Contract interpretation is normally required to
determine the appropriate accounting, including whether
the deliverables specified in a multiple element
arrangement should be treated as separate units of
accounting for revenue recognition purposes, and if so,
how the price should be allocated among the deliverable
elements, when to begin to recognize revenue for each
element, and the period over which revenue should be
recognized.

We recognize royalty revenues when earned over the term
of the agreement in exchange for the grant of licenses to
use our products or some technologies for which we hold
patents. We recognize revenue for estimates of royalties
earned during the applicable period, based on historical
activity, and make revisions for actual royalties received in
the following quarter. For those arrangements where
royalties cannot be reasonably estimated, we recognize
revenue on the receipt of cash or royalty statements from
our licensees. In addition, we recognize up-front
nonrefundable license fees when due under contractual
agreement, unless we have specific continuing performance
obligations requiring deferral of all or a portion of these fees.
We have adopted the provisions of Statement of Position
("SOP") 97-2, "Software Revenue Recognition” for license
fees with exiended terms. Specifically, if it cannot be
concluded that a licensee fee is fixed or determinable at the
cutset of an arrangement, revenue is recognized as
payments from third parties become due.

A portion of the Celera group’s reported net product
revenues include our product sales to Abbott Laboratories
and equalization payments we receive from Abbott
resulting from a profit and loss sharing arrangement
between the Company and Abbott. Costs associated with
our praduct sales to Abbott are included in cost of sales.
End-user sales to third pariies are recognized by Abbott.
Research and development and administrative costs
incurred by us in connection with the Abbott alliance are
presented on a gross basis in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations. All revenues, costs and
expenses of the alliance are shared equally by both
parties. At the end of each reporting period, the two
companies compare a statement of revenues and
expenses for alliance activities recorded by each party. A
calculation is made to determine the amount that needs to
be paid to evenly split both the revenue and expenses.
This payment is referred to as the equalization payment
and is recorded as revenue by the Celera group. The
timing and nature of equalization payments can lead to
fluctuations in both reported revenues and gross marging
from period to period due to changes in end-user sales of
alliance products and differences in relative operating
expenses between the alliance partners.

Also, a portion of the Celera group’s reported net
revenues include patient test service revenues associated
with BHL's operations. We recognize patient test service
revenues on completion of the testing process and when
the test results are sent to the ordering healthcare
provider. Billings for services reimbursed by third-party
pavyors, including Medicare, are recorded net of
allowances for differences between amounts billed and
the estimated receipts {rom these payors. These
allowances are determined based on historical activity.
Since the date of acquisition of BHL through June 30,
2008, revenue from Medicare patients represented
approximately 38% of the total BHL patient test service
revenues. Payment arrangements with third parties, such
as Medicare and some insurance companies, include
predetermined reimbursement rates for patient tests.
Adjustments to the estimated receipts, based on final
settlement with the third-party payors, including Medicare,
are recorded in revenue on settlement.

We have an established process to estimate and review
the collectibility of our receivables. Bad debt expense is
recorded in SG&A expenses as a perceniage of aged
accounts receivable considered necessary to maintain an
appropriate level of allowance for doubtful accounts.
Receivables are reserved based on their respective aging
categories. Qur process for determining the appropriate
level of the allowance for doubtful accounts involves
judgment, and considers the age cf the underlying
receivables, type of payor, historical and projected
collection experience, current economic and business
conditions, and other external factors that could affect the
collectibility of receivables. The allowance for doubtful
accounts is reviewed for adequacy, at a minimum, on a
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quarterly basis. An account is written-off against the
allowance for doubiful accounts when reasonable
collection efforts have been unsuccessful and it is
probable the receivable will not be recovered or the
account has been transferred to a third party collection
agency.

income Taxes

Deferred taxes represent the difference between the tax
bases of assets or liabilities, calculated under tax laws,
and the reported amounts in our consoelidated financial
statements. Deferred tax assets include items that can be
used as a tax deduction or credit in our tax return in future
years for which we have already recorded the tax henefit
in our consolidated statements of operations or items that
have already been included in our tax return income but
have yet to be recorded as income in our consolidated
statements of operations. We record a valuation
allowance against deferred tax assets if itis more likely
than not that we will not be able to utilize these assets to
offset future taxes.

Research and Development

We expense research and development costs as incurred,
Research and development costs incurred for
collaborations where there are specific product
deliverables, service meeting defined performances or
other design specifications, are recorded in cost of sales.
Research and development expenses include employee-
related costs, supplies and materials, facilities costs,
equipment depreciation, contract services, and other
outside costs.

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Cash paid for interest and income taxes and significant
non-cash investing and financing activities for the fiscal
years ended June 30 were as follows;

{Dollar amounts in millions} 2008 2007 2006
Interest $87 $06 § 01
Income taxes, net of refunds 182 483 486

Significant non-cash investing and
financing activities:
Tax benefit related to employee

stock options 16.1 259 170
Dividends declared not paid 7.2 7.7 1.7
Issuances of restricted stock 17.2 13.3 3.1
Stock issued for which

proceeds were in-transit 0.2 0.4 3.1
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Note 2 — Events Impacting Comparability

We are providing the following information on some
actions taken by us or events that occurred during the
fiscal years ended June 30:

Incomeficharge)}

{Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 2006
Severance and benefit costs $(10.2)$ (0.5) %$(14.3)
Asset impairments (1.1} (6.8) (10.9)
Excess lease space (0.9} .2
Other charges {154} (3.6} {26)
Reduction of expected costs 0.3 0.6 25

Total employee-related charges,

asset impairments, and other $(27.3) $ (10.3) $(26.5}

Other events impacting comparability:
Revenue from sales of small

molecule programs $ — % 25% 86
Asset dispositions and

legal settlemeants 8.7 46 {11.3)
Acquired research and development (114.3) (3.4
Investment gains, net 245 7.6

Tax items (83.5) 252 502

Employee-Related Charges, Asset Impairments,
and Other

The following items have been recorded in the
Consoiidated Statements of Operations in employes-
related charges, asset impairments and other, except as
noted.

Fiscal 2008

During fiscal 2008, both the Applied Biosystems group
and the Celera group recorded pre-tax charges of $3.7
million, $2.6 million of which was recorded in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2008, primarily for professional fees
related to the separation of the Celera group from the
Company. The Applied Biosystermns group and the Celera
group have agreed to share equally the costs incurred for
the separation,

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, the Applied
Biosystems group recorded a pre-tax charge of $7.8
million for costs associated with the merger with
Invitrogen.

Also during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, the Applied
Biosystems group recorded pre-tax charges of $4.7 million
for severance costs for 32 employees, some of whom
were involved in the LC/MS product line, which is
included in the Applied Biosystems/MDS SCIEX
Instruments business, a 50/50 joint venture between the
Applied Biosystems group and MDS Inc. Included in the
$4.7 million charge was a charge of $0.7 million for
sgverance costs related 1o the Applied Biosystemns/MDS
SCIEX Instruments business. The charges resulted from
the realignment of the Applied Biosystems group to
suppori its strategic growth priorities and the decision at
MDS to resize and refocus its development process. All of
the affected employees of the Applied Biosystems group
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were notified by May 31, 2008, and are expected to be
terminated by December 31, 2008. During the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2008, we made cash payments of $0.6
million related to these charges. Cash expenditures were
funded by cash provided by operating activities. The
remaining cash expenditures of $4.1 million are expected
1o be paid by December 31, 2008.

Also during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, the Applied
Biosystems group recorded pre-tax charges of $1.3
million, comprised of a $0.8 million charge in connection
with the disposal of an aircraft and a $0.5 million related
charge for severance costs for 5 employees. The Applied
Biosystems group completed the sale of the aircraft in the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2008. All of the affected employees
were notified in the fourth guarter of fiscal 2008, and are
expected to be terminated by the end of the first quarter
of fiscal 2009.

Additionally during fiscal 2008, the Applied Biosystems
group recorded a pre-tax charge of $2.9 million for
severance costs for 41 employees. The charge resulted
from the realignment of the Applied Biosystems group’s
organization to support market dynamics and it plans on
redirecting the savings into other strategic initiatives. All of
the affected empioyees were notified as of December 31,
2007, and were terminated by June 30, 2008. During
fiscal 2008, we made cash payments of $2.6 million
related to this charge. In the fourth guarter of fiscal 2008,
the Applied Biosystems group recorded a pre-tax benefit
of $0.1 million for a reduction in anticipated employee-
related costs associated with this charge. Cash
expenditures were fundec by cash provided by operating
activities. The remaining cash expenditures of $0.2 million
are expected to be paid by the end of September 2008.

During fiscal 2008, the Celera group recorded a pre-tax
charge of $1.3 million for severance costs for
approximately 30 employees. All of the affected
employees were notified by March 31, 2008, and are
expected o be terminated by the end of the first quarter
of fiscal 2009. During fiscal 2008, we made net cash
payments of $1.0 million related to this charge. Cash
expenditures were funded by available cash. The
remaining cash expenditures of $0.3 miltion are expected
to be paid by the third quarter of fiscal 2009. This charge
resulted from the realignment of the Celera group’s R&D
resources and other activities in line with its current
business activities.

Also during fiscal 2008, the Celera group recorded pre-tax
charges totaling $1.3 million related to a reduction in the
Celera group's proteomic-based activities. These charges
were in addition to a charge recorded in the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2007 described betow. These charges were
comprised of a $0.8 million charge for severance costs for
approximately 20 employees and an excess lease space
charge of $0.9 million, partially offset by a gain of $0.4
million from the disposal of equipment related to

proteornic-based activities. All of the affected employees
were notified by October 31, 2007, and were terminated
by the end of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008. During
fiscal 2008, we made net cash payments of $0.7 million
related to the severance charge and $0.2 million related to
the excess lease space charge. Cash expenditures were
funded by available cash. The remaining cash
expenditures of $0.1 million for the severance charge are
expected to be paid by the end of the second quarter of
fiscal 2009. The excess lease space charge represented
the estimated cost of excess lease space less estimated
future sublease income on a facility. The remaining cash
expenditures of $0.7 million for the excess lease space
charge are expected to be paid through Aprii 2010. These
charges resulted from the Celera group’s desire to
improve its financial results, in part by lowering operating
expenses.

Also during fiscal 2008, the Celera group recorded a
pre-tax charge of $0.3 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal
2008 for the write-down of the carrying amount of an
owned facility that was impaired initially in fiscal 2006 and
a pre-tax charge of $0.6 million partially offset by a
reduction of $0.2 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal
2008 related to the patent infringement suit with
Innogenetics N.V. for which the original charge was
recorded in fiscal 2007. All of these items are discussed
below.

Fiscal 2007

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007, the Celera group
recorded a pre-tax charge of $0.5 million for severance
costs for approximately 20 employees. The charge
resulted from a reduction in the Celera group’s
proteomics-based activities. All of the affected employees
were notified as of June 30, 2007, and were terminated
by October 31, 2007. All cash expenditures related to this
charge were disbursed by the end of fiscal 2008, Cash
expenditures were funded by available cash.

Also during fiscal 2007, the Celera group recorded a
pre-tax charge of $6.3 million, which was primarily
comprised of $6.8 million of pre-tax charges for the write-
downs of the carrying amount of an owned facility that
was impaired initially in fiscal 2006, partially offset by a
pre-tax benefit of $0.6 million for a reduction in anticipated
employee-related costs associated with severance and
benefit charges recorded in fiscal 2006, as further
discussed below.

During fiscal 2007, the Celera group recorded a pre-tax
charge of $3.5 million for its estimated share of a damage
award in continuing litigation between Abbott
Laboratories, our alliance partner, and Innogenetics N.V. In
September 20086, & jury found that the sale of Hepatitis C
Virus {*HCV") genotyping analyte specific reagents
{("ASRs"} products by Abbott willfully infringed a U.S.
patent owned by nnogenetics and awarded Innogenetics
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$7.0 million in damages. In January 2007, the U.S. District
Court for the Western District of Wisconsin ruled in favor
of Innogenetics’ request for a permanent injunction and
ordered Abbott to withdraw its products from the market.
The Court also reversed the jury verdict of willful
infringement and ruled that Abbott did not willfully infringe
Innogenetics’ patent and denied Innogenetics’ request for
enhanced damages and attorneys' fees. Innogenetics did
not name the Celera group as a party in this lawsuit, but
the Celera group has an interest in these products and in
the outcome of the litigation because the enjoined
products are manufactured by the Celera group and sold
through its alliance with Abbott. Also, as these products
are part of its alliance with Abbott, the Celera group
agreed to share egually the cost of this litigation, including
the damage award described above. Abbott appealed the
judgment. On January 17, 2008, the United States Court
of Appeals for the Federal Circuit vacated the permanent
injunction granted by the lower court for lnnogenetics
against Abbott in selling HCV genotyping products, Since
the jury's damage award included an upfront entry fee,
the Court remanded to the lower court to determine the
terms of a compulsory license for Abbott's future safes. In
addition, the Court remanded for a new trial on the validity
of the Innogenetics patent in view of a prior-issued patent.
The Court also affirmed the judgment of infringement and
the judgment of no willful infringement. In April 2008,
Abbott and Innogenetics settled the patent infringement
suit and the Celera group recorded an additional pre-tax
charge of $0.6 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2008. In
the fourth guarter of fiscai 2008, the Celera group
recorded a $0.2 million pre-tax reduction in litigation costs.
The Celera group’s share of the costs, including the initial
pre-tax charge of $3.5 million recorded in fiscal 2007, was
$3.8 millien. In addition, through June 30, 2008, the Celera
group recorded $2.9 million of legal iees in operating
expenses associated with this litigation, $0.4 million of
which were recorded in fiscal 2008,

Fiscal 2006

In fiscal 20086, the Applied Biosystems group recorded
pre-tax charges of $1.5 million for employee terminations
related to the Applied Biosystems/MDS SCIEX
Instruments business. MDS recorded a restructuring
charge for a reduction in workforce as part of its strategy
to focus on the life sciences market. The $1.5 million
represented the Applied Biosysterns group’s share of the
restruciuring charge.

Also in fiscal 20086, the Applied Biosystems group
recorded a $1.1 million pre-tax impairment charge o
write-down the carrying amount of its San Jose, California
facility to its then estimated current market value less
estimated selling costs. This charge was in addition to the
charge recorded in fiscal 2005 described below. In fiscal
20086, the Applied Biosystems group recognized a $0.9
million pre-tax favorable adjustment to the charges
previously recorded based on the actual sales price per

the agreement to sell the facility. The Applied Biosystems
group completed the sale of the facility in fiscal 20086.

During fiscal 2006, the Celera group recorded pre-tax
charges related to its decision to exit its small molecule
drug discovery and development programs and the
ntegration of Celera Diagnostics into the Celera group.
Celera Diagnostics was a 50/50 joint venture between the
Applied Biosystems group and the Celera group. Effective
January 1, 2008, the Celera group acquired the Applied
Biosystems group’s 50 percent interest in the Celera
Diagnostics joint venture. These charges consisted of the
following components:

Employee-
Related Asset
{Doltar amounts in millions) Charges Impairments Other Tozal
Total charges $12.8 $98 $3.8 §26.4
Cash payments 7.9 26 105
Non-cash activity 93 02 95
Balance at June 30, 2006 4.9 05 10 64
Additional charge 6.8 6.8
Non-cash activity 6.8 68
Cash payments 4.2 07 49
Reduction of expected costs 086 0.6
Balance at June 30, 2007 0.1 05 03 08
Additional charge 03 0.3
Non-cash activity 0.3 0.3
Reduction of expected costs 0.1 0.1
Balance at June 30, 2008 $ — $05 $0.3 $ 08

The employee-related charges were severance costs
primarily for staff reductions in small molecule drug
discovery and development. As of March 31, 2008, all of
the affected employees were notified and by

September 30, 20086, all were terminated. In fiscal 2007,
the Celera group recorded a pre-tax benefit of $0.6 million
for a reduction in anticipated employee-related costs
associated with the severance and benefit charges
recorded in fiscal 2008. The asset impairment charges
primarily related to a write-down of the carrying amount of
an owned facility to its then estimated current market
value less estimated selling costs, as well as write-offs of
leasehold improvements and equipment. This facility was
reclassified into assets held for sale in fiscal 2006. In fiscal
2007, the Celera group recorded additional pre-tax charges
of $6.8 million to write-down the carrying amount of this
facility. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, the Celera
group recorded an additional pre-tax charge of $0.3 million
relating to this facility. The estimates of market value for
this facility were based on third-party appraisais. Cash
expenditures for these charges were funded by available
cash. The remaining required cash expenditures related to
these charges are expected to be disbursed by June 30,
2008.
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Fiscal 2005

During fisca! 2005, the Applied Biosystems group
recorded pre-tax charges totaling $32.9 million for
employee-related charges, excess lease space and asset
impairments. The severance charges reflected the Applied
Biosystems group’s decision to reduce and rebalance its
waorkforce and were implernented as a result of a strategic
and operational analysis conducted by management. All
cash expenditures related to the employee-related portion
of these charges were disbursed by the end of fiscal
2007. The asset impairment charges related to the write-
down in value of the Applied Biosystems group’s facilities
in San Jose, California, and Houston, Texas and the
related cash expenditures were disbursed by the end of
fiscal 2006. The excess lease space charges represented
the estimated cost of excess lease space less estimated
future sublease income for some leases on facilities in
Massachusetis and California which extend through fiscal
2011, During fiscal 2008, the Applied Biosystems group
made cash payments of approximately $1.0 miilion related
to the excess lease space charges, which was funded by
available cash. Over the course of the leases, additional
pre-tax charges of $1.5 million, including $0.4 million
recorded in the fourth guarter of fiscal 2008, were
recorded in operating expenses to reserve for additional
estimated casts under the leases. The remaining cash
payments of $1.1 million as of June 30, 2008 related to
the excess lease space charges are expected to be
disbursed by fiscal 2011,

During fiscal 2005, the Celera group recorded pre-tax
charges totaling $4.5 million related to its Paracel
operations, which was acquired in fiscal 2000. Due to a
shift in focus, Paracel was no longer deemed strategic to
the overalt business. These charges included a charge for
severance and benefits costs. All cash paymentis related
to these employee terminations were made as of June
30, 2006. Also, included in these charges was a charge for
excess facility lease expenses for a lease that extends
through fiscal 2011. During fiscal 2008, we made net cash
payments of $0.7 million related to the excess lease
space. The cash expenditures were funded by available
cash. The remaining net cash expenditures related to the
excess lease space of approximately $2.0 million are
expected 1o be disbursed by fiscal 2011.

Other Events Impacting Comparability
Revenue from the sales of small molecute programs

in fiscal 2007, the Celera group recorded $2.5 millien in
net revenues from the sale of a small molecule drug
discovery and development program to Schering AG. The
Celera group had recorded an initial $2.5 millicn in fisca!
2006 when the agreement for the sale of the program
was executed. Additionally in fiscal 2006, the Celera group
recorded $6.1 million in net revenues from the sales of
other small molecule drug discovery and development
programs, primarily to Pharmacyclics, Inc.

Asset dispositions and legal settfements

The following items have been recorded in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations in asset
dispositions and legal settlements.

Fiscal 2008

In fiscal 2008, the Applied Biosystems group recorded a
$7.6 million pre-tax gain primarily related to a settlement
and licensing agreement entered into with Stratagene
Corporation and Agilent Technologies, Inc. {which
acquired Stratagene), which resolved outstanding legal
disputes with Stratagene.

Also in fiscal 2008, the Celera group recorded a $1.1
million pre-tax gain related to the settlement of a litigation
matter associated with its former Online/Infarmation
Business, an information preducts and service business.

Fiscal 2007

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007, the Applied
Biosystems group recorded & pre-tax benefit of $3.5
million from the receipt of past royalties from Bio-Rad
Laboratories, Inc. under new and newly amended patent
licenses. Also in fiscal 2007, the Applied Biosystems
group recorded a $4.8 million pre-tax benefit related to the
settlement of a patent infringement claim, a $3.0 million
pre-tax benefit related 1o our collection from a third party
of a portion of its liability relative to our settlement of a
prior legal dispute, and a $9.1 million pre-tax charge
related to a settlement agreement entered into with
another company which resolved outstanding legal
disputes with that company. The Celera group recorded a
$2.4 million pre-tax benefit in fiscal 2007 related to the
settlement of a litigation matter associated with the
former QOniing/Information Business.

Fiscal 2006

In fiscal 2008, the Applied Biosystems group recorded a
pre-tax charge of $35.0 million as a result of a settlement
to resolve all cutstanding legal disputes with Beckman
Coulter regarding claims to some patented capillary
electrophoresis and heated cover instrumentation
technology. The Applied Biosystems group made the
$35.0 million payment to Beckman Coulter in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 20086 {or rights to some Beckman Coulter
technology and for the release of any and all claims of
infringement relating to DNA sequencer and thermal
cycler products. Commencing in July 2008, Beckman
Coulter began making quarterly payments which will total
$20.0 million over ten quarters to the Celera group for
diagnostic rights to some of the Company’s technology.
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Also in fiscal 2008, the Applied Biosystems group
recorded a benefit and received the sum of $33.4 million
related to a settlement agreement involving U.S. patent
infringement claims brought by us against Bio-Rad and MJ
Research, Inc. (acquired by Bio-Rad after the
commencement of litigation.} The settlement also
resolved litigation brought by Bio-Rad against us for patent
and trademark infringement, and counterclaims by us
against Bio-Rad.

Additionally in fiscal 2008, we recorded a $26.6 million
pre-tax charge related to an award in an arbitration
proceeding with Amersham Biosciences, now GE
Healthcare, and a litigation matter. We recorded the
pre-tax charge as follows: $25.9 million at the Applied
Biosystems group and $0.7 million at the Celera group.
We paid all amounts related to the arbitration matter in
January 2006. The arbitration matter involved the
interpretation of a license agreement relating to DNA
sequencing reagents and kits. Amersham had alleged,
among other things, that the Applied Biosystems group
had underpaid royatties under the license agreement. The
arbitrator awarded Amersham past damages based on an
increase in royalty rates for some of its DNA sequencing
enzyrmes and kits that contain those enzymes, plus
interest, fees, and other costs. As a result of this decision,
the Applied Biosysiems group recorded a pre-tax charge
of $23.5 miliion in fiscal 2008, $22.6 million of which was
recorded in asset dispositions and legal settlements.

In fiscal 2006, the Applied Biosysiems group recorded a
pre-tax gain of $16.9 million from the sale of a vacant
facility in Connecticut. This facility was previously used for
manutacturing and administration.

Acquired research and development

In fiscal 2007, the Applied Biosystems group recorded a
$114.3 million charge to write-off the value of acquired
in-process research and development (“IPR&D") in
connaction with the acquisition of Agencourt Personal
Genomics, Inc. {"APG"). As of the acquisition date, in July
20086, the technological feasibility of the acquired project
had not been established, and it was determined that the
acquired project had no future alternative use. The
determination of the amount attributed to acquired IPR&D
took into consideration an independent appraisal
performed by an outside consultant.

During fiscal 2006, the Applied Biosysiems group
recorded a $3.4 million charge to write-off the value of
acquired IPR&D in connection with the acquisition of
Ambicn. As of the acquisition date, the technological
feasibility of the related projects had not been established,
and it was determined that the acquired projects had no
future alternative uses. The determination of the amount
attributed to acquired IPR&D took into consideration an
independent appraisal performed by a third party.

See Note 3 to our consolidated financiat statements for
maore information on these acquisitions.

investments

In fiscal 2008, the Applied Biosystems group recorded
pre-tax gains of $27.6 million, $25.0 million of which was
recorded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, in gains on
investments, net from the sales of non-strategic minority
equity investments. Also in fiscal 2008, the Celera group
recorded a pre-tax charge of $3.1 million in gains on
investments, net for an other-than-temnporary impairment
of a publicly traded non-strategic minority equity
investment. The impairment charge resulted from a
number of factors that were assessed, including the
duration of the decline in market value, the financial
condition, and future prospects for the investee. In fiscal
2006, the Celera group recorded pre-tax gains of $7.6
million in gains on investments, net from the sale of
non-strategic minority equity investments.

Tax items
Fiscal 2008

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, the Celera group
recorded a non-cash tax charge of $80.6 million to
establish a valuation allowance against the Celera group’s
deferred tax assets. As a result of the separation, the
Celera group will no longer be a member of the
Company’s consolidated return. Due to the Celera group’s
posl separation separate taxpayer status and history of
losses, management determined that it was more likely
than not that the net deferred tax assets distributed to the
Celera group in conjunction with the separation will not be
realized. Some of these assets are expected to expire in
three to twelve years, if not used before then.

In fiscal 2008, we recorded net tax benefits of $8.9
million, primarily resulting from net benefits related to
completed Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) and foreign
audits and R&D tax credits. $9.6 million of tax benefits
were recorded at the Applied Biosystems group, offset by
a tax charge for R&D tax credits of $0.7 million recorded
at the Celera group.

Alseo in fiscal 2008, the Applied Biosystems group
recorded tax charges of $1.8 million primarily related to
the recalculation of deferred tax assets as a result of a
decrease in the statutory tax rate in Germany.

Fiscal 2007

In the fourth gquarter of fiscal 2007, the Applied
Biosystems group recorded a net tax benefit of $6.9
million primarily related to foreign tax settlements and a
reduction of foreign valuation allowances. The valuation
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allowance release was due tc management’s
reassessment of the future realization of deferred tax
asseis based on revised forecasted foreign income. Also
in fiscal 2007, we recorded tax benefits of $8.5 miliion,
primarily resulting from a $6.1 million valuation allowance
release. The valuation allowance release was due to
management's reassessment of the future realization of
foreign tax credits. Tax benefits identified during the tax
return preparation accounted for the remaining tax
benefits of $2.4 million, $8.1 million of the tax benefits
was recorded at the Applied Biosystems group and $0.4
million was recorded at the Celera group.

The Tax Relief and Health Care Act of 2006, enacted in
December 2008, extended the R&D tax credit from
January 1, 2006 through December 31, 2007. The Applied
Biosystems group and the Celera group included the
estimated benefit of the current year R&D tax credit in the
fiscal 2007 estimated annual effective tax rate. In addition,
the Celera group receorded a tax benefit of $1.0 million in
fiscal 2007 related to the R&D tax credit generated
between January 1, 2006 and June 30, 2006,

Also, in fiscal 2007, the Applied Biosysterms group
recorded a tax benefit of $8.8 million related to a reduction
in the valuation allowance for German net operating loss
carryforwards.

Fiscal 2006

In fiscal 2006, the Applied Biosystermns group recorded a
tax benefit of $13.5 million related to the resolution of
transfer pricing matters in Japan. Additionally, the Applied
Biosysterns group recorded a net tax charge of $26.6
miltion related to repatriation of foreign earnings. Also in
fiscal 2006, the Applied Biosystems group recorded tax
benefits of $63.3 million related to a completed IRS exam,
state valuation allowance reversal, and R&D credits. The
IRS completed the audit of the Company for the fiscal
years 1996 through 2003 and, as a result, the Applied
Biosystermns group recorded favorable adjustments of
$32.2 miilion to existing tax liabilities. A net of federal tax
$24.8 million increase in the net state deferred tax assets
primarily related to a reduction in valuation allowance and
the write-off of some state deferred tax assets. The
reduciion in the valuation allowance was due to
management's reassessment of the future realization of
deferred tax assets based on revised forecasted taxable
income which includes the impact of a change in the
apportionment of income to California, a reduction in R&D
spending, and increased revenues and profits from our
worldwide operations. Also, the Company completed its
assessment of fiscal years 2001 through 2004 R&D
activities and, as a result, the Applied Biosystems group
recorded a net benefit of $6.3 million for additional R&D
credits.

Note 3 — Acquisitions
Berkeley HeartLab, Inc.

In October 2007, we acquired BHL for $193.2 million in
cash, including transaction costs. BHL is a cardiovascular
healthcare company with a Clinical Laboratory
Improvement Amendments of 1988 ("CLIA"}-ceriified
laboratory that provides a broad portfolio of clinical
lahoratory tests and disease management services
focused on individuals who have cardiovascular disease or
lipid or metabolic disorders. We believe that the
acquisition provides the Celera group with a commercial
infrastructure to bring its new genetic tests to the U.S.
cardiovascular market. Additionaily, BHL is expected 1o
provide opportunities for the Celera group to
commercialize new tests and technologies and to gain
economies of scale and improve its margins as a
consequence of the vertical integration with BHL's clinical
lahoratory service business. The cash expenditure for this
acquisition was funded by available cash.

We allocated the purchase price of $193.2 million to
tangible net assets and intangible assets as follows:

{Dollar amounts in millions)

Current assets, including deferred tax asset of $5.2 $ 435
Long-term assets 6.2
Current liabilities {19.1)

Long-term liabilities, including deferred tax liahility of ($40.7)  (45.3)

Tangible net liabilities assumed, at approximate fair value  (14.7)

Goodwill 103.0
Customer relationships 67.4
Trademark and trade name 21.8
Existing technology 149
Internally developed software 0.8
Total intangible assets 207.9

Total purchase price $193.2

We are amortizing the recorded values of the intangible
assets, other than the trademark and trade name, over
their expected period of benefit, which on a weighted-
average basis is approximately 12 years. An established
client list, a recognized company name and a broad
portfolio of clinical laboratory tests and disease
management services focused on the secondary
prevention market were among the factors that resulted in
the recognition of goodwill. The goodwill, trademark and
trade name are reviewed for impairment as part of our
annual impairment tests. In fiscat 2008, we recorded a
$5.2 million deferred tax asset, included in current assets,
and a $40.7 million deferred tax liability, included in long-
term liabilities, for net operating loss carryforwards and
other temporary differences of BHL. The goodwill
recognized is not deductible for federal income tax
purposes. The net assets and results of operations of BHL
have been included in our consolidated financial
statements since the date of the acquisition, and have
been allocated to the Celera group.
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In connection with the acquisition, we assumed $10.8
million of floating and fixed rate debt {see Note 10}, As of
June 30, 2008, $0.1 miliion of this debt remained
outstanding.

Atria Genetics Inc.

Alsc in October 2007, we acquired substantially all of the
assets of Atria for $33.3 million in cash, including
transaction costs. Atria has a line of human leukocyte
antigen {"HLA"} testing producis that are used for
identifying potential donors in the matching process for
bone marrow transplantation. The acquisition provides the
Celera group direct access to tissue typing products in the
transplantation and bone marrow registry market. The
cash expenditure for this acquisition was funded by
available cash.

We allocated the purchase price of $33.3 million to
tangible net assets and intangible assets as follows:

{Doflar amounts in millions)

Current assets $ 06
Long-term assets 0.2
Current liabilities {0.5}
Long-term liabilities {0.2)
Tengible net assets acquired, at approximate fair value 0.1
Goodwill 10.6
Customer relationships 17.8
Trademark and trade name 2.0
Existing technology 2.7
Internally developed software 0.1
Total intangible assets 33.2
Total purchase price $33.3

We are amortizing the recorded values of the intangible
assets, other than the trademark and trade name, over
their expected period of benefit, which on a weighted-
average basis is approximately 12 years. The relationsiip
with end user customers, a line of HLA testing products,
core technology and an established name were among
the factors that resulted in the recognition of goodwill.
The goodwill, trademark and trade name are reviewed for
impairment as part of our annual impairment tests. The
entire amount of goodwill is deductible for federal income
tax purposes. The net assets and results of operations of
Atria have been included in our consolidated financial
statements since the date of the acquisition, and have
been allocated to the Celera group.

Pro Forma Financial Information

The following selected unaudited pro forma financial
information, which inciudes the combined results of
operations of BHL and Atria, has been prepared assuming
the acquisitions had accurred st the beginning of fiscal
2007 and gives effect to purchase accounting
adjustments:

[Dollar amounts in millions
except per share amounts) 2008 2007

Applied Biosystems Inc.
Net revenues $2,3825 $2,226.0
Net income 208.5 168.0

Celera Group

Net revenues $ 1604 § 1369
Net loss, as allocated (107.9} (21.1)
Basic and diluted loss per share (1.36} 0.27)

There was no financial impact to the Applied Biosystems
group related to these acquisitions,

We recorded $7.1 million in fiscal 2008 of amortization of
intangible assets related to these acquisitions.

This unaudited pro forma data is for informational
purposes only and may not be indicative of the actual
results that would have occurred had the acquisitions
been consummated at the beginning of fiscal 2007 or of
the future operations of the combined companies.

Agencourt Personal Genomics

In July 2008, we acquired APG for approximately $121
million in cash, including transaction costs. At the time of
the purchase, APG was a privately-held developer of next-
generation genetic analysis technotogy. APG's proprietary
technology was based on stepwise ligation, a novel and
very high throughput approach to DNA analysis.

In accordance with SFAS No. 141, "Business
Combirations,” we accounted for this transaction as a
purchase of assets rather than a business combination
since APG did not meet the definition of a business as
defined by EITF Abstracis Issue 98-3, "Determining
Whether a Nonmonetary Transaction Involves Receipt of
Productive Assets or of a Business.” The key
considerations impacting our accounting determination
were that APG was primarily focused on research and
development activities, had not commenced principal
operations, and did not have producis, CUsiomers or
revenues. We allocated the purchase price as follows:

{Dollar amounts in millions) Fair Value
Property, plant and equipment § 14
Intangible asset - workiorce 1.5
Acquired IPR&D 114.3
Deferred tax asset 4.7
Deferred tax liability (0.5)
Total purchase price $121.4
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We allocated this transaction to the Applied Biosystemns
group. The cash expenditure for this acquisition was
funded by available cash. The estimated fair value
atiributed to the workforce was determined based on the
estimated cost to recruit, hire, and train a workforce
comparable to that in existence at APG at the time of our
purchase of its assets. At the time of the acquisition,
approximately 20 employees of APG became employees
of the Applied Biosystems group. The recorded fair value
of the workforce intangible asset is being amortized over
its expected period of benefit of 3 years.

At the time of the acquisition, APG was in the process of
prosecuting certain patents, but none had been issued.
Any licenses APG had were not exclusive and did not
provide it a measurable technologicai advantage. As a
resuli, neither the patents nor the licenses were deemed
to be identifiable assets and no value was assigned.

As of the acquisition date, the technological feasibility of
the acquired IPR&D project had not been established, and
it was determined that the project had no future
aliernative use. The amount attributed to acquired IPR&D
took into consideration an independent appraisal
performed by an outside consultant and was developed
using an income approach. The project was valued using a
discounted cash flow model and a discount rate of 30%.
This discount rate was based on an estimated weighted
average cost of capital given APG's stage and
development lifecycle. The projected cash flows from the
project were hased on an estimate of future revenues and
expenses attributable to the project. The valuation
assumptions were made solely for the purpose of
calculating projected cash flows and valuing the intangible
assets acquired at the date of acquisition. Additionally, the
amount of purchase price which was in excess of the
identifiable assets was allocated to IPR&D, as goodwill
could not result from an acquisition of assets. Actual
results may vary from the projected results,

The following table briefly describes the APG IPR&D
project.

At Acquisition Date

Estimated  Approximate

Fair Costs 10 Percentage
{Dollar amounts in millions) Value Complets Completed
Instruments % 666 $10.0 35%
Reagents 4377 6.0 25%
Total $1143 $16.0

The instruments and reagents which were being
developed are intended for very high throughput genetic
analysis applications, including DNA sequencing and
expression profiling. The initial instrument and reagents
began generating revenue in fiscal 2008. The total project
costs were approximately $29 million. The increase in
costs to complete the project were offset by reductions io
other planned R&D projects.

Research Products Division of Ambion, Inc.

Effective March 1, 20086, we acquired the Research
Products Division of Ambion, Inc. for approximately $279
million in cash, including transaction costs. Ambion is a
provider of innovative products for the study and analysis
of ribonucleic acid {"RNA"} for tife science research and
drug development. The Ambion products are used by
researchers (o study RNA and its role in disease
development and pregression. This acquisition was
intended to drive growth by enabling us to deliver more
complete customer workflow solutions and by expanding
the Applied Biosystems group's consumables product
offering. At the time of the acquisition, we expected that
Ambion’'s RNA R&D expertise, consumables
manufacturing capabilities, and culture of scientific
innovation will complement our existing strengths. The
cash expenditure for this acquisition was funded by
available cash.

We allocated the purchase price of $279.4 millien to
tangible net assets and intangible assets as follows:

{Dellar amounts in millions}

Current assets g 274
Long-term assets 16.0
Current liabilities 8.2
Long-term liabilities (22.8)
Tangible net assets acquired, at approximate fair value 12.4
Goodwill 208.5
Customer relationships 271

Existing technology 248
Trade name 4.9
Acquired IPRAD 3.4
Purchase order backlog 0.3
Teotal intangible assets 267.0
Total purchase price $279.4

We are amortizing the recorded values of the intangible
assets, other than the acquired IPR&D and the trade
name, over their expected period of benefit, which on a
weighted average basis is 5.5 years. An established client
list, a recognized campany name in the RNA field, a strong
scientific employee base, and operations in a
complementary consumables business were among the
iactors that contributed to a purchase price resulting in the
recognition of goodwill. The goodwill and the trade name
are tested for impairment as part of our annual impairment
test at the reporting unit level. In fiscal 2006, we recorded
2 $7.2 million deferred tax asset, included in current
assets, and a $22.8 million deferred tax liability, included
in long-term liabilities, for net operating loss carryforwards
and other temporary differences of Ambion that we
expect to use. The goodwill recognized is not deductible
for federal income tax purposes.
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The net assets and results of operations of Ambion have
been included in our consolidated financial statements
since the date of the acquisition, and have been allocated
to the Applied Bicsystems group. The following selected
unaudited pro forma financial information for the Company
and the Applied Biosystems group has been prepared
assuming the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of
fiscat 2005 and gives eifect to purchase accounting
adjustments:

(Dollar amounts in millions
except per share amounts) 2006

Applied Biosystems Inc.

Net revenues $1,986.5
MNet income 197.2
Applied Biosystems Group

Net revenues $1,948.3
Net income, as allocated 2588
Basic earnings per share +.38
Diluted earnings per share 1.35

There was no financial impact to the Celera group related
to this acquisition.

In fiscal 2008, the Applied Biosystems group recorded
approximately $4 million of amortization of intangible
assets related to this acquisition. On consummation of the
acquisition, the Applied Biosysterns group recorded a $3.4
million non-cash charge to write-off the value of acquired
IPR&D, which has been included in the pro forma results
sbove. See Note 2 to our consolidated financial
statements for additional information related to the
acquired IPR&D charge. This unaudited pro forma data is
for informational purposes only and may not be indicative
of the actual results that would have occurred had the
acquisition been consummated at the beginning of fiscal
2005 or of the future operations of the combined
companies.

Note 4 — Pending Merger with Invitrogen
{Unaudited)

On June 11, 2008, we entered into an Agreement and
Plan of Merger with Invitrogen Corporation and Atom
Acquisition, LLC, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
Invitrogen. Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Invitrogen Merger Agreement, we will merge with and
into Atom Acquisition, with that entity continuing as the
surviving entity and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of
invitrogen. Upon completion of the transaction, Invitrogen
will expand its board of directors from nine to twelve
members and appoint three of our current directors to the
board of Invitrogen. The parties currently expect the
merger ta be completed in the fall of 2008, subject o
satisfactions of the conditions specified in the Merger
Agreement.

Under the terms of the Invitrogen Merger Agreement,
holders of Applied Biosystems stock will receive $17.10in
cash and 0.4543 shares of Invitrogen commeon stock for
each share of Applied Biosystems stock they own.
Alternatively, holders of Applied Biosystems stock may
elect to receive either $38.00 in cash, or 0.8261 shares of
invitrogen commaon stock, for each share of Applied
Biosystemns stock they own, subject to proration. If the
20-day volume-weighted average price per share, or
VWAP, of Invitrogen's common stock is below $46.00
three business days prior to the close of the transaction,
each holder of Applied Biosystems stock will also receive
an additional cash payment of up to $2.31 with respect 1o
each share of Invitrogen common stock it receives in the
merger. The actual amount of this additional cash
paymeni will be based on a formula set forth in the
Merger Agreerment, and is intended to maintain a toial
value of $38.00 per share of Applied Biosystermns stock, for
holders who are paid all or part of the merger
consideration in shares of Invitrogen commaon stock, if the
Invitrogen VWAP three business days prior to the closing
is within the range of $43.69 to $46.00.

Completion of the Invitrogen merger is subject to
conditions specified in the Merger Agreement, including
{i) adoption of the Merger Agreement by the Company’s
stockholders, {ii} Invitrogen stockholders’ approval of the
issuance of shares of Invitrogen's common stock in the
merger and gpprovat of an amendment to Invitrogen’s
certificate of incorporation to increase the number of
authorized shares of Invitrogen's common stock, (iii) the
effectivenass of Invitrogen's registration statement on
Form 5-4 with respect to the merger and the issuance of
Invitrogen's common stock in the merger, and (iv) the
receipt of approval for the European Community Merger
Regulation as well as certain other foreign antitrust or
competition laws.

The Merger Agreement may be terminated under certain
circumstances, including, subject to the terms of the
Meiger Agreement, if our board of directors determines to
accept an unsolicited “superior proposal” (as that term is
defined in the Merger Agreement). The Merger
Agreement provides that, if the Merger Agreement is
terminated under certain circumstances, we or Invitrogen
will be required to pay the other a termination fee of $150
million.

The Company has and is expected to continue to incur
expenses in connection with the merger agreement and
the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.
These expenses, including professional fees for legal and
investment banking services, will be recorded by the
Company in the period the expenses are incurred.




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — {Continued) Apptied Biosystems Inc.

At ihe effective time of the merger, each outstanding
unexpired and unexercised option to purchase or acquire
shares of Applied Biosystems stock, whether or not
vested or subject to any performance condition that has
not been satisfied, will vest and become fully exercisable

. and converted into an option to purchase shares of
invitrogen common stock. Additionally, each restricted
share of Applied Biosystems stock and right to receive
Applied Biosystems stock under a stock unit award,
whether or not subject to any performance condition that
has not been satisfied, will vest in full at the effective time
of the merger and be converted into the right to receive
the mixed consideration consisting of Invitrogen commaon
stock and cash. The Company will be required to record a
charge for any unvested options, restricted shares or
stock unit awards that vest as a result of the merger in the
period the merger is completed.

As the merger of Invitrogen with Applied Biosystems is
expected to occur within the two year period following the
Celera separation, the Celera separation may result in a
tax liability. U.S. tax law provides that the Celera
separation was taxable to Applied Biosystemns if it was
part of a plan {or series of related transactions) under
which Invitrogen acquired Applied Biosystems. There is a
rebuttable presumption that a separation occurring within
two years of an acquisition of one of the separated parties
is part of such a plan. The Company believes that the facts
and circumstances support the conclusion that the two
wransactions are separate and distinct events from each
other and therefore the merger should not cause the
Celera separation to be taxable to Applied Biosystems.
Howevaer, the IRS may challenge the tax free treatment of
Applied Biosystems in the Celera separation. As
measured in accordance with the principles of FASB
Interpretation No. (“FIN"} 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty
in Income Taxes - an interpretation of FASB Statement

No. 109,” the estimated potential tax exposure as a result
of the Celera separation could be $50 million. The amount
of any reserve ultimately required will depend on a
determination of the poiential taxable gain on the Celera
separation, an assessment of the facts and circumstances
surrounding the Celera separation and the events
following the Celera separation, including transactions
entered into by either Applied Biosystems or Celera.

Note 5 — Income Taxes

Income before income taxes from continuing operations
for fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006 is summarized below:

{Doltar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 2006
Domestic* $2539 §£ 550 $61.0
Foreign 177.2 1282 1942
Total $431.1  §223.2 §215.2

* 1.5. and foreign entities includable in U.S. returas.

Our provision (benefit) for income taxes from continuing
operations for fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006 consisted of
the following:

{Dollar amounts in millicas) 2008 2007 2006
Currently Payable

Domestic $214 %339 3% 80
State 0.7 28 2.1

Foreign 371 315 353
Total currently payable 59.2 68.2 45.4
Deferred

Domestic 152.3 32.5 5.3
State 49 2.0 (46.9)
Foreign 0.9 {30.2) {1.1)
Total deferred 158.1 43 42.7)
Total provision for income taxes $2173 §725 § 27

A reconciliation of the federal statutory tax rate to the Company's, the Applied Biosystems group’s and the Celera group’s
tax rate on continuing operations for fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006 is set forth in the {ollowing table:

Applied Biosystems Group

Celera Group Consolidated

2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

3%% 35% 35% 35% 35% 35% 35%

{Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007
Federal statutory rate 35% 35%
Tax at federal statutory raie
State income taxes (net of federal benefit) 35 2.7
Effect on income taxes from

Singapore operations (16.4) 13.3)
Effect on income taxes from other

foreign operations (3.3) 6.4)
Effect on income taxes from U.S. export

and manufacturing incentives (5.9) {4.5)
Goodwill and intangibles 40.3
R&D tax credit (5.1) {0.8)
Valuation allowance (21.1)
Tax settlements {3.0) {1.5)
Other 32 2.1

$156.0 % 9086 $111.0 $i(5.0) $(123} $(35.7} $150.9 $781 3753

26 0.1 0.4 0.4 3.6 31 3.0

{12.6} {16.4) (13.3) (12.5)
16.0 (3.3) (B4 16.0
{5.0) (59} (4.5 5.0

1.6 (0.9) {0.9} 394 0.7

{6.3) 0.3 (2.9) (3.4} (4.8) (3.7} 9.7}
{22.2) 90.6 90.6 (211} (22.2}

{45.7) {3.0) (1.5} (457

2.6 24 C.3 0.2 5.6 24 28

Total provision (benefit) for income taxes
from continuing operations

$129.0 3881 $ 421 $884 3(154) $(39.4) $217.3 $7256 § 2.7

B1
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In fiscal 2008, we recorded a net tax charge of $83.5
million, comprised of $7.8 million in tax benefits recorded
at the Applied Biosystems group, offset by a tax charge of
$91.3 million recorded at the Celera group. The net charge
of $83.6 million resulted from the establishment of a
$90.6 million valuation allowance on the Celera group's
federal deferred assets, net benefits of $8.9 million
related to completed IRS and foreign audits, as well as a
tax charge of $1.8 million primarily related to the
recalculation of deferred tax assets as a result of 3
decrease in the statutory tax rate in Germany.

In fiscal 2007, we recorded tax benefits of $25.2 million,
primarily resulting from valuation allowance releases and
foreign tax audit settlernents. The valuation allowance
releases were due to management’s reassessment of the
future realization of foreign tax credits and net operating
loss carryforwards. We recorded a tax benefit of $13.9
millien related to a reduction in the valuation allowance for
some German and Brazilian net operating loss
carryforwards, $6.1 million of foreign tax credits, $1.5
million of foreign tax audit settlements, and $1.4 million of
R&D credits. Tax benefits identified during the tax return
preparation accounted for $2.3 million of the remaining tax
benefits recorded. $23.8 million of the tax benefits were
recorded at the Applied Biosysterns group and $1.4 million
were recorded at the Celera group.

We have two tax exemption grants for our manufacturing
operations in Singapore. One grant expired on August 14,
2007, and the other grant expires after fiscal year 2014.
The Singapore tax exemptions benefited fully diluted
earnings per share by $0.09 for fiscal 2008, $0.07 for fiscal
2007, and $0.06 for fiscal 2006.

For fiscal 2008, we have not provided deferred taxes on
$262.9 milticn of undistributed earnings of foreign
subsidiaries, as it is our plan to indefinitely reinvest these
earnings in our foreign subsidiaries. However, from time
to time we repatriate a porticn of earnings to the extent
that we will not incur a material additional U.S. tax liability.
Quantiiication of the deferred tax liability, if any,
associated with indefinitely reinvested earnings is not
practicable.

Significant components of deferred tax assets and
liabilities at June 30 are summarized below;

{Dollar amounts in millions} 2008 2007

Deferred Tax Assets

Depreciation $ 328 § 210
Inventories 38.7 28.2°
Pension and postretirement benefits 346 44.0
Unrealized losses on investments 2.4 2.2
Other accruals 68.6 57.1
Tax credit and loss carryforwards 768 1516
Capitalized R&D expense 2289 2419
State taxes, net of federal benefit* 30.8 22.7
Subtotal 513.7 568.7
Valuation allowance (124.9}) (26.9)
Total deferred tax assets 388.8 5422
Deferred Tax Liabilities

Other accruals 0.4 155
Intangible assets 53.3 18.0
Total deferred tax liabilities 53.7 335

Total deferred tax assets, net $ 3351 $508.7

° Represents state tax deferred assets not included in the above categories

We have U.S. federal loss carryforwards as a result of
various acquisitions of approximately $90.6 million that
will expire between fiscal 2013 and 2023. The Internal
Revenue Code has limited the amount of acquired net
operating loss carryforwards that can be used annually to
offset future taxable income as a result of these
acquisitions. We do not anticipate ihat any of these loss
carryforwards will expire due to Internal Revenue Code
limitations, We also have U.S. federal minimum tax credit
carryforwards of $1.1 million with no expiration date, and
toss carryforwards of approximately $53.1 million in
various foreign countries with varying expiration dates.

Our worldwide valuation allowance of $124.9 mitlion at
June 30, 2008, is detailed in the following table. The
valuation allowance increased by $38.4 million in fiscal
2008, primarily due to the establishment of a valuation
allowance against the net deferred assets of the Celera
group, as well as changes to the state and foreign
valuation allowances. At June 30, 2007, our valuation
allowance was $26.5 million, which consisted of $22.7
million related to state deferred tax assets and $3.8 miltion
related to foreign tax losses. In fiscal 2007, the valuation
allowance decreased by $21.1 million primarily due to the
release of a portion of the foreign valuation allowance,
Changes in business operations allowed us to determine
that we would more likely than not be able to realize our
deferred tax assets in U.S. foreign tax credits as well as
German and Brazilian net operating loss carryforwards and
we therefore released the valustion allowance on those
assets.
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Our deferred tax assets include benefits expected from the utilization of net operating losses and credit carryforwards in
the future. The following table identifies the various deferred tax asset components and the related allowances that
existed at June 30, 2008. Due to time limitations on the ability to realize the benefit of the carryforwards, additional
portions of these deferred tax assets may become unrealizable in the future.

Deferred  Valuation Net Deferred Carryforward Earliest Fiscal
{Dallar amounts in millions) Tax Asset  Allowance Tax Asset Period Year of Expiration
Federal
Net operating losses $ 31.7 $ 317 $ — 15-20VYears 2013
R&D tax crediis 5.2 52 15-20 Years 213
Other tax credits 1.1 1.1 Unlimited
Temporary differences 3349 53.7 281.2
Total federal 3729 90.6 282.3
State
Net operating losses 5.8 4.9 09 Various 20098
Tax credits 28.5 6.5 22.0 Unlimited
Temporary differences 18.7 19.4 (0.7)
Total state 53.0 308 222
Foreign
Net operating losses 24.6 35 211 Unlimited
Other non-U.S. temporary differences 95 9.5
Total foreign 341 35 306
Total $460.0 $124.9 $335.1

We adopted the provisions of FIN 48 and FIN 48-1,

" Definition of Settlement in FASB Interpretation No 48
on July i, 2007. FIN 48 addresses the recognition and
measurement of uncertain income tax positions using a
“"more-likely-than-not” threshold and also requires
enhanced disclosures in the financial statements. FIN 48-1
amends FIN 48 to provide guidance on how companies
should determine whether a tax position is effectively
settled for the purpose of recognizing previously
unrecognized tax benefits.

As a result of our adoption of FIN 48, we recognized a
$34.0 million increase in our fiscal 2008 béginning retained
earnings relating to our uncertain tax positions. The total
amount of unrecognized tax benefits at July 1, 2007 was
$67.9 million, of which $33.3 million would atfect the
effective tax rate if recognized. We recognize interest and
penaities related to uncertain tax positions in our provision
for income taxes. During the year ended June 30, 2008,
we charged approxirmately $0.9 million in interest. We had
approximately $1.0 million for the payment of interest and
penalties accrued at June 30, 2008. Although our tax
filings are under continual examination by the tax
authorities and we regularly assess our tax uncertainties,
tax examinations are inherently uncertain,

During fiscal 2008, the IRS completad its audit of our
fiscal years 2001 through 2005. The net decrease in our
unrecegnized tax benefits of $36.3 million was primarily
related to the completion of the IRS audit as well as
foreign audits. As a result, at June 30, 2008, the total
amount of unreccognized tax benefits was $31.6 million, of
which $20.0 million would affect the effective tax rate, it
recognized. The impact to our cash flow was immaterial.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of
unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

{Dollar amounts in millions)

Unrecognized income tax benefits at July 1, 2007 $679
Deacreases from prior period positions (43.1)
Increases from current period positions 6.8
Unrecognized income tax benefits at June 30, 2008 $31.6

The U.S. statutes of limitation are open for the fiscal tax
years 2004 forward. Qur major foreign jurisdictions are
subject 1o examination for the tax years 2002 forward.
Due to the complex and uncertain examination process,
the resolution of such examinations could have a material
impact on our results of operations.
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Note 6 —Retirement and Other Benefits

Pension Plans, Retiree Healthcare, and Life
Insurance Benefits

We maintain or sponsor pension plans that cover a portion
of our worldwide employees. Pension benefits earned are
generally based on years of service and compensation
during active employment. However, the level of benefits
and terms of vesting may vary among plans, We
determine the required funding of the pension plans in
accordance with statutory funding requirernents. We also
sponsor nongualified suppiemental benefit plans for select
U.S. employees in addition to our-principal pension plan.
These supplemental plans are unfunded.

Our domestic pension plan covers U.S. employees hired
prior to July 1, 1999. The accrual of future service benefits
for all participants was frozen as of June 30, 2004.
Benefits earned under the plan will be paid out under
existing plan provisions.

Our postretirement benefit plan is unfunded and provides
healthcare and life insurance benefits to domestic
employees hired prior to January 1, 1993, who retire and
satisfy certain service and age reguirements. Generally,
medical coverage pays a stated percentage of most
medical expenses, and in some cases, participants pay a
co-payment. Benefits are reduced for any deductible and
for payments made by Medicare or other group coverage.
We share the cost of providing these benefits with
retirees.

As of June 30, 2007, we adopted the provisions of SFAS
No. 168, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment
of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R).” SFAS
No. 158 requires an employer to recognize the overfunded
or underfunded status of a defined benefit postretirement
plan as an asset or liability in its statement of financial
positicn and recognize changes in the funded status in the
year in which the changes occur through comprehensive
income. We use a June 30 measurement date for our
pension and postretirement benefit plans. The impact of
applying SFAS No. 158 to our balance sheet as of

June 30, 2007 was to reduce our stockholder's equity by
$51.7 million.

The components of net pension and postretirement benefit expenses for fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006 are set forth in the

following table:

Pension Postretirement

{Dollar amounts in milliens) 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
Service cost $ 38 $ 35 $ 32 $0.2 $02 $0.2
Interest cost 45.6 43.9 36.6 35 3.8 3.2
Expected return on plan assets {49.0) {46.7) (39.2)
Amortization of prior service cost 1.0 0.8 0.2
Amortization of (gains} losses 26 5.1 9.0 {0.3) 0.1
Special termination benefits and other 05 (0.3} 0.1
Net periodic expense $ 45 $ 63 $ 99 $3.7 $35 $3.5
Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit

Obligations Recognized in Other

Comprehensive Income:
Actuarial (gains) losses $236 5 — $ — $(0.9) $ — $§—
Amortization of prior service cost {1.0}
Amortization of losses (2.6}
Total recognized in other comprehensive income*  § 20.0 $ — 5 — 5(0.9) $ — 3 —
Total Recognized in Net Periodic Expense ’

and Other Comprehensive Income $ 245 $ 63 $ 99 $28 $35 %35

* Amounts represent the pre-tax effect included within other comprehensive income. The nat of tax amounts ara included within the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity.
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The following weighted-average actuarial assumptions were used for the pension and postretirement plans for the fiscal

years ended June 30;

Domestic Plans

Foreign Plans

2008 2007 2008 2008 2067 2006
Discount rate used to determine benefit obligation:
Pension 6.50% 6.25% 6.50% 2.25-6.25% 2.00-5.25% 2.25-4.75%
Postretirement 6.25% 6.00% 6.25%
Discount rate used to determine net benefit cost:
Pension 6.25% 6.50% 5.25% 2.00-5.25% 2.25-475% 1.75-4.75%
Postretirement 6.00% 6.25% 5.00%
Compensation increase —% —% —% 1.75-3.25% 1.75-3.50% 1.15-3.50%

Expected rate of return*

6.25-8.50% 6.50-8.50% 5.258.50%

2.75-5.00% 1.00-4.25% 1.00-4.25%

* 65.50%-8.50% tor domestic pension plan for fiscal 2009,

The following tables set forth the changes in the benefit obligations and the plan assets, the funded staius of the plans,
and the amounts recorded in aur Consolidated Statements of Financial Position at June 30:

{Dallar amounts in millions)

Pension Postretirement

2008

2007 2008 2007

Change in Benefit Obligation

Benefit obtigation, beginning of year $750.6 37005 $594 3535
Service cost 38 3.5 0.2 0.2
Interest cost 45.6 43.9 35 3.6
Participanis’ contributions 0.4 04 20 2.0
Benefits paid (47.0} (42.7) (7.7} (8.5)
Actuarial {gain} loss {74} 138 (0.8} 1.3
Variable annuity unit value change (38.1) 317
Foreign currency translation and other 9.3 (0.5) 1.2 1.3
Benefit obligation $717.2 37506 $57.8 3594
Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year $7284 36724 § — 3 —
Actual return on plan assets {21.2) 956
Participants’ contributions 05 04 2.0 2.0
Company contributions 2.7 2.8 45 5.1
Benefits paid {45.3) (42.0) (65) (7.1
Foreign currency translation and other 3.5 (0.8)
Fair value of plan assets $6686 37284 $ — 3 —
Funded Status ${48.6} $(22.2) $(57.8) 3(59.4)
Amounts Recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
Other long-term assets $209 $386 $ — 3 —
Accrued benefit liability {1.5) 4 (54 54
Other long-term liabilities (68.0) (59.4) (52.4)} (54.0
Net amount recognized $(48.6) ${22.2) $(57.8) $(59.4)
Supplemental Information
Accumulated benefit obligation $705.2 37428 $57.8 $594
Selected Information for Plans with Accumulated Benefit Obligations

in Excess of Plan Assets
Accumulated benefit obligation $689.7 37297 $578 $534
Projected benefit obligation 699.0* 7344** 57.8 59.4
Fair value of plan assets 6429 7087

Included $44.1 millien related 1o the U.S. nonqualified plans at Jure 30, 2008.
** Included $40.1 millien related to the U.S. nonquahtied plans at Jure 30, 2007.
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The components of the amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income at June 30 and the amounts in
accumulated other comprehensive income expected to be amortized into fiscal 2009 net periodic benefit expense are as

follows:

Dolar armounts in milions)

Pension Postretirement
2008 2007 2008 2007

Components of Accumulated Other Comprehensive {income) Loss

Prior service cost
Transition obligation
Actuarial {gains) losses

$ 69 $ 69 $§ — $ —
0.6 06
118.3 973 (6.3) (5.4}

Total

$124.8 31048 $(6.3) $(5.4)

Amounts Expected to be Amortized into Fiscal 2009 Net Periodic Benefit Expense

Prior service cost $ 10 $ -
Actuarial (gains) losses 2.0 {0.2)
Tota! $ 30 $(0.2)

Our domestic pension plan weighted-average target range for fiscal 2008 and actual demestic and foreign pension plan
asset allocation at June 30, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

Domestic Plan Foreign Plans

Percentage of Plan Assets Target Range Percentage of Plan Assets

2008 2007 2008 2008 2007
Equity securities 41% 44% 39-47% 12% 12%
Fixed income securities 28% 25% 23-31% 83% 83%
Global balanced strategies te 15% 15% 12-18%
Hedge funds 15% 15% 12-18%
Cash and other 1% 1% 0-10% 5% 5%
Total 100% 100% 100% 100%

W Giobal balanced strategies are comprised of U.S. Jarge capital equity secunties, international developed eguity securities, high grade U.5. and global bonds, cash and, 10 a imited
extent, commedity funds. The investment managers for global balanced strateqies can, at their discretion, allocate funds between these asset classes.

Our asset investment goal for the domestic pension plan
is to achieve a long-term targeted rate of return consistent
with the ongoing nature of the plan’s liabilities. The plan’s
assets are invested so that the total portfolio risk
exposure and risk-adjusted returns meet the plan’s long-
term total return goal. A trustee adminisiers our pension
plan assets and investment responsibility for the assets is
assigned to outside investment managers. The plan’s
investment policy prohibits the use of derivatives for
speculative purposes. The assets of the plan are
periodically rebalanced toe remain within the desired target
allocations.

The expected rate of return on assets is determined
based on the historical results of the portfolig, the
expected investment mix of the plans’ assets, and
estimates of future long-term investment returns, and
takes into consideration external actuarial advice.

For postretirement benefits measurement purposes, a
8.8% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of
covered healthcare benefits was assumed for plan year
2009, gradually reducing to 6.0% in 2015 and thereafter. A
one percentage-point change in assumed healthcare cost
trend rates would have the following effects:

One Percentage- One Percentage-

{Dollar ameunts in millions) Point increase  Point Decrease

Effect on the total of service and

interest cost components $0.3 $(0.2)
Effect on postretirerment
benefit obligation 43 {3.8)

Our estimated future employer contributions, gross
expected benefit payments, and gross amount of annual
Medicare Part D federal subsidy expected to be received
at June 30, 2008, are as follows:

{Dollar amounts in millions) Pensicn  Postratirement
Employer Contributions

2009 $ 29 $ 56
Expected Benefit Payments

2008 $ 46.2 $ 66
2010 65.2 6.6
2011 47.0 6.7
2012 51.0 6.7
2013 62.0 6.6
2014 and thereafter 253.3 30.6
Expected Federal Subsidy Receipts

2009 $ 1.0
2010 1.0
2011 1.1
2012 1.2
2013 1.2
2014 and thereafter 5.9
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We do not generally fund pension plans when our
contributions would not be tax deductible. tn both fiscal
2008 and 2007, we made contributions of approximately
$3 million to our foreign pension plans and o our
nongualified supplemental U.S. benefit plans to cover the
amount of benefits to be paid during the fiscal year. In
fiscal 2006, we made voluntary contributions of
approximately $31 million to our pension plans, the
majority of which was to the gualified U.S. plan in order to
reduce the amount by which the U.S. plan was
underfunded. As a result of better than expected
investment returns and a higher discount rate, our
qualified U.S. pension plan was overfunded by
approximately $13 mitlion as of June 30, 2008, and $35
million as of June 30, 2007. Based on the level of our
contributions to the U.S. pension plan during previous
fiscal years, we do not expect {o have to fund our U.S.
pension plan in fiscal 2009 in order to meet minimum
statutory funding requirements.

Savings Plans

We provide a 401(k) savings plan for domestic employees
with a dollar-far-dollar matching of up 10 6% for savings
plan participants. Qur contributions to this plan, net of plan
forfeitures, were $16.5 million for fiscal 2008, $15.8
rillion for fiscal 2007, and $14.5 million for fiscal 2006.
We recorded expenses for foreign defined contribution
plans of $5.0 millicn in fiscal 2008, $3.7 million in fiscal
2007, and $3.2 million in fiscal 2006.

Postemployment Benefits

We provide some pastemployment benefits to eligible
employees, which generally include severance and
outplacement costs, disability, and medical-related costs
paid after employment but before retirement.

Note 7--Stockholders’ Equity
Capital Stock

We have two classes of common stock: Applied
Biosystems stock and Celera stock. These two classes of
stock, sometimes referred to as “tracking” stocks, were
intended 1o "track” or reflect the relative performance of
the Applied Biosystems group and the Celera group,
respectively. There was no single security that
represented the performance of the Company as a whole.
The Applied Biosystems group and the Celera group were
not separate legal entities, and holders of Applied
Biosystems stock and holders of Celera stock were all
stockholders of the Company. As a result, holders of
these stocks were subject to all of the risks associated
with an investment in the Company and all of its
businesses, assets, and liabilities.

On July 1, 2008, we completed the separation of all the
business, assets, and liabilities of the Cefera group into an
independent publicly-traded company as discussed in
Note 1. As a result of the separation, na shares of Celera
stock remain outstanding, and we no longer operate under
the former tracking stock structure.

At June 30, 2008 and 2007, we had one hillion authorized
shares of a class of common stock designated as Applied
Biosystems Group Common Stock, 225 million authorized
shares of a class of commaon stock designated as Celera
Group Common Stock, and 10 million authorized shares of
preferred stock. Of the 10 million authorized shares of
preferred stock, we previously designated 80,000 shares
of two series of participating junior preferred stock in
connection with our Stockholder Protection Rights
Agreement described below.

Treasury Stock

We have in the past repurchased shares of Applied
Biosystems stock and Celera stock. We may in the future
repurchase shares of Applied Biosystems stock. However,
under the terms of the merger agreement with Invitrogen,
we are generally prohibited from repurchasing any shares
of Applied Biosystems stock without the prior agreement
of Invitrogen.

In April 2007, we announced that our board of directors
authorized the repurchase of up to an additional 10% of
the outstanding shares of Applied Biosystems stock.
Subsequently, on August 8, 2007, we announced that our
board of directors increased this authorization to $1.2
billion, which at market prices on that date represented
approximately 20% of the outstanding shares of Applied
Biosystems stock, or double the authorization prior to the
increase. In accordance with this authorization, we
entered into an agreement with Morgan Stanley & Co.
Incorporated in August 2007 for the accelerated
repurchase of $600 mitlion of Applied Biosystems stock.
During the first quarter of fiscal 2008, we paid Morgan
Stanley approximately $602 millicn for this transaction, of
which $275 million was funded by loans payable and the
balance with cash. In October 2007, 16 million shares
were delivered to us under this agreement. In January
2008, Morgan Stanley exercised its option to settle the
accelerated share repurchase transaction prior to its
maturity and delivered to us an additional 1.9 mitlion
shares of Applied Biosystems stack, which supplements
the shares that were received in October 2007,

Repurchases have also been made under standing
resolutions of our board of directors to replenish shares of
Applied Biosystems stock and Celera stock issued under
our various stock plans. These resolutions, which have no
time restrictions, delegate authority to management to
purchase shares from time to time at price levels it deems
appropriate through open market or negotiated purchases,
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The following table provides transactions relating to our two classes of common stocks:

Applied Biosystems Stock Celera Stock

Treasury Stock

[Shares in millions) Issued Shares Shares  Issued Shares
Balance at June 30, 2006 213.2 31.8 77.3
Purchases of shares for treasury stock 5.2

Issuances of shares under stock plans 0.1 6.1) 1.7
Balance at June 30, 2007 213.3 30.9 79.0
Purchases of shares for treasury stock 17.9

Issuvances of shares under stock plans 0.1 (4.4} 1.0
Balance at June 30, 2008 2134 44.4 80.0

StockholderProtection Rights Agreement

In connection with our recapitalization in 1999, we
adopted a Stockholder Protection Rights Agreement (the
“Rights Agreement”} to protect stockholders against
abusive takeover tactics. The Rights Agreement provides
for the issuance of one right for every four shares of
Applied Biosystems stock {an “Applied Biosystems
Right”), which wiil allow holders to purchase

" one-thousandth of a share of our Series A participating

junior preferred stock at a purchase price of $425, subject
to adjustment {the “Series A Purchase Price”}, and one
right for every two shares of Celera stock (an “Celera
Right”), which will allow holders to purchase
one-thousandth of a share of our Series B participating
junior preferred stock at a purchase price of $125, subject
to adjustment {the "Series B Purchase Price”).

An Applied Biosysiems Right or an Celera Right will be
exercisable only if & person or group {"Acquiring Person”}:
(a) acquires 15% or more of the shares of Applied
Biosystems stock then outstanding or 15% or more of the
shares of Celera stock then outstanding or {b) commences
a tender offer that would result in such person or group
owning such number of shares.

If any person or group becomes an Acquiring Person, each
Applied Biosystems Right and each Celera Right will entitle
its holder to purchase, for the Series A Purchase Price or
the Series B Purchase Price, as applicable, a number of
shares of the related ¢lass of our common stock having a
market value equal to twice such purchase price.

If following the time a person or group becomes an
Acquiring Person, we are acquired in a merger or other
business combination transaction and we are not the
surviving corporation; any person consoclidates or merges
with us and all or part of the common stock is converted
or exchanged for securities, cash, or property of any other
person; or 50% or more of our assets or earnings power
is sold or transferred, each Applied Biosystemns Right and
each Celera Right will entitle its holder to purchase, for
the Series A Purchase Price or Series B Purchase Price, as
applicable, a number of shares of commaon stock of the
surviving entity in any such merger, consolidation, or

business combination or the purchaser in any such sale or
transfer having a market value equal to twice the Series A
Purchase Price or Series B Purchase Price.

The rights are redeemable at our option at one cent per
right prior to a person or group becoming an Acguiring
Person.

In connection with the signing of the merger agreement
with Invitrogen, the Company amended the Rights
Agreement to provide that the merger will not result in the
grani of rights to any person under the Rights Agreement
or enable, require, or cause any Applied Biosystems Right
to be exercised, distributed, or triggered under the Rights
Agreement,

Note 8—Share-Based Compensation

Share-Based Plans

As discussed in Note 1, we adopted the fair value
recognition provisions for share-based plans using the
modified prospective transition method provided by SFAS
No. 123R. As of June 30, 2008, approximately 9.0 million
shares of Applied Biosysterns stock and 5.5 million shares
of Celera stock were available for the grant of awards
under our share-based plans. We settle share-based
exercises primarily with treasury shares. The summary
below describes our share-based plans.

1999 Stock Incentive Plans

Our stockholders first approved the Applied Biosystems
Group 1999 Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan
(the " Applied Biosystems Group Plan”} and the Celera
Group 1999 Amended and Restated Stock Incentive Plan
{the "Celera Group Plan”} in April 1999. The Applied
Biosystems Group Plan authorizes grants of Applied
Biosystems stock options, restricted stock units, and other
equity awards. The Celera Group Plan authorizes grants of
Celera stock options, restricted stock units, and other
equity awards. Directors, officers, key employees, and
consultants with responsibilities involving both the Applied
Biosystems group and the Celera group may be granted
awards under both incentive plans in a manner which
reflects their responsibilities. Qur board of directors
believes that granting awards tied to the performance of
the group in which the participanis work and, in some
cases the other group, is in the best interests of both the
Company and its stockholders.
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Stock Options

Options granted to our employees allow them 1o purchase shares of Applied Biosystems stock and Celera stock under the
terms of the plans under which they were issued. In addition, members of our board of directors receive stock options for
their service on our board. Our stock options are issued at their fair market value at grant date. Most options vest equally

over a four-year service period and expire ten years from the grant date.

The following tables summarize option activity under our share-based plans for the fiscal years ended June 30:

Applied Biosysterms Stock

Weighted-Average

Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic
Number of Weighted-Average Contractual Life Value
Options Exercise Price in Years (In millions)
Qutstanding at June 30, 2005 35,348,668 $31.04
Granied 965,250 25.44
Exercised {7.149,474) 19.07
Cancelled {2,532,788) 48.84
Qutstanding at June 30, 2006 26,631,656 32.40 5.56 $246.9
Granted 1,937,450 33.81
Exercised (5,609,142} 20.22
Cancelled {695,537} 63.98
QOutstanding at June 30, 2007 22,364,427 34.74 4.99 149.7
Granted 389,600 33.30
Exercised (3,836,114) 20.33
Cancelted {687,293) 50.27
Qutstanding at June 30, 2008 18,230,620 37.15 4.24 $146.3
Vested and expected to vest at June 30, 2006* 26,447,180 32.45 5.54 24h 6
Vested and expected to vest at June 30, 2007* 21,774,499 34.83 4.87 148.7
Vested and expected to vest at June 30, 2008* 18,020,894 37.20 419 145.9
Exercisable ai June 30, 2006 ' 25,563,223 32.57 5.40 238.8
Exercisable at June 30, 2007 19,849,434 35.14 4.44 1486.0
Exercisable at June 30, 2008 16,331,720 372.73 3.74 142.4

* The expected to vest amourt represents the unvested opuons as of June 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006 less estimated forfeitures.

Celera Stock

Weighted-Average

Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic

Number of Weighted-Average Contractual Life Value

Options Exercise Price in Years {In millions}
Qutstanding at June 30, 2005 10,412,800 $19.09
Granted 80,300 11.51
Exercised (1,317,081} 9.63
Cancelled (1,273,845} 39.79

Qutstanding at June 30, 2006 7,902,194 17.44 5.34 $ 205
Granted 898,000 15.10
Exercised (1,400,838} 9.23
Cancelled (485,946) 28.02

Outstanding at Jure 30, 2007 6,913,410 18.05 4.88 13.1
Granted 212,900 14.98
Exercised (676,651} 8.77
Cancelled (268,128} 32.87

Quistanding at June 30, 2008 6,181,531 18.32 4,24 $ 71

Vested and expected to vest at June 30, 2006* 7,888,686 17.45 5.33 20.5

Vested and expected to vest at June 30, 2007* 6,704 416 18.15 4,74 131

Vested and expected to vest at June 30, 2008* 6,072,186 18.38 417 7.1

Exercisable at June 30, 2006 7,834,457 17.43 5.30 20.4

Exercisable at June 30, 2007 5,981,748 18.53 416 13.0

Exercisable at June 30, 2008 5,303,531 . 18.87 3.50 71

* The expected to vest amount represents the unvested opuons as of June 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006 less esumated forfaitures.
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The following tables summarize information regarding options cutstanding and exercisabte at June 30, 2008:

Weighted- Weighted-

Average Average

Number of Exercise Number of Exercise
(Option prices per share) Options Price (Option prices per share} Opticns Price
Applied Biosystems Stock Celera Stock
Options Outstanding Options Qutstanding
$1554-% 1891 2,304,723 $15.80 $ 580-% 9.3 1,952,328 $ 8.70
$19.15-% 20.42 1,894,787 20.11 $10.i6-% 11.31 1,861,102 10.46
$2066-% 25.58 6,091,667 22.72 $11.44-% 18.90 1,736,549 15.89
$26.62-% 35.99 4,169,523 30.69 $19.48-3$132.63 941,552 55.68
$36.04 - $108.31 3,769,920 89.23

Options Exercisable

Options Exercisable $580-% 913 1,952,328 $ 870
$15.54 -3 18.91 2,304,723 $15.80 $10.16-% 11.31 1,549,351 10.46
$19.15-% 20.42 1,859,749 2013 $11.44-% 1890 860,300 16.77
$2086-% 29.58 5,965,693 22.71 $12.48 - $132.63 941,552 55.68
$26.62 -3 35.99 2,464,135 29.09
$36.04 - $108.31 3,737,420 89.68
Restricted Stock Units
In fiscal 2006, we started granting restricted stock units 10 grant date, we make an initial assessment of which
employees. These units represent rights to receive a performance targets will be met. During the performance
share of the corresponding class of common stock on period we continue to monitor whether our initial
satisfaction of the applicable vesting conditions. The fair assaessment is still valid and we adjust our accruals if it
value of the units is determined and fixed on the grant becomes apparent that a different target level is more
date based on the applicable class of common stock. likely to be achieved. By the end of the requisite period,
Restricted stock units with service conditions vest in four compensation cost is recognized to the extent the
equal annual instaliments. Restricted stock units with performance target is ultimately achieved. The following
performance conditions vest in various increments tables summarize restricted stock unit activity under our
following the end of our fiscal year based on the terms of share-based plans for the fiscal years ended June 30:

the awards and attainment of performance targets. At

Applied Bigsystemns Stock

Weighted-Average

Weighted-Average Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic

Number of Grant-Date Contractual Life Value

Units Fair Value in Years {{n millions)
Qutstanding at June 30, 2005 E —
Granted 1,187,173 26.78
Vested (141,675) 26.62
Cancelied (56,545) 26.62

Qutstanding at June 30, 2006 988,953 26.81 1.77 $32.0
Granted 603,825 34.40
Vested (240,779} 26.63
Cancelled (164,686) 28.62

QOutstanding at June 30, 2007 1,187,313 30.45 1.63 36.4
Granted 1,219,727 33.10
Vested (448,752) 33.49
Cancelled (172,3586) 30.31

QOutstanding at June 30, 2008 1,785,932 31.51 1.63 $60.0

Vested and expected to vest at June 30, 2006* 946,167 26.81 1.64 30.5

Vested and expected to vest at June 30, 2007* 987,315 30.15 1.50 306

Vested and expected to vest at June 30, 2008* 1,707,541 31.89 1.60 57.3

* The expected tc vest amount represents the unvested rastricted stock units as of June 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006 less estimated forfeitures.
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Celera Stock

Weighted-Average
Weighteg-Average Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic
Nurnber of Grant-Date Contractual Life Value
Units Fair Value in Years (In millions)
Qutstanding at June 30, 2005 $ —
Granted 461,470 11.41
Cancelled (2,375) 12.67
Qutstanding at June 30, 2006 459,095 11.41 2.46 $ 589
Granted 208,085 15.05
Vested (82,770) 12.02
Cancelled (18,779} 12.52
Qutstanding at June 30, 2007 565,631 12.62 1.78 7.0
Granted 988,595 13.88
Vested (244,130} 13.37
Cancelled {121,219} 13.75
Outstanding at June 30, 2008 1,188.877 11.44 146 $13.8
Vested and expected to vest at June 30, 2006* 365,844 11.41 2.37 46
Vested and expected to vest at June 30, 2007* 465,162 12.57 1.66 5.8
Vested and expected to vest at June 30, 2008* 1,183,048 13.77 1.47 13.6

Employee Stock Purchase Plans

Qur employee stock purchase plans oifer U.S. and some
non-U.S. employees the right to purchase shares of
Applied Biosystemns stock and/or Celera stock. Employees
are eligible to participate through payroll deductions of up
to 10% of their compensation. In the U.S., shares are
purchased at 85% of the lower of the average market
price at the beginning or the end of each three-month
offering period. Provisions of the plan for employees in
countries outside the U.S. vary according to local practice
and regulations. Under the provisions of SFAS No. 123R,
we recorded expense under these stock purchase plans
of $2.7 million in fiscal 2008, $2.6 million in fiscal 2007,
and $2.2 million in fiscal 2006. The following table
presents shares issued under the employee stock
purchase plans for the fiscal years ended June 30:

{Shares in thousands) 2008 2007 2006

Applied Biosystems stock 328 322 334
Celera stock 248 242 335

In connection with the proposed merger with Invitrogen,
- we have discontinued new offerings under the Employee
| Stock Purchase Plan.

* The expected to vest amount represents the unvested restricted stock units as of June 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006 iess estmated forfeitures.

As of June 30, 2008, we had $64.2 million of total unrecognized compensation costs related 10 nonvested awards and
restricted stock units that are expected 1o be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately two years.

Director Stock Purchase and Deferred
Compensation Plan

We have a Director Stock Purchase and

Deferred Compensation Plan that permits our
non-employee directors to apply all or a portion of their
annual retainer and other board fees to the purchase of
common stock. Purchases of Applied Biosystems stock
and Celera stock are made in a ratio approximately equal to
the number of shares of Applied Biosystems stock and
Celera stock outstanding. The purchase price is the fair
market value on the date the retainer is earned. At

June 30, 2008, we had 81,418 shares of Applied
Biosystems stock and 26,821 shares of Celera stock that
have been deferred under our 1993 Director Stock
Purchase and Deferred Compensation Plan and are treated
as vested stock units for accounting purposes. At June 30,
2008, we had approximately 288,000 shares of Applied
Biosystems stock and approximately 68,000 shares of
Celera stock available for issuance under this plan.

Restricted Stock

As part of our stock incentive plans, employees and
non-employee directors have been granted shares of
restricted stock that vest when certain continuous
employment/service restrictions and/or specified
performance geals are achieved. The fair value of shares
granted is generally expensed over the restricted periods.
The periods may vary depending on the estimated
achievement of performance goals.
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The following table summarizes nonvested share activity under our share-based plans during the fiscal years ended

June 30;

Applied Biosystems Stock

Celera Stock

Weighted-Average Weighted-Average
Number of Shares  Grant Date Fair Value Number of Shares  Grant Date Fair Value
Nonvested at June 30, 2005 209,448 $20.98 60,834 $10.42
Granted 23,400 23.25 9,000 11.78
Vested (143,782} 21.10 {53.112} 10.40
Nonvesied at June 30, 2006 89,066 $21.47 16,722 $11.20
Granted 259,335 3168 110,115 14,02
Vested {141,461} 29.08 {50,427} 13.45
Cancelled {16,250} 21.02
Nonvested at June 30, 2007 190,690 $29.75 76.410 $13.78
Granted 26,000 35.51 10,000 12.73
Vested {107,045} 31.41 {42,705} 14.09
Nonvested at June 30, 2008 109,645 $29.49 43,705 $13.24

The total fair value of shares that vested during fiscal 2008 was $4.0 million.

Performance Unit Bonus Plan

We adopted a Performance Unit Benus Plan in fiscal 1997.

This plan authorizes a performance unit bonus pool that is
tied to the grant of corresponding options under our
Applied Biosystems Group Plan and cur Celera Group
Plan. Performance units granted under the plan represent
the right to receive cash from us at a specified date in the
future. The amount of the payment for each grant is
determined on the date of grant. Performance units can
be granted in relation 1o Applied Biosystems stock or
Celera stock. The performance units vest when the
applicable class of common stock reaches and maintains
specified price levels, based on its moving average price,
for a specified period.

We did not grant any performance units in fiscal 2008,
2007, or 2006. As a result of performance targets being
achieved in each fiscal year, we recognized compensation
expense of $1.6 million in fiscal 2008, $2.0 million in fiscal
2007, and $0.7 million in fiscal 2006.

Note 9 —Additional Information

Selected Accounts

The following table provides the major components of
selected accounts of the Consolidated Statements of
Financial Position at June 30:

{Dollar armounts in millions) 2008 2007
Other Long-Term Assets

Noncurrent deferred tax asset, net $313.8 $499.1
Investment in unconsolidated subs 251 35.1
Prepaid pension benefit cost 20.9 38.6
Other 90.9 62.3
Total other long-term assets $450.7 3$635.1
Other Accrued Expenses

Deferred revenues $1281 31079
Rovyalties 38.3 356
Other 1589 1261
Total other accrued expenses $325.3 $269.6
Other Long-Term Liabilities

Accrued postretirement benefits $ 524 §$ 563
Accrued pension benefits 68.0 50.4
Deferred compensation 34.0 35.6
Other 89.4 62.0
Total other long-term Habilities $243.8 $213.3
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Assets Held for Sale

In connection with the Celera group's decision to exit its
small molecule drug discovery and development programs
as discussed in Note 2, the Celera group decided to
pursue the sale of its South San Francisco, California
facility. As a result of this decision, in fiscal 2008, we
reclassified $11.5 million of property, plant and equipment
into assets held for sale, which is classified in other
current assets in our Consolidated Statements of Financial
Position, and recorded a $5.8 million pre-tax charge that
represented the write-down of the carrying amount of this
facility to its then estimated market value less estimated
selling costs. In fiscal 2007, we recorded an additional
$6.8 million pre-tax charge for the facility. In the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2008, we recorded an additional $0.3
million pre-tax charge that represented the write-down of

" the carrying amount of this facility to its then estimated
market value less estimated selling costs. The sale of this
tacility is expected to occur by June 30, 2009.

Note 10—Debt and Lines of Credit

We maintain a $250 million unsecured revolving credit
agreement with four banks that matures on May 25, 2012.
This amount was increased from $200 million effective
August 27, 2007, at our request in accordance with the
terms of the agreement. Borrowings under this
agreement may be made in U.S. dollars and other
currencies, and bear interest at a fluctuating rate generally
equal to Citibank, N.A.’s base rate or at a periodic fixed
rate equal to LIBOR plus a margin of between 15 and 32.5
basis points based on our long-term senior unsecured
non-credit enhanced debt ratings. Commitment and
facility fees are also based on our long-term senior
unsecured non-credit enhanced debt ratings. There were
no borrowings outstanding under this agreement at

June 30, 2008 and 2007,

On August 27, 2007, we eniered into a $100 million
unsecured term loan agreement with Bank of America,
N.A. that matures on September 4, 2008. Upon the
satisfaction of various conditions, we have the option 1o
extend the maturity date on this agreement to
September 4, 2010, If we exercise this option, we would
then be required to make partial repayments each quarter,
commencing after the original maturity date, equal to 3
percent of the original principal amount of the loan.
Borrowings under this agreement bear interest at a
fluctuating rate generally equal to Bank of America, N.A.'s
base rate or at a periodic fixed rate equal to LIBOR plus a
margin of between 20 and 40 basis points based on our
long-term senior unsecured non-credit enhanced debt
ratings. As of June 30, 2008, there was $100 million
cutstanding under this agreement, classified as loans
payable in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position.

Both the revolving credit agreement and the term loan
agreement require that we maintain a debt to total capital
ratio, as defined in each agreement, of not more than
0.60:1:00.

The amounts borrowed under the revolving credit
agreement and the unsecured term loan agreement with
Bank of America, N.A. were used to fund the repurchase
of shares of Applied Biosystems stock and were allocated
entirely to the Applied Biosystems group. See Note 7 to
our consolidated financial staterments for further
information related o our repurchase of shares.

The weighted average interest rate on all amounts
outstanding undes these agreements at June 30, 2008
was 4.26%.

In connection with the acquisition of BHL, we assumed
approximately $10.8 million of floating and fixed rate debt,
mostly secured by BHL's accounts receivable and other
certain fixed assets. As of June 30, 2008, $0.1 million in
unsecured debt remains. See Note 3 for additional
information on the BHL acquisition.

Note 11—Commitments, Contingencies, and
Guarantees

Future minimum payments at June 30, 2008, under
non-cancelable operating leases for real estate and
equipment were as follows:

{Dollar amounts in millions)

2009 $ 422
2010 338
201 208
2012 1.2
2013 9.6
2014 and thereafter 222
Total $139.8

We recorded rental expense of $51.4 million for fiscal
2008, $46.8 million for fiscal 2007, and $45.7 million for
fiscal 2006.

Guarantees

There are three types of guarantees related to our
business activities that are included in the scope of FIN
45, “Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, including indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, an interpretation
of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Nos. 5,
57, and 107 and rescission of FIN 34”; leases with
recourse provisions; the guarantee of pension benefits for
a divested business; and product warranties. See Note 1
to our consolidated financial statements for more
information on product warranties.
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Leases

We provide lease-financing options to our customers
through third party financing companies. For some leases,
the financing companies have recourse to us for any
unpaid principal balance on defauit by the customer. The
leases typically have terms of two to three years and are
secured by the underlying instrument. In the event of
default by a customer, we would repossess the
underlying instrument. We record revenues from thase
transactions on the completion of installation and
acceptance of products and maintain & reserve for
estimated losses on all lease transactions with recourse
provisions based on historical default rates and current
economic conditions. At June 30, 2008, the financing
companies’ outstanding balance of lease receivables with
recourse 1o us was $5.7 million. We believe that we could
recover the entire balance from the resale of the
underlying instruments in the event of default by all
customers.

Pension Benefits

As part of the divestiture of our Analytical Instruments
business in fiscal 1999, the purchaser of the Analytical
Insiruments business is paying for the pension benefits
for employees of a former German subsidiary. However,
we guaranteed payment of these pension benefits should
the purchaser fail tc do so, as these payment obligations
were not transferable to the buyer under German law. The
guaranteed payment obligation, which approximated $58
million at June 30, 2008, is not expected to have a
material adverse effect on ocur Consolidated Statements of
Financial Position.

Indemnifications

In the normal course of business, we enter into some
agreements under which we indemnify third parties for
intellectual property infringement claims or claims arising
irom breaches of representations or warranties. In
addition, from time to time, we provide indemnity
protection to third parties for claims relating to past
performance arising from undisclosed liabilities, product
liabilities, environmental obligations, representations and
warranties, and other claims. In these agreements, the
scope and amount of remedy, or the period in which
claims can be made, may be limited. It is not possible to
determine the maximum potential amount of future
payments, if any, due under these indemnities due to the
condtitional nature of the obligations and the unique facts
and circumstances involved in each agreement.
Historically, payments made related to these
indemnifications have not been material to our
consolidated financial position.

Legal Proceedings

We are involved in various tawsuits, arbitrations,
investigations, and other legal actions from time 1o time
with both private parties and governmental entities. These
legal actions currently involve, for example, commergial,
intellectual property, antitrust, environmental, securities,
and employment matters. The following is a description of
some claims we are currently defending, including some
counterclaims brought against us in response to claims
filed by us against others. We believe that we have
meritorious defenses against the claims currently asserted
against us, inclueding those described below, and intend to
defend them vigorously. However, the outcome of legal
actions is inherently uncertain, and we cannot be sure that
we will prevail in our detense of claims currently asserted
against.us. An adverse determination in the cases we are
currently defending, particularly the claims against us
described below under the heading “Commercial
Litigation,” could harm us.

Commercial Litigation

Enzo Biochem, Inc., Enzo Life Sciences, Inc., and Yale
University filed a patent infringement action against us in
the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut on
June 7, 2004. The complaint alleges that we are infringing
six patenis. Four of these patents are assigned to Yale
University and licensed exclusively to Enzo Biochem, i.e.,
U.S. Patent No. 5,476,928, entitled “Modified Nucleotides
and Polynucleotides and Complexes Form Therefrom,”
U.S. Patent No. 5,449,767, entitled “Modified
Polynuclectides and Methods of Preparing Same,” U.S.
Patent No. 5,328,824 entitled “Methods of Using Labeled
Nucleotides,” and U.S. Patent.No. 4,711,955, entitled
“Modified Nucleotides and Methods of Preparing and
Using Same.” These four patents have since expired. The
other two patents are assigned to Enzo Life Sciences, i.e.,
U.S. Patent No. 5,082,830 entitied “End Labeted
Nucleotide Probe” and U.S, Patent No. 4,994,373 entitled
“Method and Structures Employing Chemically - Labelled
Polynucleotide Probes.” The altegedly infringing products
include the Applied Biosystems group’s seguencing
reagent kits, its TagMan® genotyping and gene
expression assays, and the gene expression microarrays
used with its Expression Array System. Enzo Biochem,
Enzo Life Sciences, and Yale University are seeking
monetary damages, costs, expenses, injunciive relief, and
other relief as the court deems proper. In August and
September, 2007, the court issued a series of orders
favorable to us and dismissing all of these claims, but
Enzo may seek to appeal those orders to the United
States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit.

Molecular Diagnostics Laborataries filed a class action
complaint against us, Hoffmann-La Roche Inc., and Roche
Molecular Systems, Inc. in the U.S. District Court for the
District of Columbia on September 23, 2004, and fited an
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amended complaint on July &, 2006. The amended
complaint alleges anticompetitive conduct in connection
with the sale of Taq DNA polymerase. The anticompetitive
conduct is alleged to arise from the prosecution and
enforcement of U.S. Patent No. 4,889,818. This patent is
assigned to Roche Molecular Systemns, with whom we
have a commercial relationship covering, among other
things, this patent and the sale of Taq DNA polymerase.
The complaint seeks meonetary damages, costs,
expenses, injunctive relief, and other relief as the court
deems proper. On July 5, 2008, the court certified the
case as a class action.

We are involved in several legal actions with Thermo
Electron Corporation and its subsidiary Thermo Finnigan
LLC. These legai actions commenced when we, together
with MDS, Inc. and our Applied Biosystems/MDS
Analytical Technologies Instruments joint venture with
MDS, formerly named Applied Biosystems/MDS SCIEX
Instruments, filed a patent infringement action against
Thermo Electron in the U.S. District Court for the District
of Delaware on September 3, 2004. The complaint alleges
infringement by Thermo Electron of U.S. Patent

No. 4,963,736, and seeks monetary damages, costs,
expenses, and other relief as the court deems proper.
Thermo Electron has answered the complaint and
counterclaimed for declaratory relief that the "736 patent
is invalid, not infringed, and unenforceable, and is seeking
dismissal of our complaint, a judgment that the '736
patent is invalid, not infringed, and unenforceable, costs
and expenses, and other relief as the court deems proper.
After the filing of the action against Thermo Electron, on
Decernber 8, 2004, Thermo Finnigan filed a patent
infringement action against us in the U.S, District Court for
the District of Delaware. The complaint alleges that we
have infringed U.S. Patent No. 5,385,654 as a result of, for
example, the Applied Biosystems group's
commercialization of the ABI PRISM® 3700 Genetic
Analyzer. Thermo Finnigan is seeking monetary damages,
costs, expenses, and other relief as the court deerns
proper. We have answered the complaint and
counterclaimed for declaratory relief that the '654 patent
is invalid, not infringed, and unenforceable, and are
seeking dismissal of Thermo Finnigan's complaint, a
judgment that the '654 patent is invalid, not infringed, and
unenforceable, costs and expenses, and other relief as the
court deems proper. Thermo Finnigan subsequently filed a
second patent infringement action against us, MDS, and
the Applied Biosystems/MDS Anatytical Technologies
Instruments joint venture in the U.S. District Court for the
District of Delaware on February 23, 2005. The complaint
alleges that we and the other defendants have infringed
U.S. Patent No. 6,528,784 as a result of, for example, our
commercialization of the API 5000™ LC/MS/MS system.
Thermo Finnigan is seeking monetary damages, costs,
expenses, and other relief as the court deems proper. We
have answered the complaint and counterclaimed for
declaratory relief that the '784 patent is invalid and not
infringed, and are seeking dismissal of Thermo Finnigan’s

complaint, a judgment that the ‘784 patent is invalid and
not infringed, costs and expenses, and other relief as the
court deems proper.

We filed a complaint for patent infringement against
Michigan Diagnostics LLC on March 26, 2007, in the U.S.
District Court for the District of Massachusetts. We
amended the complaint on April 5, 2007. The amended
complaint alleges infringement by Michigan Diagnostics of
U.S. Patent Nos. 6,514,717, 6,322,727 and 6,107,024,
which are related o chemiluminescent products and
metihods, and seeks monetary damages, costs, expenses,
injunctive, and other relief as the court deems proper.
Michigan Diagnostics filed an answer and counterclaims
to our complaint on January 7, 2008, seeking a declaratory
judgment of non-infringement, invalidity, and
unenforceability of approximately 60 patents related to
chemiluminescent products and methods, and including
antitrust claims based on our alleged misconduct in our
alleged enforcement of those patents.

We filed a complaint on May 31, 2007, in the U.S. District
Court for the Northern District of California against
lliumina, Inc., Solexa Inc., and a former chief patent
counset to our company, seeking an injunction restoring to
us patents and patent applications that were filed by the
former chief patent counsel but are on their face assigned
to Seclexa, which was acguired by Illumina in January
2007. The complaint also seeks a declaration of our rights
and duties regarding infringement of these patents, in
addition to monetary damages, costs, expenses, and
other relief as the court deems proper. On August 13,
2007, Solexa filed its answer to the complaint and
counterclaimed that we make, use, sell, and offer for sale
DNA seguencing products that infringe the patents, U.S.
Patent Nos. 5,750,341, 5,969,119, 6,306,597, Solexa is
seeking monetary damages, costs, expenses, injunctive
relief, and other relief as the court deems proper.

On June 9, 2008, Fluidigm Corporation filed a complaint
against us in the U.S. District Court for the Southern
District of New York seeking a declaratory judgment of
non-infringement and invalidity of our U.S. Patent

No. 6,814,934, which relates to instruments for real-time
PCR detection. The complaint also seeks costs, expenses
and other relief as the court deems proper.

On June 30, 2008, Corbett Life Science, Corbett Robotics
Inc., and Corbett Research Pty Ltd. filed a complaint
against us in the U.S. District Court for the Northern
District of California seeking a declaratory judgment of
non-infringement, invalidity, and unenforceability of our
U.S. Patent No. 6,814,934, which relates ic instruments
for real-time PCR detection. The complaini also seeks
costs, expenses and other relief as the court deems
proper.
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Other Legal Proceedings

We and same of our officers are defendants in a lawsuit
broughi on behalf of purchasers of Celera stock in our
follow-on public gifering of Celera stock completed on
March 8, 2000. In the offering, we sold an aggregate of
approximately 4.4 million shares of Celera stock at a public
offering price of $225 per share. The lawsuit, which was
commenced with the filing of several complaints in April
and May 2000, is pending in the U.S. District Court for the
District of Connecticus, and an amended consolidated
complaint was filed on August 21, 2001. The consolidated
complaint generally alleges that the prospectus used in
connection with the offering was inaccurate or misleading
because it failed to adeguately disclose the alleged
oppasition of the Human Genome Project and two of its
supporters, the governments of the U.S. and the UK, to
providing patent protection to our genomic-based
produ¢ts. Although the Celera group never sought, or
intended to seek, a patent on the basic human genome
seguence data, the complaint also alleges that we did not
adequately disclose the risk that the Celera group would
not be able 10 patent this data. The consolidated complaint
seeks monetary damages, rescission, costs and
expenses, and other relief as the court deems proper. On
March 31, 2005, the court certified the case as a class
action.

Celera Separation Indemnity Provisions

On May 8, 2008, we entered into a Separation Agreement
with Cetera Corporation, at that time one of our wholly-
owned subsidiaries, to separate all of the business,
assets, and liabilities of the Celera group from our
remaining business. This separation was completed on
July 1, and Celera Corporation is now an independent
company that holds all of the business, assets, and
liabilities previously attributed to the Celera group.

Under the terms of the Separation Agreement, Celera
Corporation has agreed to indemnify us for losses we
incur in connection with the class action lawsuit relating to
the 2000 offering of Celera stock, described above. Celera
Corporation has also agreed 1o indemnify us for losses we
incur in connection with the Enzo Biochem/Enzo Life
Sciences/Yale University Molecular Diagnostics, Fluidigm,
and Corbett legal actions described above, but only to the
extent that, after a final resolution of these matters, the
losses are determined to relate to the business, assets, or
liabilittes of the Celera group. This determination,
however, would require the agreement of Celera
Corporation, and if agreement could not be reached we
would need to seek to resclve any dispute pursuant to the
procedures set forth in the Separation Agreement.
Accordingly, we cannot provide any assurances as to
whether or to what extent we may seek or obtain
indemnity payments from Celera Corporation for losses
incurred in connection with the Enzo Biochem/Enzo Life
Sciences/Yale University, Molecular Diagnostics, Fluidigm,

or Corbett legal actions. The Separation Agreement
contains similar provisions for future legal actions against
us that may involve both the Applied Biosystems and
Celera businesses, and for the same reasons it is
inherently uncertain whether we would be able to seek or
recover any indemnity payments from Celera Corporation
for losses incurred in any future legal actions. Under the
Separation Agreement the amount of any indemnity
payable to us for losses from any of these legal actions
would be reduced by the amount of any insurance
proceeds we receive covering the underlying loss, as well
as the tax benefit realized because of the loss.

Other than for items deemed not material, we have not
accrued for any potential losses in any of the legal
proceedings described above because we believe that an
adverse determination is not probable, and potential
losses cannot be reasconably estimated, in any of these
proceedings. However, the outcome of legal actions is
inherently uncertain, and we cannot be sure that we will
prevail in any of the proceedings described above or in our
other legal actions. An adverse determination in some of
our current legal actions, particularly the proceedings
described above, could have a material adverse effect on
us and our consolidated financial statements.

Note 12—Financial Instruments

Qur foreign currency risk management strategy uses
derivative instruments to hedge various foreign currency
forecasted revenues and intercompany transactions and
to offset the impact of changes in currency rates on
various foreign currency-denominated assets and
liabilities. The principal objective of this strategy is to
minimize the risks and/or costs associated with our global
financing and operating activities. We use forward, optian,
and range forward contracts to manage our foreign
currency expasures. Qur foreign currency exposures vary,
but are primarily ¢oncentrated in euro, Japanese yen, and
British pound. We do not use derivative financial
instruments for trading or speculative purposes nor for
activities other than risk management, and we are not a
party to leveraged derivatives.

We record the fair value of foreign currency derivative
contracts in either prepaid expenses and other current
assets or other accrued expenses in the Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position. '

Cash Flow Hedges

QOur international sales are typically denominated in the
focal currency of the customer, whether third party or
intercompany. We use forward, option, and range forward
contracts to hedge a portion of forecasted international
sales not denominated in U.S. dollars. We use hedge
accounting on the derivative contracts to offset changes in
the value of various forecasted sales transactions caused
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by the movements in currency rates. We designate these
contracts as cash flow hedges and we record the
eifective portion of the change in the fair value of these
contracts in other comprehensive income in the
Consolidated Staterments of Financial Position until the
underlying forecasted transaction affects earnings. At that
time, we reclassify to net revenues in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations the gain or loss on the
derivative instrument which had been deferred in
accumulated other comprehensive income. We
recognized a net loss of $24.8 million in fiscal 2008, a net
loss of $2.3 million in fiscal 2007, and a net gain of $12.9
million in fiscal 2006 in net revenues from derivative
instruments designated as cash flow hedges of
anticipated sales. At June 30, 2008, we recorded $11.5
million of net derivative losses in accumulated other
comprehensive income. This amount, which is net of tax,
is expected 10 be reclassified to revenues within the next
twelve months.

Because the critical terms of the derivative contracts
designated as cash flow hedges and the underlying
forecasted szles transactions are the same, we expect
that the changes in the value of the underlying exposure
will be offset completely by the changes in the fair value
of the derivative contracts, both at inception and on an
ongoing basis. Our ongoing assessment of hedge
effectiveness includes verifying and documenting that the
criticat terms of the hedge and forecasted transaction
have not changed. We recorded less than $0.1 million of
net losses during fiscal 2008 and 2007, and less than $0.1
rnillion of net gain during fiscal year 2006 due to hedge
ineffectiveness. The maximum maturity of our cash flow
hedges is twelve months. In fiscal 20086, we discontinued
hedge accounting for a small portion of our cash flow
hedges. As a result, we recorded a net gain of
approximaiely $0.1 million during both fiscal 2007 and
fiscal 2006 related to the discontinued portion of these
hedges.

Other Foreign Currency Derivatives

We also use derivative financial instruments to hedge the
impact resulting from changes in exchange rates on
various foreign currency-denominated net asset positions.
The gains and losses on these derivatives are expected to
largely offset transaction losses and gains on the
underlying foreign currency-denominated assets and
liabilities, both of which are recorded in other income
{expense), net in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The forward and option contracts used in managing our
foreign currency exposures have an element of risk in that
the counterparties may be unable to meet the terms of
the agreements. We attempt to minimize this risk by
limiting the counterparties to a diverse group of highly-

rated domestic and international financial institutions. In
the event of non-performance by these counterparties,
the carrying values of our financial instruments (see table
helow) represent the maximum amount of loss we would
have incurred as of our fiscal year-end. However, we do
not expect to record any losses as a result of counterparty
default. We do not require and are not required to pledge
collateral for these financial instruments. Other financial
instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations
of credit risk are cash and cash equivalents, short-term
investments, and accounts receivable. We attempt to
minimize the risks related to cash and cash equivalents
and short-term investments by using highly-rated financial
institutions that invest in a broad and diverse range of
financial instruments. We have established guidelines
relative to credit ratings and maturities intended to
maintain safety and liquidity.

Concentration of credit risk with respect to accounts
receivable is limited due to our large and diverse customer
base, which is dispersed over different geographic areas.
Allowances are maintained for potential credit losses and
such losses have historically been within our expectations.

Fair Value

We use various methods to estimate the fair value of
financial instruments we hold or own. The carrying
amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair
value. We use quoted market prices, if available, or
quoted market prices of financial instruments with similar
characteristics in valuing our short-term investments and
minority equity investments. The following table presents
the carrying amounts and fair values of our significant
financial instruments at June 30:

2008 2007

) Fair Fair
{Dollar amaunts in millions} Cost  Value Cost  Value

Cash and cash equivalents $589.0 $589.0 $323.2 $323.2
Short-term investments 2904 287.7 7341 7328
Currency forwards and options {0.6) {17.5) 29 26
Other investments 340 340 356 356
Minority equity investmenits 0.8 1.8 9.1 16.1

We report net unrealized gains and losses on short-term
investments and minority equity investments as a
separate component of accumulated other comprehensive
incame in the Consolidated Statements of Financial
Position.
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Note 13—Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)
The following is a summary of quarterly financial resuits:

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

{Oollar amounts in milfions except per share amounts) 2008(a) 2007{b} 2008{c) 2007{d) 2008(e} 2007(f} 2008(g} 2007(h}
Consolidated
Net revenues $516.7 $4854 $601.4 3$541.9 $591.4 $539.0 $652.0 $566.2
Gross margin 2924 261.3 3552 3025 3403 3029 3745 3143
Net income (loss) 61.7 (66.0) 86.6 74.5 75.2 70.9 (9.7} 799
Applied Biosystems Group
Net revenues $501.2 $476.3 $561.9 3$530.0 $552.6 $529.9 $609.0 $557.3
Gross margin 2799 2556 3267 2945 3143 2986 343.8 3086
Income {loss} from continuing opesations 609 (58.7} 863 74.8 829 75.5 86.5 79.3
Net income {loss} 609 (587} 86.3 74.8 829 75.5 86.5 87.8
Dividends declared per share $.0425 $0425 $.0425 $.0425 $.0425 $.0850 $.0425 § —
Incomne {loss) per share from continuing operations

Basic $033 $(032)$050 $041 $049 3041 $ 051 $ 043

Diluted $032 $(032) $049 $039 $048 $ 039 $ 050 $ 0.42
Net income per share

Basic $033 $3(032) $050 $041 $049 $ 041 $ 051 $ 0.48

Diluted $032 $3(032) $049 $ 039 $048 $ 039 $ 050 $ 0.46
Celera Group
Net revenues $161 $102 $403 $ 132 $395 5§ 98 $ 435 § 102
Gross margin 13.0 64 29.0 8.7 26.3 4.4 3.3 6.3
Net income (loss) 0.7 {7.1) 0.3 {0.5) {7.4) (4.5) {96.2) (7.8
Net income {loss) per share

Basic and diluted $ 001 $(0.09) $ 0.00 ${0.01) $10.09) $(0.068) ${1.20} $1010)
Price range of common stock
Applied Biosystems Group

High $35.00 $33.59 $37.67 $39.49 $34.73 $3759 $3554 $31.41

Low 2951 2986 3263 3248 2886 2835 2875 2779
Celera Group

High 1450 1469 1700 1561 16.46 1655 1588 1491

Low 11.39 1230 1393 1321 1290 1288 1135 1163

There were no dividends paid on Celera stock during the periods presented.

The following transactions impacied the comparability between fiscal 2008 and 2007 and are discussed in detail in Note 2.

{a)

{b)

{c

(s}]

(e}

The Applied Biosystems group recorded a pre-tax gain of $7.6 million primarily related to a settlement and licensing agreement. The
Applied Biosystems group also recorded tax charges of $1.8 million primarily related to the recalculation of deferred tax assets as a
result of & decrease in the statutory tax rate in Germany.

The Applied Biosystems group recorded a pre-tax charge of $114.3 million to write-off the value of acquired in-process research and
development in connection with the APG acquisition and also recorded a pre-tax charge of $9.1 million related to the resolution of a
legal dispute. The Applied Biosystems group recorded a tax benefit of $8.8 million related to a reduction in the valuation allowance for
German net operating loss carryforwards. The Celera group recorded a pre-tax charge of $3.5 million for its estimated share of a
damage award in continuing litigation between Abbott Laboratories, our alliznce partner, and !nnogenetics N.V.

The Applied Biosystems group recorded pre-tax items of $2.9 million related to severance charges and also recorded a gain of
approximately $2.6 million related to the sale of an investment. The Applied Biosystems group recorded tax charges of $0.5 miltion
refated to foreign tax settlements. The Celera group recorded a pre-tax charge of $0.4 million related to restructuring costs.

The Applied Biosystems group recorded pre-tax benefits of $7.8 million related to legal settlements. The Celera group recorded a $2 .4
million pre-tax benefit related to the settlement of a litigation matter associated with the Onling/Information Business and a pre-tax gain
of $2.5 million from the sale of a small molecule drug discovery and development program. In additicn, the Celera group recorded a
pre-tax charge of $2.5 million primarily related to additional restructuring costs associated with its decision to exit small molecule
discovery and development. The Celera group recorded a tax benefit of $1.0 million related to the R&D tax credit generated between
January 1, 2006 and June 30, 2006.

The Applied Biosystems group recorded $1.1 million in costs related to the separation of Celera. The Applied Biosystems group also
recorded tax benefits of $9.6 million resulting primarily from the settlement of IRS and foreign audits as well as tax benefits identified
during the tax return preparation. The Celera group recerded pre-tax charges of $2.2 miltion related to restructuning costs, $1.1 million
of costs related to its separation, an investment write-down of $3.1 million, and a pre-tax gain of $1.1 million from a legal settlement.
The Celera group recorded a pre-tax charge of $0.6 million related to the settlement of the patent infringement suit with Innogenetics.
The Celera group also recorded a charge of $0.7 million related to R&D tax credits.
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{f} The Applied Biosystemns group recorded tax benefits of $8.1 million resulting from a valuation allowance release and tax benefits
identified during the tax return preparation, The Celera group recorded a $0.4 million tax benefit for R&D credits.

{g) The Applied Bicsystems group recorded pre-tax charges of $2.6 million in costs related to the separation of Celera, $5.9 million for
restructuring charges, primarily severance-related, a pre-tax charge of $7.8 million for costs associated with the proposed combination
with invitrogen, and a pre-tax gain of $25.0 million for gains on the seles of investments. The Applied Biosystems group recorded a
net tax benefit of $0.5 million related to foreign tax matters, The Celera group recorded a pre-tax charge of $2.6 million in costs
related to its separation, a $0.2 million pre-tax benefit for a reduction in litigation costs, and an asset impairment charge of $0.3
million. The Celera group recorded a tax charge of $30.6 million primarily related to the establishment of a valuation allowance against
the Celera group's deferred tax assets.

{h) The Applied Biosystems group recorded a pre-tax benefit of $3.5 million from the receipt of past royalties under patent licenses. The
Applied Biosystems group recorded a net tax benefit of $6.9 million primarily related to foreign tax settlements and the reduction of
foreign valuation allowances. The Celera group recorded a pre-tax restructuring charge of $3.8 million for an additional asset
impairment assoctated with the previous decision 10 exit small molecule drug discovery and development. The Celera group recorded
a pre-tax restruciuring charge of $0.5 million for employee-related costs. primarily severance.

Note 14-Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income {Loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, for fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006 was as follows:

Unrealized Foreign Accumulated
Unrealized Gain (Loss) Currency Minimum  Unamortized Other
Gain (Loss) on Hedge Translation Pension  Pension and Comprehensive
{Doltar ameunts in millicns! on Investments Contracts Adjustments  Liability Postretirernent  Income {Loss)
Balance at June 30, 2005 $ 29 §% 65 $46.9 ${98.1) $ - $(41.8)
Change in net unrealized losses on investments,
net of tax benefit of $— (0.3) {0.3)
Change in net unrealized gains on hedge contracts,
net of tax expense of $0.2 0.3 0.3
Net unrealized gains reclassified into earnings,
net of tax expense of $4.6 {8.3} (8.3}
Foreign currency translation adjustments 0.6 0.6
Minimum pension liability adjustment,
net of tax expense of $48.7 90.4 90.4
Balance at June 30, 2006 . 26 {1.5) 475 (7.7) 40.9
Change in net unrealized gains on investments,
net of tax expense of $0.9 1.4 1.4
Net unrealized gains reclassified into earnings,
net of tax expense of $0.3 {0.4) {0.4)
Change in net unrealized gains on hedge contracts,
net of tax benefit of $0.2 1.2 1.2
Net unrealized losses reclassified into earnings,
net of tax benefit of $1.1 1.2 1.2
Foreign currency translation adjustments 18.5 18.5
Minimum pension liability adjustment,
net of tax expense of $0.2 0.3 0.3
Subtotal 36 0.9 66.0 (7.4} 63.1
Adoption of SFAS No. 158,
net of tax benefit of $40.3 7.4 (59.1} (51.7})
Balance at June 30, 2007 3.6 g9 ° 66.0 (59.1) 11.4
Change in net unrealized gains on investments,
net of tax expense of $5.4 9.2 9.2
Net unrealized gains reclassified into earnings,
net of tax expense of $8.1 (13.8) (13.8)
Change in net unrealized losses on hedge contracts,
net of tax benefit of $15.7 (28.0) {28.0)
Net unrealized losses reclassified into earnings,
net of tax benefit of $9.2 15.6 15.6
Foreign currency translation adjustments 24.0 24.0
Pension and postretirement adjustment,
net of tax benefit of $4.9 {14.2) {14.2)
Balance at June 30, 2008 $ (1.0) §(11.5) $900 § - $(73.3) $ 42
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The unrealized gains and losses on investments consist of
investments in debt securities and minority equity
investments in public companies that are classified as
available-for-sale. The gains and losses recorded above
resulted from temporary appreciations and declines in the
market value of the investments based an the most
recent public information available. See Note 1 to our
consolidated financial statements for the accounting
policies relaied to our investmenis. The currency
translation adjustments are not currently adjusted for
income taxes as they relate to indefinite investments in
non-U.S. subsidiaries,

Note 15~Discontinued Operations

During fiscal 2007, we recorded an $8.5 million tax benefit
attributable to the settlement of German tax audits related
to one of our former German affiliates. During fiscal year
2008, we received $12.9 million in cash related to the
settlement of these audits.

Note 16—Celera Diagnostics and Abbott Alliance
Restructuring

Celera Diagnostics Restructuring

Through December 31, 2005, we operated a diagnostics
business known as Celera Diagnostics. This business was
a 50/60 joint venture between the Applied Biosystems
group and the Celera group. In January 2008, we
announced that our board of directors had approved a
restructuring of the Celera Diagnostics joint venture. As a
result of the restructuring, the Applied Biosystems
group’'s interest in Celera Diagnostics was transferred to
the Celera group in exchange for various considerations to
the Applied Biosystems group.

The financial elements of the consideration provided to
the Applied Biosystems group in connection with the
restructuring of Celera Diagnostics included $30 million in
cash, which was funded by available cash, and the Celera
group’s agreement to forgive future royalties due through
2017 on sales of the Applied Biosystems group’s products
under ihe terms of a marketing and distribution
agreement between the Groups, which is described in
Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements. As a
result of the separation of Celera, the marketing and
distribution agreement is na longer effective,

Abbott Strategic Alliance

The Celera group has a long term strategic alliance
agreement with Abbott Laboratories, a global health care
company. The term of the strategic alliance agreement
runs until June 2017. We formed the alliance with Abbott
to discover, develop, and commercialize in vitro, meaning
outside of the living body, diagnostic products for disease

detection, prediction of disease predisposition, disease
pregression monitoring, and therapy selection.
Specifically, under the agreement the two companies are
working together to commercialize nucleic acid-based
(DNA or RNA) diagnostic products, also referred to as
molecular diagnostic products. The Celera group and
Abbott have agreed to work exclusively with each other,
primarily through a profit-sharing arrangement, in
specifically agreed areas of nucleic acid-based diagnostic
products. Both companies may work independently
outside the exclusive argas. The alliance agreement was
amended in our 2006 fiscal year to permit the Applied
Biosystems group to develop and sell diagnostic
instruments to end-users for clinical diagnostic
applications, an activity that was previously restricted
under the alliance agreement. Development of diagnostic
products based on the detection of proteins, rather than
nucleic acids, is another potential business area for the
Celera group but is not a part of the agreement with
Abbott.

Under the Abbott alliance agreement, the Celera group
and Abhott conduct separate but coordinated research
and development activities that are within the scope of
the alliance. The coordinated activities include the sharing
of scientific results and collaboration regarding the
technology and instrumentation that their alliance
products will use. The alliance agreement with Abboit
permits the Celera group to form collaborations and
relationships with other companies o support its research
activities. Under the profit-sharing arrangement, the
parties share equally in the costs of their separate
research and development activities under the alliance,
and then share equally in any profits or losses resulting
from the marketing and sales of alliance products whether
developed by Celera or Abbett, Additionally, under the
Abbott alliance agreement, the two companies share
equally in the funding of both the working capital
requirements as well as the investing activities of the |
alliance.

Generally, Abbott is the worldwide distributor of products
developed and manufactured by the parties that are
covered by the alliance. The Celera group believes that
Abbott’s expertise in the diagnostics industry and its
global distribution system enhances the Celera group’s
ability to bring diagnostic products to market. Also, the
Abbott alliance covers some products that are
manufaciured by other companies and marketed by
Abbott. Although most products marketed by Abbott
under the alliance agreement are covered by the profit-
sharing arrangement, some of the products manufactured
by other companies are not part of the profit-sharing
arrangement, and instead the Celera group is entitled to a
royalty based on sales by Abbott.

The Abbott alliance agreement was assigned to Celera
Corporation in connection with the separation of Celera
from the Company.
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Note 17—Segment, Geographic, Customer and
Consolidating Information

Business Segments

We are organized based on the products and services that
we offer. Prior to July 1, 2008, we operated in the life
science industry through two reportable segments: the
Applied Biosystems group and the Celera group. The
Applied Biosystems group was and is a global leader in
the development and marketing of insirument-based
systems, consumables, software, and services for
academic research, the life science industry, and
commercial markets. The Applied Biosystems group
commercializes innovative technology solutions for DNA,
RNA, protein, and small molecule analysis. Customers
across the disciplines of acadernic and clinical research,
pharmaceuticat research, and manufacturing, forensic
DNA analysis, and agricultural bictechnology use its
products and services to accelerate scientific discovery,
improve processes related to drug discovery and
development, detect potentially pathogenic
microorganisms, and identify individuals based on DNA
sources. The Applied Biosystems group has a
comprehensive service and field applications support
team for a global installed base of high-performance
genetic and protein analysis solutions. The Celera group
was a diagnostics business that delivered personalized
disease management through a combination of producis
and services incorporating proprietary discoveries. BHL, a
subsidiary of the Celera group, offered clinical laboratory
testing services to characterize cardiovascular disease risk
and improve patient management. The Celera group also
commercialized a wide range of molecular diagnostic
products through its strategic alliance with Abbott
Laboratories, which began in June 2002, and licensed its
diagnostic technologies to clinical laboraiories to provide
personalized disease management in cancer and liver
diseases. The term of the strategic alliance agreement
rens until June 2017.

Through December 31, 2005, we operated a diagnostics
business known as Celera Diagnostics. This business was
a 50/50 joint venture between the Applied Biosystems
group and the Celera group. Effective January 1, 2006, the
Celera group acquired the Applied Biosystems group’s 50
percent interest in the Celera Diagnostics joint venture
and it now owns 100 percent of Celera Diagnostics. As a
result of this restructuring and the manner by which our
management now operaies and assesses the business,
Celera Diagnostics is no longer a separate segment within
the Company.

On July 1, 2008, following the Celera group separation,
Celera Corporation became an independent, publicly-
traded company whose shares are listed on the NASDAQ
stock market under the symbol “CRA.” The Applied
Biosystems group became our only business and Applied
Biosystems siock became our only class of outstanding

common stock. Effective with the Celera separation, we
changed our corporate name to Applied Biosystems Inc,
and the Celera group is no longer a reportable segment.

Refer to the consolidating information section of this note
for additional information regarding our segments.

Principal Product Categories

Information concerning principal product categories for the
Applied Biosystems group for the fiscal years ended
June 30 follows:

(Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Net Revenues From
External Customers

DNA Sequencing $ 5739 § 5576 § 5399
Real-Time PCR/Applied Genomics  803.4 7046 600.4
Mass Spectrometry 539.2 525.4 465.3
Core PCR & DNA Synthesis 199.8 190.5 198.4
Other Product Lines 108.4 115.4 107.2
Total $2,224.7 320935 $1.811.2

The Celera group product revenues consist mainly of
equalization payments from Abbott as well as sales of in
vitro diagnostic ("IVD") products to Abbott under an
alliance agreement, which are recorded at cost. Sales of
IVD products to Abbott were $9.7 million in fiscal 2008,
$9.9 million in fiscal 2007 and $8.8 million in fiscal 2006.

Geographic Areas

Information concerning principal geographical areas for the
fiscal years ended June 30 follows:

{Dollar amounts in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Net Revenues From
External Customers

United States $1,0240 § 9277 § 8887

Europe 8193 744.2 6481
Japan 213.1 208.0 204.3
Other Asia Pacific countries 200.6 163.6 135.4
Other markets 1045 891 7289

Consolidated $2,3615 §2,1325 $1,9494

Net revenues are attributable to geographic areas based
on the region of destination.

Information concerning long-lived assets at June 30
follows:

[Dollar arngunis in millions) 2008 2007 2006

Long-Lived Assets

United States $ 3214 § 3423 § 3481

Europe 296 314 325
Japan 121 106 11.3
Other Asia Pacific countries 6.1 5.5 35
Other markets 2.2 1.0 1.0

Consolidated $ 3714 § 3908 § 3964

Long-lived assets exclude capitalized software, goodwill
and other intangible asseis.
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Customer Information

We have a large and diverse customer base. No single
customer accounted for more than 10% of total net
revenues during fiscal 2008, 2007, or 2006.

Consolidating Information

Presented below is our consalidating financial information,

including the allocation of expenses between our
segmentis in accordance with our allecation policies, as
well as other related party transactions, such as sales of
products between segments. Our board of directors
approves the method of allocating earnings to each ciass
of common stock for purposes of calculating earnings per
share. This determination is based on net income or loss
amounts of the corresponding group calculated in
accordance with GAAP, consistently applied.

The management and allocation policies applicable to the
attribution of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses to
our segments may be modified or rescinded, or additional
policies may be adopted, at the sole discretion of our
board of directors at any time without stockholder
approval. Our board of directors would make any decision
in accordance with its good faith business judgment that
its decision is in the best interests of the Company and all
of its stockholders as a whole.

We primarily base the atiribution of the assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses to both segments an specific
identification of the businesses included in both
segments. Where specific identification is not practical,
we use other methods and criteria that we believe are

equitable and provide a reascnable estimate of the assets,

fiabilities, revenues and expenses attributable to both
segments.

Intersegment Revenues

We record the sales of products and services between
the segments as intersegment revenues, which are
eliminated in determining our consolidated net revenues.
These sales are generally made on terms that would be
available from third parties in commercial transactions. i
similar transactions with third parties are not available for
purposes of determining fair value, the purchasing
business will pay fair value as determined by our board of
directors for such products and services or at the cost
(including overhead) of the selling business. The selling
business records revenues on these transactions when
the product is shipped, as the service is performed, or
over the term of the lease, as applicable.

Access to Technology and Know-How

Prior to July 1, 2008, both segmenis had free access to all
of our technology and know-how {excluding products and
services of the other segment) that may be useful in that
segment’s business, subject to obligations and limitations
applicable to us and to such exceptions that our board of
directors may determine. The segments consulted with
each other on a regular basis concerning technology
issues that affect both segments. The costs of developing
technology remain in the segment responsible for its
development. The agreements entered into in connection
with the separation of Celera contain arrangements with
respect to technology and know-how.

Allocation of Corporate Overhead and
Administrative Shared Services

Our shared corporate services (such as executive
management, human resources, legal, accounting,
auditing, tax, treasury, strategic planning and
environmental services) and related balance sheet
amounts have been aflocated to the segments based on
identification of such services specifically benefiting both
segments. A portion of our costs of administrative shared
services {such as information technology services) has
been allocated in a similar manner. Where determination
based on specific usage alone is not practical, we use
other methods and criteria that we believe are equitable
and provide a reasonable estimate of the cost attributable
to both segments. It is not practical to specifically identify
a portion of corporate overhead expenses attributable to
both of the segments. As a result, we allocate these
corporate overhead expenses primarily based on
headcount, total expenses, and revenues attribuiable to
both segments. We believe that the allocation methods
developed are reasonable and have been consistently
applied.

Joint Transactions between Segments

The segments may from time to time engage in
transactions jointly, including with third pariies. Research
and development and other services performed by one
segment for a joint venture or other collaborative
arrangement will be charged at fair value, as determined
by our board of directers. The segments also may jointly
undertake a project where the total costs and benefits of
the project are shared. Shipments of products or
performance of services related to such joint projects are
not recorded as revenues by any of the businesses, but
instead are included, at cost, in the total project costs that
are shared based on each business’ expected benefit.
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QOur businesses may perform services for one another,
which are not directly attributable to either businesses’
revenue generating activities. In these cases the business
performing the services charges the benefiting business
the cost of perfarming the services, including overhead.

Allocation of Federal and State Income Taxes

The federal income taxes of the Company and its
subsidiaries that own assets allocated between the
groups are determined on a consolidated basis using the
asset and liability approach prescribed by SFAS No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes.” If we had used the
separate return basis of accounting for taxes, the tax
provision for the Applied Biosystems group would not
have changed, but a significant valuation aliowance would
have been recorded by the Celera group each year as
reflected in our $90.6 million valuation altowance charge at
fiscal year end 2008. We allocate the federal income tax
provisions and related tax payments or refunds between
the groups based on a consolidated return approach taking
into account each group's relative contribution [positive or
negative} to our consolidated federal taxable income, tax
liability, and tax credit position. We tax intersegment
transactions as if both segments were a stand-alone
company. We transfer tax benefits that cannot be used by
the group generating those benefits, but can be used on a
consolidated basis, 1o the group that can use such
benefits. We have, and we will continue, to reimburse
existing tax benefits acquired by either group in a
business combination that are used by the other group, to
the group that acquired such benefits. Tax benefits
generated by the Celera group commencing July 1, 1998,
which could be used con a consolidated basis, were
reimbursed by the Applied Biosystems group to the
Celera group up to a limit of $75 million.

In accordance with the terms of the Celera Diagnostics
jeint venture agreement, which was restructured during
fiscal 2006 (see Note 16 to our consolidated financial
staiernents), the Applied Biosystems group reimbursed
the Celera group for tax benefits generated by Celera
Diagnostics to the extent such tax benefits were used by
the Applied Biosystems group. These tax benefits were
not subject to the $75 mitlion limit described above. The
amounts used by the Applied Biosystems group that were
not reimbursed to the Celera group were recorded to
allocated net worth of each group in the following
Consolidating Statements of Financial Position,

We calculate, depending on the tax laws of the respective
jurisdictions, state and local income taxes on either a
separaie, consolidated, or combined basis. We allocate
state and local income tax provisions and related tax
payments or refunds between the groups based on the
respective contributions of the groups to our state or local
tax liabilities.

Financing Activities

As a matter of pclicy, we manage maost financing activities
of the Applied Biosystermns group and the Celera group on
a centralized basis. These activities include the investment
of surplus cash, the issuance and repayment of short-term
and long-term debt, common stock repurchases, and the
issuance and repayment of any preferred stock.

Qur board of directors has adopted the following financing
policy that affects the financial results of the Applied
Biosysterns group and the Celera group.

We allocate our debt between the groups {"pooled debt”)
or, if we so determine, in its entirety to a particular group.
We will allocate preferred stock, if issued, in a similar
manner.

Cash allocated to one group that is used to repay pooled
debt or redeem pooled preferred stock decreases such
group’s allocated portion of the pooled debt or preferred
stock. Cash or other property atlocated to one group that
is transferred to the other group, if so determined by our
board of directors, decreases the transferring group’s
allocated portion of the pooled debt or preferred stock
and, correspondingly, increases the recipient group's
allocated portion of the pocled debt or preferred stock.

Pooled debt bears interest for the groups ai a rate equal to
the weighted average interest rate of the debt calculated
on a quarterly basis and applied to the average pooled
debt balance during the period. Preferred stock, if issued
and if pooled in a manner simitar to the pooled debt, will
bear dividends for the groups at a rate based on the
weighted average dividend rate of the preferred stock
similarly calculated and applied. Any expense related to
increases in poocled debt or preferred stock will be
reflected in the weighted average interest or dividend rate
of such pooled debt or preferred stock as a whole. During
fiscal 2008, 2007, and 2006, there was no pooled debt or
preierred siock outstanding.

If we allocate debt for a particular financing in its entirety
to one group, that debt will bear interest for that group at
a rate determined by our board of directors. If we allocate
preferred stock in its entirety to one group, we will charge
the dividend cost to that group in a similar manner. If the
interest or dividend cost is higher than our actual cost, the
other group will receive a credit for an amount eqgual to
the difference as compensation for the use of our credit
capacity. Any expense related to our debt or preferred
stock that is allocated in its entirety to a group will be
allocated in whole io that group.

Cash or other property that we allocate to one group that
is transferred to the other group could, if so determinad
by our board of directors, be accounted for either as a
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short-term loan or as a long-term loan. Short-term loans
bear interest at a rate equal to the weighted average
interest rate of our pooled debt. If we do not have any
pooled debt, our board of directors will determine the rate
of interest for such loan. Qur board of directors
establishes the terms on which long-term loans between
the groups could be made, including interest rate,
amortization schedule, maturity, and redemption terms.

In addition, cash allocated to the Applied Biosystermns
group may be reallocated to the Celera group in exchange
for Celera Designated Shares as provided under our
Certificate of Incorporation. The number of Celera
Designated Shares issued would be determined by
dividing the amount of cash realiocated by the average
market value of Celera stock over the 20-trading day
period immediately prior to the date of the reallocation. As
a result of such a reallocetion, 2 relative percentage of
future earnings or losses of the Celera group would be
attributed to the Applied Biosystems group. There were
no Celera Designated Shares issued during fiscal 2008,
2007, or 2008.

Although we may allocate our debt and preferred stock
between the groups, the debt and preferred stock remain
obligations of the Company and all stockholders of the
Company are subject to the risks associated with these
obligations.

Transfers of Assets between Segments

Transfers of assets can be made between segments
without stockholder approval. Such transfers will be made

Transactions between Segments

at fair value, as determined by our board of directors. The
consideration for such transfers may be paid by one
segment to the other in cash or other consideration, as
determined by our board of directors.

Online Marketing and Distribution Agreement

In April 2002, the Celera group and the Applied
Biosystems group entered imo & marketing and
distribution agreement under which the Applied
Biosystems group became the exclusive distributor of the
Celera group’s CDS database and related human genomic
and other biologica! and medical information. As a result of
this arrangement, the Applied Biosystems group
integrated the CDS database and other genomic and
biclogical information into its product offerings. In
exchange for the rights it acquired under the marketing
and distribution agreement, the Applied Biosystems group
agreed to pay royalties to the Celera group based on
revenues generated by sales of some of the Applied
Biosystems group's products. However, as part of the
restructuring of Celera Diagnostics described above in
Note 16 to our consolidated financial statements, as of
January 1, 2006, the Applied Biosystems group continued
to have access to the Celera group’s information during
the 15 year term of the marketing and distribution
agreement but has no further financial obligations to the
Celera group under the agreement. As a result of the
separation of Celera, the marketing and distribution
agreement is no longer effective.

The following table summarizes the related party transactions between our segments for the fiscal years ended June 30:

|Dallar amounts in millions)

2008 2007 2006

Applied Biosystems Group

Sales to the Celera group {a)

Nonreimbursable utilization of tax benefits (b)
Payments for reimbursable utilization of tax benefits {(c)

$26 $43 %61
454 29 643
51 2.0 80

Celera Group
Royalties from the Applied Biosystems group (d)

$ — $— 8§19

(a) The Applied Biocsystermns group recorded net revenues from leased instruments and sales of consumables and project materials to the Celera group.
(bl The Applied Biosysters group received, without reimbursement to the Celera group, sorme of the tax benefits generated by the Celera group in

accordance with the tax allocation policy described above.

{c) The Applied Biosystems group paid the Celera group for the use of existing tax benefits acquired by the Celera group in business combinations and other

tax benefits, in accordance with the tax allocation policy described above.

{d}  The Celera group recorded net revenues primarily for royalties generated from sales by the Applied Bigsystems group of products integrating CDS and
some other genomic and biological information under a marketing and distribution agreement. The Celera group forgave future royalties related to this

agreement as discussed in Note 16 1o our consolidating financial statements.

In the following consolidating financial information, the “Eliminations™ column represents the elimination of intersegment

activity.
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Consolidating Statement of Operations for the Year Ended June 30, 2008

Applied
Biosystems

{Collar amounts in thousands} Group  Celera Group Eliminations  Consclidated
Products $1,823.131 $ 32,043 $ —  £1.,855,174
Services 277.995 70,993 348,988
Other 120,985 36,337 167,322
Net revenues from external customers 2,222111 139,373 — 2,361,484
Intersegment revenues 2,665 {2,565)

Total Net Revenues 2,224,676 139,373 (2,565) 2,361,484
Producis 824,762 15,725 {345} 840,142
Services 123,291 24,054 (247} 147,098
Other 11,890 11,830
Total Cost of Sales 959,943 38,779 (592) 999,130
Gross Margin 1,264,733 99,594 {1,973) 1,362,354
Selling, general and administrative 588,896 66,423 58,708 714,027
Corporate allocated expenses 50,457 8,251 (68,708)

Research and development 196,070 40,867 (1,707} 235,230
Amortization of purchased intangible assets 10,446 7.115 17,561

Employee-related charges, asset impairments and other 20,325 6,956 27,281

Asset dispositions and legal settlements (7.556) (1,100} (8,656}
Operating Income {Loss} 406,095 (28,918} (266} 376,911

Gain (loss) on investments, net 27.617 (3,080} 24,537
Interest income, net 8,589 17,743 26,332
Other income (expense), net 3,337 18 3,356
Income {Loss) before Income Taxes 445,638 {14,237} (266) 431,135
Provision for income taxes 129,067 88,363 {93) 217,327

Net Income {Loss) $ 316,581 $(102,600} $ (173) $ 213,808
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Consolidating Statement of Financial Position at June 30, 2008

Applied
Biosystems
{Doflar amounts in thousands} Group  Celera Group Eliminations  Consolidated
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 543,205 § 45,825 $§ — % 589,030
Short-term invesiments 287,726 287.726
Accounts receivable, net 475,545 40,167 515,712
Inventories, net 161,794 9,316 (845) 170,265
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 128,320 26,321 (83) 154,558
Total current assets 1,308,864 409,355 {928}  1,717.291
Property, plant and equipment, net 360,455 10,977 {45} 371,387
Gooedwill and intangible assets, net 285,092 236,898 521,390
Other iong-term assets 444,144 6,082 497 450,723
Total Assets $2,398,555 $663,312 $(476) $3.061.391
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities '
Loans payable $ 100,000 3 123 $ — $ 100,123
Accounts payable 166,063 6,053 172,116
Accrued salaries and wages 113,418 10,823 124,341
Current deferred tax liability 13,734 13,734
Accrued taxes on income 17,158 367 17,5625
Other accrued expenses 312,773 12,623 {127 325,269
Total current liabilities 723,146 30,089 {127} 753,108
Other long-term liabilities 240,033 3,776 243,809
Total Liabilities 963,179 33,865 (127} 996,917
Total Stackholders” Equity 1,435,376 629,447 (349) 2,064,474
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $2,398.,555 $663,312 ${476) $3.061,391
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Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended June 30, 2008

{Dellar amounts in thousands)

Applied
Biosystems
Group

Celera Group

Eliminations  Consolidated

Operating Activities of Continuing Operations

Income {loss} from continuing operations $ 316,581 $(102,600) $ (1730 $213.808
Adjusiments to reconcite income {loss) from continuing operations
to net cash provided {used} by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 76,235 13,706 (213) 89,728
Asset impairments 831 3,080 3,911
Employee-related charges and other 17,095 2,261 19,356
Share-based compensation programs 25,637 6,887 32,424
Deferred income taxes 52,003 130,779 {1.497) 181,285
Sale of assets and legal settlements, net {27,562) 91) 91 (27,562}
Nonreimbursable utilization of intergroup tax benefits 45,435 (45,435)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities;
Accounts receivable 10,329 (12,683 (218) {2,572
Inventories {23,657} 1,01 274 (22,372}
Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,876 4,123 {10,615) (4.616)
Accounts payable and other liabilities 13,732 {6,525) 12,354 19,561
Net Cash Provided {Used) by Operating Activities
of Continuing Operations 508,435 (5,487} 3 502,951
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
of Discontinued Operations 12,900 12,900
Investing Activities of Continuing Operations
Additions to property, plant and equipment, net (49,200) {4,138) 88 {63,250}
Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale investments 143,094 143,094
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale investments 213,850 327,654 541,404
Purchases of available-for-sale investmenis (12,553) (228,568) {241,121)
Acquisitions and investments, net of cash acquired (361) (214,437) (214,798)
Investment in Alliance Activity (2) (2}
Proceeds from the sale of assets, net 46,384 485 {91} 46,778
Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities
of Continuing Operations 198,120 23,988 {3) 222,105
Financing Activities
Proceeds from loan payable 100,000 100,000
Payments on loans payable and debt (10,622) {10,622}
Dividends {29,851} {29,851)
Purchases of common stock for treasury (601,505) (601,505}
Proceeds from stock issued for stock plans and other 82,309 7.910 80,219
Net Cash Used by Financing Activities (448,047} (2,712) {451,759)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash (20,370) {20,370}
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 250,038 15,789 265,827
Cash and Cash Equivalents Beginning of Year 293,167 30,036 323,203
Cash and Cash Equivalents End of Year £ 543,205 3 45,825 % — $ 589,030
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Consolidating Statement of Operations for the Year Ended June 30, 2007

Applied
Biosystems

{Dollar amounts in thousands) Group  Celera Group Eliminations  Consolidated
Products $1,727.830 $ 25,322 $ —  $1,763,152
Services 244,031 10 244,041

Other 117,261 18,039 135,300
Net revenues from external customers 2,089,122 43,371 — 2,132,493
Intersegment revenues 4345 (4,345}

Total Net Revenues 2,093,467 43,371 (4,345) 2,132,493
Products 816,595 17.560 (1,914} 832,241

Services 107,735 (328) 107,407
Other 11,824 11,824
Total Cost of Sales 936,154 17,560 {2,242) 951,472
Gross Margin 1,157,313 25,811 (2,103) 1,181,021

Selling, general and administrative 540,388 22,672 53,632 622,692
Corporate allocated expenses 52,668 6,990 {59,658)

Research and development 203,841 51,683 (1,553) 253,971

Arnortization of purchased intangible assets 11,264 11,264
Employee-related charges, asset impairments and other 10,342 10,342
Asset dispositions and legal settlements (2,228) (2,357} {4,585)
Acquired research and development 114,251 114,251

Operating Income {Loss) 237,129 (63,519} {524) 173,086
Gain on investments, net 209 209
Interest income, net 15,346 27,826 43172
Qther income (expense), net 6,299 456 6.755
Income (Loss) before Income Taxes 258,983 {35,237) {524} 223,222
Provision {benefit) for income taxes 88,108 {15,474) {183) 72,451

Income {Loss) from Continuing Operations 170,875 (19,763} {341) 160,771

income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 8,529 8,529
Net Income {Loss) $ 179,404 ${19,763}) $ (341} § 159,300
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Consolidating Statement of Financial Position at June 30, 2007

Applied
Biosystems
{Dollar amownts in thausands) Group Celera Gioup  Eliminations  Consolidated
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 293,167 $ 30,038 $ — $ 323,203
Short-term investments 201,297 531,460 732,757
Accounts receivable, net 446,833 6,258 (218) 452 873
Inventeories, net 132,094 8,826 {571) 140,349
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 161,040 20,400 {1,995) 179,445
Total current assets 1,234,431 596,980 {2,784) 1,828,627
Property, plant and equipment, net 383,554 7.386 (170) 390,810
Goodwill and intangible assets, net 295,299 2,663 297,962
Other long-term assets 473,280 161,654 207 635,141
Total Assets $2,386,604 $768,683 ${2,747) 33,152,540
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 161,440 $ 3,016 ${1.791) $ 162,665
Accrued salaries and wages 99,694 8,858 108,552
Current deferred tax liability 156,633 15,633
Accrued taxes on income 51,212 15,489 66,701
Other accrued expensas 259,743 10,463 {583) 269,623
Total current liabilities 587,722 37,826 (2.374) 623,174
Other long-term liabilities 208,550 4,959 {197} 213,312
Total Liabilities 796,272 42,785 {2,571) 836,486
Total Stockholders” Equity 1,590,332 725,898 {176} 2,316,054
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $2,386,604 $768,683 $(2,747y  $3.152,5640
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Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended June 30, 2007

Applied
Biosystems
{Bollar amounts in thousands} Group Celera Group  Eliminations Consolidated
Operating Activities of Continuing Operations
Income {ioss} from continuing operations $170.875 $ (19,763} $ (347} $150,771
Adjustments to reconcile income {loss} from continuing operations
to net cash provided (used) by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 79,857 6,847 {313} 86,091
Asset impairments 6,795 6,795
Employee-relaied charges and other 3,647 3,547
Share-based cormpensation programs 16,608 3,303 19,911
Deferred income taxes 20,040 {13,248} {2,523} 4,269
Sale of assets and lega! settlements, net (2,909) {2,909)
Acquired research and development 114,251 114,251
Nonreimbursable utilization of intergroup tax benefits 2,944 (2,944)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (61,188) 3,368 {512} {68,332)
Inventories 1,487 {592} 571 1,466
Prepaid expenses and other assets {2,952) (2,652} {3,433} {9,037)
Accounts payable and other liabilities 27,428 (7,676} 6,409 26,161
Net Cash Provided {Used) by Operating Activities
of Continuing Operaticns ) 366,141 (23.015) (142) 342,984
Investing Activities of Continuing Operations
Additions to property, plant and equipment, net {60,262) {2,440} 142 (62,560}
Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale investments 274,928 274,928
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale investments 93,541 328,732 422,273
Purchases of available-for-sale invesiments (294,838} {623,345} {918,183}
Acquisitions and investments, net of cash acquired {121,791} {121,791}
Investment in alliance activity (1,863) {1,853)
Proceeds from the sale of assets, net 372 372
Net Cash Used by Investing Activities
of Continuing Operations {382,978) (23,978) 142 {406,814}
Financing Activities
Dividends {31,079} (31.079)
Purchases of common stock for treasury (168,640} {168,640}
Proceeds from stock issued for stock plans and other 119,616 16,759 136,375
Net Cash Provided (Used} by Financing Activities {80,103} 16,759 (63,344)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash 16,186 16,186
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents {80.754) {30.234) {110,988}
Cash and Cash Equivalents Beginning of Year 373,921 60,270 434,191
Cash and Cash Equivalents End of Year $ 293.167 $ 30,036 $ —  $323,203




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued) Applied Biosystems Inc.

Consolidating Statement of Operations for the Year Ended June 30, 2006

Applied
Biosystems

{Dellar amounts in thousands) Group  Celera Group Eliminations  Consclidated
Products $1,566,061 $ 29,169 $ —  $1,595,230
Services 217,237 397 217,634
Other 121,849 14,677 136,526
Net revenues from external customers 1,905,147 44,243 — 1,948,390
Intersegment revenues 6,079 1,964 {8.043)

Total Net Revenues 1,911,226 46,207 {8,043) 1,949,390
Products 761,623 19,683 (4,442) 776,764
Services 93,916 {4586) 93,460
Other 11,014 11,014
Total Cost of Sales 866,453 19,683 {4,898) 881,238
Gross Margin 1,044,773 26,524 {3,145) 1,068,152
Selling, general and administrative 503,813 28,184 52,486 584,483
Corporate allocated expenses 44 572 7,931 {52,503)

Research and development 180,295 94,327 (3,263) 271,359
Amortization of purchased intangible assets 4,825 1,091 5,916
Employee-related charges, asset impairments and other 356 26,191 26,547
Asset dispositions and legal settlements 10,546 675 11,221
Acquired research and development 3,400 3,400
Operating Income {Loss) 296,966 (131,875} 135 165,226
Gain on investments, net 7,628 7.628
Interest income, net 14,694 22,364 37,068
Other income {expensel, net 5,567 (225) 5,342
Income (Loss) before Income Taxes 317,227 (102,108} 135 215,254
Provision (benefit) for income 1axes 42110 (39,398} 50 2,762
Net iIncome (Loss) $ 275117 $ (62,7100 $ 85 § 212,492
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued} Applied Biosystems Inc.

Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended June 30, 2006

Applied
Biosystems
{Doflar amounts in thousands} Group  Celera Group Eliminations  Consolidated
Operating Activities of Continuing Operations
Net income {loss) $275,117 $ 62,710) $ 85 $212,492
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided
(used) by operating activities;
Depreciation and amortization 77,164 14,252 {428} 90,988
Asset impairments 215 9,855 10,070
Employee-related charges and other {1,409) 5,083 7,674
Share-based compensation programs 11,334 1,495 12,829
Deferred income taxes {72,359} 30,649 {1,079) {42,789}
Sale of assets and legal settlements, net 41,880 (6.944) 34,936
Acquired research and development 3,400 3,400
Nonreimbursable utilization of intergroup tax benefits 64,254 {64,254)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 17,516 (2,865) (252} 14,399
Inventories 3,259 1,139 4,398
Prepaid expenses and other assets 11,027 {3,465) 2,076 9,638
Accounts payable and other liabilities {56,117) (22.510) (594) {79,221}
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities
of Continuing Operations 375,281 {96,275) (192) 278,814
Net Cash Used by Operating Activities
of Discontinued Operations {135) {135)
Investing Activities of Continuing Operations
Additions to property, plant and equipment, net (41,548) {4,844) 315 (46,077)
Proceeds frem maturities of available-for-sale investments 317,008 317,008
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale investments 104,877 208,605 313,482
Purchases of available-for-sale investiments {104,877} (380.871) {495,748}
Acquisitions and investments, net of cash acquired {279,133) {279,133)
Investment in alliance activity (3,925) (3,925)
Proceeds from the sale of assets, net 25,593 9,515 (123} 34,985
Net Cash Provided {Used) by Investing Activities
of Continuing Operations (295,088} 135,488 192 {159,408}
Financing Activities
Payments on loans payable and debt {72) 72)
Dividends (23,957) {23,957}
Net cash funding from groups 25,644 (25,644}
Purchases of common stock for treasury (601,910 {601,910}
Proceeds from stock issued for stock plans and other 140,906 23,536 164,442
Net Cash Used by Financing Activities {459,389) (2.108) {461,497}
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash (2,984) (2,984)
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (382,315) 37.105 (345,210)
Cash and Cash Equivalents Beginning of Year 756,236 23,165 779,401
Cash and Cash Equivalents End of Year $ 373,921 $ 60,270 5 — $ 434,19




Reports of Management Applied Biosystems Inc.

To the Stockholders of Applied Biosystems Inc.

Management Responsibility for Financial Statements

We are responsible for the accompanying consolidated financial statements. We prepared the financial statements in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, which requires us to make informed judgments
and estimates that we believe are appropriate under the circumstances. Financial information presented elsewhere in this annual
report is consistent with that in the financial statements.

In meeting our responsibility for preparing reliable financial statements, we maintain a system of internal controls designed to
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and transactions are properly recorded and executed in accordance
with corporate policy and management authorization. We believe our internal controls provide reasonable assurance that errors or
irregularities which could be materiat to the financial statements are prevented or would be detected within a timely period. In
designing such controls, we recognize judgments are required to assess and balance the costs and expected benefits of a
system of internal controls. Adherence 1o these controls is reviewed through a coordinated audit effort of our internal audit staff
and independent registered public accounting firm.

The Audit/Finance Committee of our board of directors is comprised solely of outside directors and is responsible for overseeing
and monitoring the quality of our accounting and auditing practices. The independent registered public accounting firm and
internal auditors have full and free access 1o the Audit/Finance Committee and meet periodically with the committee to discuss
accounting, auditing, and financial reporting matters.

Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal control over financial reporting, as defined by the Securities and
Exchange Commission in its Rules 13a-15{f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1334, Internal control over financial reporting is
a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of {inancial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Internal control over financiat
reporting includes those policies and procedures that: {1) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable deiail
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; {2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or dispasition of our
assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject 1o the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditicns, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

We conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Qur
assessment did not include evaluating the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting at Berkeley HeartLab, Inc.
which was acquired in October 2007, and, as such, we do not extend our conclusion regarding the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting to the controls of Berkeley Heartlab, Inc, Berkeley HeartLab, Inc. represents approximately 7%
and 3% of consolidated total assets and consolidated total net revenues, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2008,
respectively. See Note 3 to the consolidaied financial statements for additional information on the Berkeley HeartLab, Inc.
acquisition. Based on this evaluation, we conclude that, as of June 30, 2008, our internal control over financial reporting was
effective.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2008 has been attested to by

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.

Dennis L. Winger
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

N Shwh

Tony L. White
Chairman, President, and
Chief Executive Officer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  Applied Biosystems Inc.

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Applied Biosystems Inc. (formerly known as Applera
Corporation):

[ our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the refated consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Applied Biosystems Inc.
and its subsidiaries at June 30, 2008 and 2007, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended June 30, 2008 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of June 30, 2008, based on criteria established in /nternal Control - Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company's management is
responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accomparying Management
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Qur responsibility is to expiess opinions on these financial statements
and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstaternent and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentatior. Qur audit of internal control over financial
reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reparting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

As discussed in Note 5, the Company adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation
No. 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes ~ an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" on July 1, 2007.
Also, as discussed in Note 8, the Company adopied the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No. 168, "Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans, an amendment of FASB
Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)" as of June 30, 2007.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that {i} pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company:; (i) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements, Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

As described in the Management Report on Internal Controi Over Financial Reporting, management has excluded Berkeley
Heartl.ab, Inc. from its assessment of internal contral over financial reporting as of June 30, 2008 because it was acquired
by the Company in a purchase business combination during fiscal 2008. We have a!so excluded Berkeley HeartLab, Inc.
from our audit of internal control over financial reporting. Berketey HeartLab, Inc. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Applied
Biosystems Inc. whose total assets and total revenues represent 7% and 3%, respectively, of the related consolidated
financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended June 30, 2008.

Prssritzhavaloopeacer
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Stamford, CT
August 27, 2008




Performance Graph Applied Biosystems Inc.

The following graph compares the yearly change in our cumulative total stockholder return for Applied Biosystems stock
for the last five fiscal years with the cumulative total return on the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index (the “S&P 5007) and
the Dow Jones U.S. Medical Equipment Index {the “DJ USAM"}, a published industry index that includes Applied
Biosystems stock. Cumulative total returns are calculated assuming that $100 was invested on the last trading day of fiscal
2003 in Applied Biosystems stock, the S&P 500, and the DJ USAM, and that all dividends were reinvested.

Applied Biosystems Stock
Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Returns
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2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
Applied Biosystems stock $100.00 $114.62 $105.46 $175.11 $166.21 $182.32
S&P 500 100.00 118.11 126.64 137.57 165.88 14412
DJ USAM 100.00 127.85 127.85 119.00 141.51 143.8%

95



96

Directors and Officers

Board of Directors

Tony L. White
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Stockholder Information

Principal Offices

Applied Biosystems Inc.

301 Merritt 7

Norwalk, CT 06851-1070

Tel 203.840.2000

Toll Free BGO.761.5381
www.appliedbiosystems.com

Mailing address:

Applied Biosystems Inc.
301 Merritt 7

Norwalk, CT 06851-1070

Applied Biosystems Group
850 Lincoln Centre Drive
Foster City, CA 94404

Tel 650.638.5000

Toll Free 800.874.9868
www.appliedbiosystems.com

Stockholder Response Center
Computershare, our stockholder
services and transfer agent, will
answer questions about
accounts, certificates, and
dividends. Plgase cail toll-free
800.730.4001 or write to;
ﬁo’r{\putershare Trust Company,

P.0. Box 43078

Providence, RI 02940-3078
www.computershare.com

{Dollar amounts in millions}

Stockholder Publications

Applied Biosystems Inc.
information, including quarterly
earnings releases, is available at
www appliedbiosystems.com.
Corporate publications, including
the annual report, proxy
statement, and Securities and
Exchange Comrmission filings
(Forms 10-K, 10-Q, etc.) may also
be requested and will be sent by
mail.

Alternatively, you may request
this information by writing to:
Applied Biosystems Inc.
Corporate Communications
850 Lincoln Centre Drive
Foster City, CA 94404

Stock Exchange Listings

Applied Biosystems Inc. stock s
listed on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol ABI.

Form 10-K

A copy of our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for our 2008 fiscal
year may be obtained without
charge by writing to the
Secretary at the 301 Meyritt 7
address.

Information Via internet

Internet Users can access
information about us, including
press releases, quarterly
conference calls, information
about our products and services,
and other items of interest, at the
following address:

www . appliedbiosystems.com

Certifications

The certifications of our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer required by
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 regarding,
among other things, the quality of
our public disclosure, have been
signed by those officers and filed
by us with the Securities and
Exchange Commission as
exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to our
Annual Report on Form 10K for
our 2008 fiscal year.

On November 13, 2007, our
Chief Executive Officer
submitted 10 the New York Stock
Exchange an annual certification
stating that as of the date thereof
he was not aware of any violation
by us of the New York Stock
Exchange corporate governance
listing standards.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

From time to time, we may include "non-GAAP financial measures”, as such term has been defined by the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission, in presentations and other public disclosures, including presentations to invastors, analysts, and others. We believe the
presentation of non-GAAP financial measures provides useful information to management and investors regarding various financial and
business trends relating to our financial condition and results of operations, and that when GAAP financial measures are viewed in
conjunction with non-GAAP financial measures, investors are provided with a more meaningful understanding of our engoing operating
performance. In addition, these non-GAAP financial measures are among the primary indicators we use as a basis for evaluating
performance, allocating resources, setting incentive compensation targets, and planning and forecasting future periods. Non-GAAP financial
measures are not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for GAAP financial measures. The following table presents a
reconciliation of non-GAAP Operating income, presented on page 4 in this report, to GAAP Operating Income.

Applied Biosystems Group
Reconciliation of U.S. GAAP Operating Income From Continuing Operations

Applied Biosystems Inc.

Investor Relations &
Corporate Communications
Peter Dworkin, Vice President
Investment professionals should
call 650.554.2449.

News media representatives and
others seeking general
information should calt
650.638.5354.

Equal Employment
Opportunity and
Affirmative Action

Apphed Biosystems Inc. has leng
heen committed to Equal
Employment Opporiunity and
Affirmative Action, A policy of
positive action is the foundation
of this commitment and is
typified at Applied Biosystems
Inc. by programs directed toward
responsible community
involvement.

©Copyright 2008. Applied
Biosystemns inc. All rights
reserved. AB (Design), Applied
Biosystems, Applera, and
AmpFESTR are registered
trademarks and MiniFiter and
SOLID are trademarks of Applied
Biosystems Inc. or its
subsidiaries in the U.S. and/for
certain other countries. Ambion is
a registered trademark of
Ambion, Inc.. an Applied
Biosystems business. Invitrogen
is a registered trademark of
Invitrogen Corporation.
OpenArray is a registered
tradernark of BioTrove, Inc,
TagMan is a registered trademark
of Roche Molecular Systems, Inc.
All other trademarks are the
property of their respective
owners.

Fiscal years ended June 30, 2003 2007 2006 2005 2004
Operating Income from continuing operations $4061 $ 2371 $2970 § 2807 $2168
ltems Impacting Comparability-Pre-Tax Charges/(Gains}):
Employee-related charges, asset impairments and other 203 — 0.4 31.8 25.0
Acquired in-process research and development charge - i14.3 3.4 — —_
Gain on asset dispositions - — (16.9) {28.7) —
Legal settlements, net {7.6) (2.2) 27.4 (8.5) {6.7)
Total ltems Impacting Comparability-Pre-Tax 12.7 1121 143 (6.4 18.3
Amortization of Purchased Intangibles 105 11.2 4.8 1.3 46
Operating Income from Continuing Operations Excluding Items Impacting

Comparability and Amortization of Purchased Intangible Assets $4293 $ 3604 $ 3161 §275.0 $2387
Percentage Increase 191% 140% 149% 152% —
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ouble-helix structure
fthe DNA molecule is
iscovered by James
atson and Francis
rick.

986

B commercializes

he first automated
INA sequencer, Model
TJOA, accelerating
gsearchnto genetic
ecrets. A jeint venture,
ow called Applied Bio-
ystems/MDS Sciex, is
ormed to develop and
narket mass spectrom-
try tachnology.

1997

\ sheep, named Dolly,
s the first mammal to

1e claned from an adult.

2005

i

.-{.\

» SR
‘M

The U.S. Centers fos
Hsease Contrel and
Prevention (COC)
chases AB Sciex mass
spectrometers to
identify chemical and
biological threats, The
five-year Genoagraphic
Project begins to
genetically map
historical human
migration patterns.

1972

First gene is sequenced
atthe University of
Ghent [Belgium); first
recombinant DNA
molecule is created at
Stanford University.

1989

The cause of cyslic
fibresis, a common
inherited disease,

is identified to be a
mutation in a gene that

creates a matfunction-
ing pretein.

AB aunches the ABI
PRISM™ 3700 DN A
Analyzer, providing
industrial-scale ONA
sequencing and ac-
celerating the Human
Genome Project.

2006

AB acquires Agencourt
Personal Genomics,

a developer of next-
gencration sequencing
technologies, as well as
the Research Products
Division of Ambien, a
supplier of reagents
for studying RNA
fragments. These have
been called a “hidden

genome” within the cell.

1981

Applied Biosystems

(AB)is founded and

begins Lo provide in-
navative toels for life
science research.

1990

The Human Genome
Project ofticially be-
gins. with an estimated
15-year timeline and 83
billien cost.

The Kuman Geneme
Project and Celera
Genomics indepen-
dently complete drafts
of the human gencome.

AB launches the
SOLID - System, its
next-generation, ultra-
high-throughput DNA
sequencing system,
built upon the Agen-
court technelogy. lts
performance and pro-
ductivity are expected
to enable the mare
comprehensive study
of genetic variation and

1982

jm L

AB introduces sts first
product, an gntomated
protein sequencer,

Madel 470A, transtarm-
ing protein science.

1993

AN
-

A
if
The gene for Hunting-
ton disease is identi-
fied, ending a decade-
long search. AB merges
with The Parkin-Elmer
Corporation, gaining
accessto PCA and
mass specirometry
lechnologies.

20m

AB human identifica-
tion technelogy is used
to identity 3/11 World
Trade Center Victims.

2008

50LiD System 2.0 is
introduced,-spurring
adoption by genome
centers and other largo

1983

Kary B. Mullis, a
Cetus Carp, scientist,
develops polymerase
chain reaction (PCR},
a techaigue for rapidly
amplifying DNA, for
which he was later
awarded the Nobel
Prize in Chemistry.

1994

The first gene for breast
cancer, BRCAl, is
discovered.

2002

AB introduces the
3130x/DNA Analyzer,
the successor to the
3700, 1or increased
speed and accuracy.

labs in the United States,
Europe, and Asia-Pacific.
AB and Invitrogen Gorp.
announce a merger that
will create a worid-class
and uniquely positioned
biotechnology tools
company.

1984

Technique for DNA
fingerprinting is intro-
duced by Alec Jefiries,
University of Leiceister
[United Kingdami,
opening the door te
couriroom US:&.

1

]
1995 i
AB introduces DNA-
based systems for
forensic investigation.
DNA fingerprinting
gains acceptancain
couft.

2003

Researchers sequence
the SARS virus and
analyze virak proteins
using AB's DNA
sequencing, genetic
analysis and mass
spectrometry systems.
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